
 
 
 
 
  

 
                      MEETING AGENDA 

PLAN COMMISSION 
Wednesday, March 8, 2023 

7:30 p.m. 
MEMORIAL HALL – MEMORIAL BUILDING 

19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 
 (Tentative & Subject to Change) 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER   
 
2. ROLL CALL  
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT (Non-Agenda Items) 
 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 8, 2023 

 
5. FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

a) Case A-37-2022 – 2 Salt Creek Lane – Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / Site Plan 
Review to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek 
Lane – Request by Mouse Automotive  
 

b) Case A-4-2023 – 218 W. Ogden Avenue – Tentative & Final Plat of Subdivision and Exterior 
Appearance & Site Plan Review to allow for the subdivision of four (4) lots into two (2) code 
compliant lots in the R-4 Single Family Residential District for Karimi Estates 

 
6. PUBLIC MEETINGS  

a) Case A-9-2023 – 11 Salt Creek Lane – MedProperties – Exterior Appearance and Site Plan 
Review to Allow for Changes to the Existing Building Elevation, Landscape Plan, and Site Plan at 
11 Salt Creek Lane in the O03 General Office District 

 
7. SIGN PERMIT REVIEW 

a) Case A-6-2023 – Sign Permit Review – 5837 S. Madison Street – Hinsdale Discount Tires and 
Automotive – Installation of One (1) Wall Sign and a New Sign Face on an Existing Ground Sign 

 

Public comments are welcome on any topic related to the business of the Commission at Regular and Special 
Meetings during the portion of the meeting devoted to a particular agenda item, or during the period designated for 
public comment for non-agenda items. Individuals who wish to comment must be recognized by the Chairperson 
and then speak at the podium, beginning by identifying themselves by name and address. All members of the public 
are requested to keep their written comments or testimony to three pages or less, and speakers are requested to keep 
their live comments or testimony to five minutes or less. Submissions or comments exceeding those limits may, if time 
allows and at the discretion of the Chairperson, be presented after all others have had an opportunity to testify, 
comment or have their comments read. Matters on this Agenda may be continued from time to time without further 
notice, except as otherwise required under the Illinois Open Meetings Act. 
 
The Village of Hinsdale is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Individuals 
with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the 
facilities, are requested to contact Andrianna Peterson, ADA Coordinator at 630-789-7005 to allow the Village of 
Hinsdale to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. Additional information may be found on the 
Village’s website at www.villageofhinsdale.org 

http://www.villageofhinsdale.org/


VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
PLAN COMMISSION 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
Wednesday, February 8, 2023 

 
The regularly scheduled meeting of the Village of Hinsdale Plan Commission was called to order by 
Chairman Cashman, in Memorial Hall of the Memorial Building, 19 E. Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, IL on 
Wednesday, February 8, 2023 at 7:32 p.m., roll call was taken.   

 
PRESENT: Commissioners Cynthia Curry, Jim Krillenberger, Patrick Hurley, Julie Crnovich, Mark 

Willobee and Scott Moore, and Chairman Steven Cashman 
 
ABSENT: Commissioners Gerald Jablonski and Anna Fiascone 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 
 
Approval of Minutes – January 11, 2023 
Hearing no comments, a motion was made by Commissioner Willobee, seconded by Commissioner Moore, 
to approve the January 11, 2023 draft minutes as submitted.  The motion carried by the roll call vote of 5-0 
as follows: 
 
            AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: Commissioners Hurley and Chairman Cashman 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Jablonski and Fiascone 
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
Chairman Cashman asked for public comments.  There were no public comments pertaining to non-agenda 
items.  
 
Public Hearings 
a) Case A-37-2022 – 2 Salt Creek Lane – Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / Site Plan 

Review to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek 
Lane – Request by Mouse Automotive  

 
Please refer to Attachment 1 for the transcript for Public Hearing Case A-37-2022. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Crnovich, seconded by Commissioner Krillenberger, to open the 
Public Hearing for Case A-37-2022 – 2 Salt Creek Lane – Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / 
Site Plan Review to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek 
Lane. The motion carried with a roll call vote of 7-0 as follows:   
 
            AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Hurley, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore and 

Chairman Cashman 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Jablonski and Fiascone 
 
Anastas Shkurti, the attorney for the project with Robbins DiMonte, Michael Marzano, representing   the 
applicant Mouse Automotive, and Jerry Mortier, representing the project architect The Redmond Company, 
provided a presentation to the Plan Commission on the proposed development.  
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Anastas Shkurti, the attorney for the applicant, was present to address the Commission.  He provided a brief 
overview of the application to rezone the property from the O-2 District to the B-3 District.  Mr. Shkurti also 
provided a brief overview of the application for Exterior Appearance and Site Plan Review.   
 
Mr. Shkurti described the business as a unique, luxury car dealership and stated that if the application is 
approved, this location would be the largest McLaren dealership in North America.  The building would be a 
two (2) story structure containing retail, office, indoor parking and service areas.  The building would utilize 
the two (2) existing curb cuts for access, a three (3) foot tall black decorative fence would be installed to 
match the existing fencing on site, and a gate would be installed on the west drive for security. 
 
Mr. Shkurti explained that before the site plan can be approved, the property must be rezoned to allow for 
car dealerships.  Mr. Shkurti stated the current area is underutilized and the former building was demolished 
in 2012, the site is surrounded with office and commercial uses with no residential properties within 250 feet 
of the site.  He added that the McLaren dealership will be a good fit for the surrounding uses.   
 
Mr. Shkurti addressed the standards for a Map Amendment and explained how this project meets all of the 
standards.  Mr. Shkurti briefly addressed the standards for the site plan application and explained how the 
project would not have adverse impacts on the area and re-stated the dealership would be a very good fit 
for the surrounding uses.  Mr. Shkurti added the Office Park Association also supports the proposed 
dealership for this property.   
 
Commissioner Curry stated the building is beautiful asked how the project would impact the existing 
stormwater vault.  It was confirmed that the project would build over a corner of the vault. Details were then 
provided about excavating around the vault and the site plan area that shows the expansion of it.   
 
Commissioner Krillenberger asked for confirmation of the location of the black fence around the entire 
perimeter of the property.  The plans were enlarged on the screen to more clearly indicate the details of the 
three (3) foot tall decorative fence to match the existing.  Details about the light gray accent panels were also 
discussed for clarification. 
 
Commissioner Hurley stated the building looked great and asked for confirmation on the location of the lot 
entrance the large glass building frontage towards Ogden Avenue.  Potential signage to be applied for in the 
future was also briefly explained in response to a question from Commissioner Hurley. 
 
Commissioner Crnovich expressed her appreciation for the very thorough application and packet.  She 
stated she liked the building design and the potential tax revenue it will generate if approved.   
 
Commissioner Krillenberger asked about the operations of sales and service.  Mr. Marzano, of Mouse 
Automotive, explained that the dealership provides vehicle transport to a very large percent of customers 
purchasing and servicing vehicles. 
 
Commissioner Willobee asked if the turning radius was adequate for delivery trucks using the north entrance.  
It was confirmed that the area shown in the proposed plan would be adequate in turning radius and sufficient 
in area required for loading.  Follow-up comments of Commissioner Willobee were inaudible.   
 
Commissioner Willobee then asked if the neighboring streets would be used for test drives for sales or 
service.  Mr. Marzano stated that there would be no disruption to neighboring properties and nearby 
residential streets would not be used for that purpose.  Commissioner Willobee also stated the landscape 
plan looks great.   
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Commissioner Moore stated the project looks great and asked about the trees along Ogden Avenue to be 
removed.  It was stated that only select trees would be removed where needed. Mr. Mortier noted that a 
few trees along Ogden Avenue would be removed for visibility to the building, but they are preserving as 
many trees as possible.  
 
Commissioner Moore asked about the limited amount of windows on the north elevation stating it made the 
building appear boxy and institutional on that side compared to the other sides.  Some responding comments 
are not audible.  It was explained that the north elevation contains the second floor parking garage, the 
building will contain windows on the second floor to let natural light in, and that the rendering does not include 
the landscape plan which will include arborvitae and other plants to soften that wall.  
 
Chairman Cashman expressed appreciation for a very well done package and stated the project would be 
a great addition to the Village.  Some comments were inaudible.  Chairman Cashman asked about the 
current location in Chicago.  It was stated that the sales showroom in the west loop would be closed and 
that the warehouse location on the west side would be retained for overflow use if needed.   
 
Commissioner Curry asked about the origin of the name Mouse Motors, it was stated the business owner 
has a dog named Mouse.   
 
Commissioner Moore asked about the calculation of sales tax on automobiles.  Mr. Marzano explained that 
tax charged is based on address of resident but believed that Hinsdale would get a portion of tax revenue 
from cars sold in Illinois and that the Village would get the sales tax from the parts sold and service performed 
at the Hinsdale location.   
 
Commissioner Crnovich asked when the business is slated to open if approved.  Mr. Marzano stated he 
hoped the doors would be open at the end of 2024.   
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Curry, seconded by Commissioner Hurley, to close the Public Hearing 
for Case A-37-2022 – 2 Salt Creek Lane – Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / Site Plan Review 
to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek Lane. The motion 
carried with a roll call vote of 7-0 as follows:   
 
            AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Hurley, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore and 

Chairman Cashman 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Jablonski and Fiascone 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Krillenberger, seconded by Commissioner Willobee, to approve the 
Public Hearing for Case A-37-2022 – 2 Salt Creek Lane – Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / 
Site Plan Review to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek 
Lane. The motion carried with a roll call vote of 7-0 as follows:   
 
            AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Hurley, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore and 

Chairman Cashman 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Jablonski and Fiascone 
 
Commissioner Crnovich invited Mouse Motors to participate in the 150th Anniversary Fourth of July Parade.  
The applicants responded that they would be interested in taking part.   
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Public Meetings 
a)  Case A-4-2023 – 218 W. Ogden Avenue – Tentative & Final Plat of Subdivision and Exterior 

Appearance & Site Plan Review to allow for the subdivision of four (4) lots into two (2) code 
compliant lots in the R-4 Single Family Residential District for Karimi Estates 

 
Shamir Karimi, the owner of the lot, was present to address the Commission and provide a brief overview 
of the application to establish two (2) code compliant lots and also stated that the packet contains 
information on how this request meets all of the requirements.  Mr. Karimi stated there is no intention to 
build on the lots at this time, but to list them for sale and let the future owner determine a proposed use.   
 
Commissioner Moore asked for confirmation that the owner has no intention to build on the lots.  Mr. 
Karimi stated that the only intention is to create two (2) code compliant lots zoned for single-family 
residences that will be sold to new owners.  
 
Commissioners Willobee, Crnovich, and Curry expressed support for the application.   
 
Commissioner Hurley did not have any questions.  
 
Commissioner Krillenberger asked about changes to the ingress/regress.  Mr. Karimi stated the existing 
curb cuts on Ogden Avenue would be closed as required and the lots would be accessed from Vine 
Street and Grant Street. 
 
Chairman Cashman stated that he believed the large lot sizes would provide flexibility for builders, 
especially since the lots border Ogden Ave.   
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Crnovich, seconded by Commissioner Curry, to approve Case A-
4-2023 – 218 W. Ogden Avenue – Tentative & Final Plat of Subdivision and Exterior Appearance & Site 
Plan Review to allow for the subdivision of four (4) lots into two (2) code compliant lots in the R-4 Single 
Family Residential District for Karimi Estates.  The motion carried with a roll call vote of 7-0 as follows:   
 
            AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Hurley, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore and 

Chairman Cashman 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioners Jablonski and Fiascone 
 
Adjournment 
Chairman Cashman asked for a motion to adjourn.  A motion was made Commissioner Krillenberger, 
seconded by Commissioner Willobee, to adjourn the regularly scheduled meeting of the Village of 
Hinsdale Plan Commission of the February 8, 2023. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:12 PM after a unanimous voice vote of 7-0. 
 

 
ATTEST:  _________________________________________ 

                 Jennifer Spires, Community Development Office 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
                   )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE  )

         BEFORE THE HINSDALE PLAN COMMISSION 

In the Matter of:          )
                           )
                           )
Map Amendment and Exterior )
Appearance/Site Plan       ) 
Review, 2 Salt Creek Lane, )
Case A-37-2022,            ) 
Mouse Automotive.          )
 
         

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 

taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 

matter, before the Hinsdale Plan Commission, at 

19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois, on 

February 8, 2023, at the hour of 7:30 p.m.

     BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:  

         MR. STEPHEN CASHMAN, Chairman;

         MR. MARK WILLOBEE, Member; 

         MR. SCOTT MOORE, Member;

         MS. CYNTHIA CURRY, Member;

         MR. PATRICK HURLEY, Member; 

         MR. JIM KRILLENBERGER, Member and 

         MS. JULIE CRNOVICH, Member.
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     ALSO PRESENT:1

         MS. BETHANY SALMON, Village Planner;2
         MR. ANASTAS SHKURTI, Attorney for3
             Petitioner;

4
         MR. MIKE MARZANO, Dealer/Developer;

5
         MR. JERRY MORTIER, Architect for
             Petitioner.6
________________________________________________

7

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  We have one Public8
Hearing tonight, Case A-37-2022, 2 Salt Creek9
Lane, for a map amendment, exterior appearance/07:36PM 10
site plan review to allow a luxury car11
dealership on a 2.2 acre site at 2 Salt Creek12
Lane.  Request by Mouse Automotive.13

And we need to have a motion to14
open the Public Hearing.15

MS. CRNOVICH:  So moved.16
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Second.17
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Roll call, please,18

Bethany.19
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Curry?20
MS. CURRY:  Aye.21
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Krillenberger?22

3

         MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Aye.1
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Hurley?2
         MR. HURLEY:  Aye.3

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Crnovich?4
         MS. CRNOVICH:  Aye.5
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Willobee?6
         MR. WILLOBEE:  Aye.7
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Moore?8
         MR. MOORE:  Aye.9
         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Cashman?07:36PM 10

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Aye.11
Is there anyone we need to swear12

in, applicants or anyone of the public that13
would like to speak, stand up.14
                  (WHEREUPON, the oath was15
                   administered to Mr. Shkurti,16
                   Mr. Mortier, Mr. Marzano.)17

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Welcome.  If you18
would like to give us an overview of your19
packet.07:37PM 20

MR. SHKURTI:  Good evening, everyone.21
Thank you for having us tonight.  My name is22

4

Anastas Shkurti.  I'm a partner with the Law1
Firm of Robbins DiMonte and also would like to2
thank Bethany here, the village staff, for3
helping us, guiding us through the application4
process that we are bringing here before you5
today.6

The applicants recently purchased7
2 Salt Creek Lane and wants to develop the site8
into a luxury car dealership for McLaren9
Chicago.07:38PM 10

For this purpose we have submitted11
a map amendment application to rezone the site12
from the O-3 general office district to the B-313
general business district and we also have14
submitted an exterior appearance and site plan15
review application.16

The applicant's chief operating17
officer, Mr. Mike Marzano, is here to address18
the dealership's current and projected19
operations and our architect, Mr. Jerry Mortier,07:38PM 20
is also available to provide a review of the21
technical aspects of the site plan review and of22

5

the positive standards that you will consider in1
approving these applications.2

On my end, I will provide a brief3
summary of the project and review the map4
amendment standards and the other so-called5
negative standards that are associated with site6
plan review and after this introduction, we will7
open up the floor to your questions and any8
other questions from the public.9

McLaren Chicago is a unique and07:38PM 10
nontraditional automotive dealership and it11
specializes in selling modern luxury high-12
performance super cars.13

If approved, this project will14
become the largest McLaren dealership in North15
America and this will place Hinsdale on the16
international racing map and we are superexcited17
to bring this project here to you.18

The proposed facility has a unique19
design and it is a great fit for the location.07:39PM 20
The acquisition and the state-of-the-art21
build-out costs in excess of $12 million and it22
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will create several new jobs.1
The site plan consists of a 2-story2

38,367 square foot building with the net area of3
about 32,619 square feet with 46 exterior4
parking stalls.5

The building has two interior6
showrooms/service bays, offices and an interior7
parking garage for vehicle storage.  The8
facility has enough indoor parking for all9
projected vehicle inventory both for sale and07:39PM 10
for service.11

The site plan provides for12
approximately 65 indoor parking stalls.  Those13
are 19 for the 2 showrooms.  The cars will be14
displayed on the first and second floor and then15
there are 12 service bays in the first floor and16
then 34 parking stalls in the parking facility17
in the second floor.18

As Mr. Marzano will explain later,19
McLaren Chicago has a significantly lower07:40PM 20
intensity use than a typical car dealership and21
the site will be accessible from the two22

7

existing curb cuts on the north property line of1
Tower Drive, which is a private road in the2
office park of Hinsdale.  No new curb cuts are3
planned.4

For enhanced security, a three-foot5
tall black open decorative fence matching the6
existing fencing onsite will be installed around7
the perimeter of the parking lot.  A gate will8
be installed on the west driveway and a9
retractable bollard will be installed on the07:40PM 10
east driveway.11

First, in order for this project to12
become a reality, the subject site must be13
rezoned through a map amendment.14

The current classification 0-3 does15
not permit any car dealerships, however, the B-316
business district classification permits new and17
used motor vehicle dealers on lots abutting18
Ogden Avenue.19

And the references to the07:41PM 20
applicable code sections are in the staff memo.21

The site lies immediately north of22

8

Ogden Avenue and it's located in Hinsdale office1
park.  The site is severely underused with a2
history of unsuccessful attempts to develop.3
The last building onsite was demolished in 2012.4

The site is surrounded by a mix of5
office and commercial uses.  There are no6
residential districts adjacent to the site and7
there are no properties in the single-family8
residential district within 250 feet of the9
site.07:41PM 10

On the north, east and west we have11
multi-tenant office buildings, medical office12
buildings and a detention pond all in the O-313
district.  And then to the south of Ogden14
Avenue, all lots immediately adjacent to the15
site are zoned B-3.16

There is the Chase bank at 400 East17
Ogden, and then 3 car dealerships, Land Rover at18
336 East Ogden, Continental Ferrari at 420 East19
Ogden and Current Automotive at 300 East Ogden.07:42PM 20

So having a brand new state-of-the-21
art building housing a high-end dealership like22

9

McLaren on the site will fit very well with the1
surrounding uses.2

The applicant has provided answers3
to all map amendment standards in the recent4
application and I'll review them briefly for5
you.6

First, the proposed amendment is7
consistent with the purpose of the village code.8
The code already contemplates and permits new9
car dealerships along Ogden Avenue in the B-307:42PM 10
district.  And then once rezoned, the site plan11
will satisfy all bulk and height regulations.12

Secondly, the proposed dealership13
will be a great fit for the existing uses and14
zoning classifications for the properties in the15
vicinity.16

3.  The development trends in the17
vicinity have been towards business and18
commercial development and away from office19
development.  Market-wide, office space07:43PM 20
vacancies are at a record high and such office21
uses do not generate any sales tax revenue for22
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the village.1
4.  The existing zoning2

classification, all three, diminishes the value3
of the site because it has been underused for4
over a decade.  The last building on the site,5
as we said, was demolished in 2012.6

5.  The public health, safety and7
welfare of the local community does not benefit8
from the diminution in value to the site from9
its existing O-3 zoning.  The site has been07:43PM 10
vacant and all previous redevelopment efforts11
since demolition of the building have failed.12

6.  The proposed amendment will13
positively affect the enjoyment and the use of14
adjacent properties.  This will be a state-of-15
the-art facility and a great fit for the16
location and it will be a very attractive and17
quiet development and a valuable contributor to18
the community.19

7.  The proposed amendment will07:44PM 20
increase and positively affect the value of21
adjacent properties.  As stated above, the22

11

building, and as the architect will explain, is1
very attractive, unique, very desirable.2

8.  The amendment will have a3
positive impact on the orderly development of4
adjacent properties.  This site is the last5
undeveloped parcel in this stretch of Ogden6
Avenue.7

9.  The passage of time and the8
economic reality have demonstrated that the site9
is not well-suited for office space use and for07:44PM 10
the O-3 zoning classification which it now has.11
This site has been severely underused for over a12
decade and any plan to develop it as an office13
have not succeeded.  As a matter of fact, the14
O-3 zoning classification diminishes the value15
of the site.16

10.  The proposed amendment and17
development will provide adequate ingress and18
egress to the new dealership.  Access to the19
parking lot will remain in the same location as07:45PM 20
it currently is from Ogden Avenue to Salt Creek21
Lane to Tower Drive and then on to the site.22

12

              All traffic that goes in and out of1
the dealership will be limited to the corner of2
the office park and it will not affect the rest3
of the office park and there is currently a4
traffic light at Ogden Avenue and Salt Creek5
Lane.  There is also an existing directional6
sign on Salt Creek Lane that directs traffic7
east to Tower Drive and then on to Salt Creek8
Lane which will then guide traffic to the9
dealership.07:45PM 10

11.  The utilities and essential11
public services currently available on the site12
are adequate to accommodate the use permitted13
under O-3 zoning classification as well as B-314
zoning classification.  So this amendment will15
not further tax any public utilities and16
facilities in the area.17

12.  The site has been vacant for18
over ten years.  The nearby properties19
immediately to the south that are zoned B-3 have07:46PM 20
developed at a much faster pace.  The recent21
development trends in the vicinity have been22

13

towards business, commercial development and1
away from office development.  There is no other2
planned office space development in the vicinity3
that we are aware of.4

13.  The proposed amendment is5
needed to allow the redevelopment of this6
underused lot.  The proposed luxury car7
dealership under the McLaren brand is the best-8
case scenario for this specific lot because it9
will permit a long-term solution for the subject07:46PM 10
property, generate sales tax revenue for the11
village and it will enhance the value of the12
neighboring properties.13

And then 14, finally.  With respect14
to the map amendment application, there is no15
overlay district concerns associated with the16
site plan.17

So that kind of summarizes the 1418
standards that are associated with a map19
amendment application.07:46PM 20

With respect to the site plan21
review application, as you know, there are about22
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16 positive standards and I think about 121
negative standards.  I'll go through quickly the2
negative standards and then I'll permit the3
architect to go ahead with the positive4
standards and further explanations.5

First, once the property is rezoned6
to B-3, the site plan will meet specified7
standards required by the zoning code and it8
will exceed all practical standards.9

2.  The site plan does not07:47PM 10
interfere with any easements or any rights-of-way.11
A few existing utility easements will be12
relocated or abandoned as part of this13
development.  And this is all in line with most14
other new developments.15

3.  The site plan does not create16
any negative destruction or modification of a17
natural, topographical or physical features of18
the site.  The site is relatively flat and has19
been in that condition since the previous07:47PM 20
building was demolished.21

4.  The site plan will not have any22

15

negative effects on the surrounding properties.1
The site is located along the southernmost2
boundary of the office park.  Customers and3
visitors who drive to the dealership will have4
minimum contacts with the other office park lots.5

The entire development is well6
within the building setbacks and the building7
area of the lot and the development complements8
the three dealerships immediately to the south.9

The site plan and use will be quiet07:48PM 10
in nature.  This will not be a loud development11
and it is intended to be peaceful and work very12
well with nature.13

5.  The plan will not create any14
undue traffic congestion or hazards in the public15
streets and it will not create inefficient16
pedestrian or vehicular circulation paths.17

Access to the parking lot of the18
development will remain at substantially the19
same location as it is right now.  The site plan07:48PM 20
guides the visitors to the property.  The main21
customer entrance of the building will be in the22

16

rear of the building and closest to the parking1
lot to enhance pedestrian access and safety.2

The applicant has submitted a3
traffic study report from KLOA which concludes4
that the existing Tower Drive access ways are5
sufficient for the traffic to be generated by6
the use and then the roadway system has7
sufficient capacity to accommodate the traffic8
and no additional improvements or modifications9
are required.07:49PM 10

As a matter of fact, the dealership11
is estimated to generate much less peak hour in12
daily traffic than an approximately 30,00013
square foot office building, that, you know, is14
similar to what was previously there or that15
could be expected in the future in the event16
that this project doesn't go through.17

6.  The site plan provides abundant18
screening and shielding away from nearby uses.19
Jerry will explain that a little bit more, but07:49PM 20
overall, there shouldn't be any concerns about21
noise or light penetration into the adjacent22

17

lots.1
7.  The structures and landscaping2

have abundant amenities and are wholly3
compatible with the nearby structures and uses.4
The design objective is to exceed landscape5
ordinance requirements for the B-3 zoning while6
balancing the overall budget of the project.7

8.  The site plan makes adequate8
provisions for the creation and preservation of9
open space and for the continued maintenance.07:50PM 10
All plantings specified for open space are low11
maintenance.12

9.  The plan does not create13
drainage or erosion problems for the site.  The14
development plan is to utilize the existing15
storm trap structure and then expand it16
accordingly to accommodate any additional17
stormwater requirements.18

10.  The plan will seamlessly19
incorporate the development utilities into the07:50PM 20
existing utility system and it will not21
unreasonably burden it.  This is a low-intensity22
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use and that will be a lower burden on the1
village than past developments of this same site2
or any alternative commercial or office uses.3

11.  There are no required public4
uses.5

And 12, finally.  The site plan6
does not adversely affect the public health,7
safety or general welfare.  Instead, and indeed,8
this project is a great fit for the location.9
It will be a quiet development and it will still07:51PM 10
be a valuable contributor to the community with11
neighboring upscale retailers.  This is the best-12
case scenario for the village given the low13
intensity and potential tax revenue related to14
the applicant's high-dollar vehicles.15

The owners' association also16
supports the proposal, subject to some17
conditions that Bethany can explain, or we can18
answer for you, and McLaren Chicago will be a19
very wonderful addition to the village and an07:51PM 20
attraction for the village.21

So this was my brief summary.  I'd22

19

like to open up the floor to questions from you.1
Mr. Marzano and Mr. Mortier will adequately2
respond to those but if you have any questions3
from me specifically, please, feel free to call4
me up again.  Thank you.5

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Thank you.6
We don't have any questions at this7

moment.  Would you like to continue to present8
or are you open for questions on the entire9
application?07:52PM 10

MR. MARZANO:  We are open for questions.11
MR. MORTIER:  We are open for questions.12
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Great.  Cynthia?13
MS. CURRY:  I know you talked about the14

stormwater, there's an underground storm vault.15
Does that get relocated or --16

MR. MORTIER:  We are building over a17
corner of it, just a corner.  It's a precast18
structure, approximately two feet below grade,19
extends another eight feet down.  So what we07:52PM 20
will do is we will excavate around it, cut off21
the portion that we need to construct a new22

20

concrete wall there to basically end it and then1
build our building up against it.  We will need2
to expand it because of our impervious, so we3
will need to enlarge it from what's shown there.4

MS. CURRY:  It's a beautiful structure.5
MR. MORTIER:  Thank you.6
MS. CURRY:  It looks more like a7

museum; it's beautiful.8
MR. SHKURTI:  The blue area there,9

that's where the storm --07:53PM 10
MR. MORTIER:  It's shared between this11

property and the neighboring property.12
MS. CURRY:  Thank you.13
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Jim?14
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Mr. Shkurti15

mentioned a black security fence.  I can't find a16
rendition of that fence.  I see it individually.17

MR. MORTIER:  It's low.  It's the same18
fence on the front of the property.19

MR. SHKURTI:  If we could magnify this,07:53PM 20
you would be able to see that it shows in the21
legend if you scroll up a little bit.22

21

MR. MORTIER:  It's the same fence1
that's on the property.2

MR. SHKURTI:  It's 36-inch ornamental3
fence all the way on top left and side corner.4
Do you see that?5

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Yes.6
MR. SHKURTI:  The rendering is there7

but we had to magnify that.8
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Correct.  It's9

not -- when you say security fence, I think --07:54PM 10
MR. MORTIER:  It's that -- basically,11

that same height.  We had it taller.  Bethany,12
to her credit, said don't even bother.13

MR. SHKURTI:  There will be a gate on14
the western entrance and that will be a15
retractable bollards on the eastern entrance16
from Tower Drive so that should allow the17
maximum security.18

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  I love the19
aesthetics as long as that's secure enough for07:54PM 20
you guys.21

There's also on the same page where22
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that's identified, vertical architectural ribbed1
panel which looks like a border.  C 3.2

MR. MORTIER:  That's a corrugated metal3
panel.  It's an architectural, it's a heavier4
metal with vertical ribs on it.5

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Where is that6
located?7

MR. SHKURTI:  We probably have to8
switch the files.9

MR. MORTIER:  It's more an accent.  If07:55PM 10
you look at the top, you see the white structural11
frame and then along the very top you see that12
light gray, it would be in that location.13

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Okay.14
MR. MORTIER:  It's an accent material.15

You will see the vertical wood slats and then16
the alternate of the metal panel.17

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Okay.  I'm thrilled18
with what you have done, so I have no other19
questions.07:55PM 20

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Pat?21
MR. HURLEY:  Yes.  Thank you.  It looks22

23

wonderful.1
So the only parking is going to be2

on the north side right, northwest, northeast3
corners?4

MR. MORTIER:  Correct.5
MR. HURLEY:  So I assume that means the6

only entrances to the building are going to be7
on the north side of the building too?8

MR. MORTIER:  Off Tower.9
MR. HURLEY:  And so the rest of it is07:55PM 10

to the south it's all just essentially open11
window kind of space for visual attraction and12
that kind of stuff?13

MR. MORTIER:  Correct.  Yes, we have a14
lot of glass on that first floor.15

MR. HURLEY:  No, it's great.  It looks16
wonderful.17

This is the signage you expect to18
do?19

MR. MORTIER:  We will be back in front07:56PM 20
of you with the signage package but at this time21
this is what we are thinking of.22

24

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  You mentioned some1
ground signs on that wall.2

MR. MORTIER:  There's two brick piers3
now.  We are going to take out a section of4
metal fence and put some brick connecting it and5
replace it.  See that brick fence, we will place6
some signage on there.7

MR. HURLEY:  Wonderful.  That's it.8
Thank you.9

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Julie?07:56PM 10
MS. CRNOVICH:  Thank you for the very11

thorough application in the packet.  This rarely12
happens, but I don't have any questions.  You13
have covered everything and I love the way the14
building looks.  I think it will be a good fit15
for the location.  Low impact.  I'm not worried16
about a variance request because your cars will17
be inside and I like the tax revenue.  Very well18
done.19

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Earlier I didn't07:57PM 20
see it in this presentation, but last month's21
presentation said hardly anybody drives to your22

25

dealership.  People go and get in their car to1
look.  Is that the case?  Is that part of the2
reason for the --3

MR. MARZANO:  So for service we4
frequently just collect cars and bring them.5
I'd say it's 90 to 95 percent of our business is6
just picking cars up for our customers.7

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  And that's the8
national and global experience, Chicago9
experience?07:57PM 10

MR. MARZANO:  Mainly.  I mean, we11
service a pretty big area.  We are in Wisconsin,12
obviously Illinois, some of Michigan, Indiana13
and then when it starts to stretch west, it's14
kind of just a gray area of we take what we can15
get.  A lot of work is trucked in and even16
customer deliveries.17

I have a feeling with a new18
building like this, you know, people will want19
to come and see it but that's the goal.  I mean07:58PM 20
that's why we made it pretty and we wanted to be21
a different place that people want to be at.22
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MR. KRILLENBERGER:  That's reflected in1
the traffic studies as well.2

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.3
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Mark?4
MR. WILLOBEE:  Following after Julie, I5

don't have any comment.  Overall, I think it's a6
great application.  I appreciate it.7

I did have a question about you are8
showing the loading area just to the north of9
the building.  Just looking at, like, currently07:58PM 10
we still get trucks parking on streets, on Oak11
Street.  So will you mostly be coming in the12
west entrance with the trucks?  It doesn't look13
like the turn radius will work on the east end.14
So you will be able to get in the parking lot15
though?16

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.  We ran a path17
analysis.  Trucks will navigate this site.  It18
will take a talented driver.  Luckily there19
won't be any cars in the lot.07:59PM 20

MR. WILLOBEE:  And just a question21
about test drives or service drives after you22

27

fix something, those won't be like through the1
residential neighborhood or anything like that?2

MR. MARZANO:  I'm a recent addition to3
Hinsdale, so I get that concern.  Being close to4
294, I think that's kind of the target of just5
straight 294 and down and then come back.  No6
intent to disrupt the neighborhood.7

MR. WILLOBEE:  Those are all the8
questions I have.  I think landscaping looks9
great.  I like the -- how you are hiding the08:00PM 10
dumpsters.  Thanks.11

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Scott?12
MR. MOORE:  I have to go with the group13

on this, it's a great presentation.  So if I say14
something, I'm not nitpicking.15

You say most of the trees along16
Ogden Avenue and Salt Creek will remain.  What17
goes?18

MR. MORTIER:  There are a couple that19
are close to the front entry that we are putting08:00PM 20
the building right where they are planted right21
now.  But wherever we can, we are preserving22

28

what's there where there's not building.1
MR. MOORE:  And then the water thing,2

what Cynthia said, where would you expand that3
vault?4

MR. MORTIER:  It's going to be under5
the parking lot to the north --6

MR. MOORE:  To the northeast?7
MR. MORTIER:  Yes.  And we will have to8

work with engineering to get the final package9
put together and figure out how large we need to08:00PM 10
make it.11

MR. MOORE:  One of the things that I12
would bring up, if I look at the north elevation13
of the building, there's very limited windows14
there and I look at the south and the east and15
it's beautiful, I mean, truly beautiful, and16
just very attractive.  Anything on the north?17
Because if I think about office space, when18
people build office space buildings in the area,19
you can see they are constructed almost08:01PM 20
quasi-residential.  You know what I mean, they21
kind of fit.22

29

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.1
MR. MOORE:  This on the north side looks2

kind of boxy, institutional.  Not a criticism,3
just saying to me it does.  It looks like it's --4

MR. MARZANO:  I think the goal there5
was a little bit of security too.  I mean --6

MR. SHKURTI:  That's the garage over7
there.  That's where the 34 garage spaces are to8
store vehicles for work.  So we would rather not9
have windows or any incentive for people to try08:01PM 10
to come in.11

MR. MARZANO:  And there's some up in12
the second floor for kind of to let the natural13
light in.  They are tough to see in that photo I14
think.15

MR. MORTIER:  What we don't have is any16
renderings of a landscape plan either.  If we17
were to impose a landscaping on this, you would18
see arborvitae lining the entire base of the19
building on the north side.08:02PM 20

MR. MOORE:  Got it.21
MR. MORTIER:  Yes.22
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MR. MOORE:  Like I said, I'm nitpicking1
and you can drive the cars in my neighborhood.2

MR. MARZANO:  We will give you one to3
drive.4

MR. MOORE:  I like it.  It looks5
wonderful.6

MR. MARZANO:  Thank you.  Appreciate it.7
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  It's a very well8

done, very thorough package.  I appreciate that.9
I know Bethany pushes that but you responded08:02PM 10
well, I imagine.  I really appreciate that.11

I think it's an awesome addition to12
the village.  I'm excited about the visual of13
it, you know, coming into town and seeing that14
on the corner, it really -- I like the letters15
from the dealers, they are supportive of your16
investment here.  I think it's really a nice17
addition.  When the building was there, it was a18
very small office building and I think they19
knocked it down because it was more costly to08:03PM 20
have it up.  So it's great to see something21
happen on this site.  I wish you a lot of22

31

success.1
MR. MARZANO:  Thank you.2
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Where are you3

located currently in the city?4
MR. MARZANO:  We are split right now.5

Sales is at 645 West Randolph in the west loop,6
and then service is in the west side of the city7
like the very outskirt like Central and 290 in a8
warehouse, so it's very divided.9

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Anything else?08:03PM 10
MS. CURRY:  Are those facilities going11

to stay in place or they are done?12
MR. MARZANO:  So sales in the west loop13

will completely go away.  We own the building on14
the west side so that will stay for overflow or15
anything like that so that's going to stay in16
the picture.17

MS. CURRY:  I might be the only person18
who doesn't know this but why is it Mouse19
Motors?08:04PM 20

MR. MARZANO:  Our owner's dog.  He's a21
giant Presa Canario that is 130 pounds.  That's22

32

the irony of it.  He's massive.  He's good.  I1
think he's going on, like, 13, so pretty good2
for an old dog.3

MR. MOORE:  On the economics of how4
this works, if people are ordering online and5
buying online, does that all funnel through your6
dealership in Hinsdale?7

MR. MARZANO:  So sales tax for any8
vehicle you buy, and that's as it stands right9
now, you just pay taxes where you live.  So if08:05PM 10
you buy a car in Indiana and you are a Hinsdale11
resident, you will pay your Illinois tax and I12
don't know if on top of that when buying out of13
state, Hinsdale takes a piece.  I think there's14
a Hinsdale additional tax of like one percent or15
something like that.  So, mixed answer, yes and16
no.  Anything sold in Illinois, I believe17
Hinsdale would get a piece.18

MR. MOORE:  So if you have a big19
geographic footprint, that's across multiple08:05PM 20
states.21

MR. MARZANO:  The only thing that would22

33

really be brought in the picture there is they1
are going to collect on service and parts2
revenue so that's just treated as if you are3
buying a coffee from Starbucks or wherever, you4
are collecting taxes.5

MR. MOORE:  And all work is done on6
that location, correct?7

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.8
MS. CURRY:  Once you break ground, when9

do you anticipate moving in?08:05PM 10
MR. MARZANO:  I think end of '24 would11

be the goal right now in a perfect world.  We12
would love for it to be as soon as possible but13
I think best case is late '24.14

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Any other questions?15
(No response.)16
Thank you.17
Can we have a vote to close the18

Public Hearing?19
Is there a motion?08:06PM 20

MS. CURRY:  Motion to close.21
MR. HURLEY:  Second.22
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CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Roll call vote,1
please, Bethany.2

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Curry?3
MS. CURRY:  Aye.4
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Krillenberger?5
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Aye.6
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Hurley?7
MR. HURLEY:  Aye.8
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Crnovich?9
MS. CRNOVICH:  Aye.10

         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Willobee?11
         MR. WILLOBEE:  Aye.12

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Moore?13
MR. MOORE:  Aye.14
MS. SALMON:  Chairman Cashman?15
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Aye.16

                  (WHICH, were all of the17
                   proceedings had, evidence18
                   offered or received in the19
                   above entitled cause.)20

21
22

35
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KATHLEEN W. BONO, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn by me to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affix my electronic
signature this 20th day of February, A.D. 2023.

                       _________________________
                       KATHLEEN W. BONO
                       C.S.R. No. 84-1423
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION 
OF THE HINSDALE PLAN COMMISSION 

TO THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
APPLICATION:   Case A-37-2022 – 2 Salt Creek Lane – Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / 

Site Plan Review to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-
acre site at 2 Salt Creek Lane – Request by Mouse Automotive  

 
PROPERTY:   2 Salt Creek Lane (09-01-207-012)  
 
APPLICANT:   Mouse Automotive 
 
REQUEST:   Map Amendment, Exterior Appearance and Site Plan Review 
 
PLAN COMMISSION (PC) REVIEW:   February 8, 2023 
 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 1ST READING:   April 18, 2023 
 
SUMMARY OF REQUEST: The Village of Hinsdale received an application from Mouse Automotive 
requesting approval of an Exterior Appearance / Site Plan Review and Map Amendment to allow for the 
development of a 2.2-acre property located at 2 Salt Creek Lane into a luxury car dealership for McLaren 
Chicago. The proposed Map Amendment will entail the rezoning of the property from the O-3 General 
Office District to the B-3 General Business District. New and used motor vehicle dealers on lots abutting 
Ogden Avenue are classified as a permitted use in the B-3 District. The applicant will be required to 
obtain separate approval of a variation from the Zoning Board of Appeals and the Board of Trustees to 
allow for a reduction to parking.  
 
The site has been vacant since 2012 following the demolition of a two-story office building. The former 
parking lot, dumpster enclosure, decorative fence, and underground stormwater vault remain on site. The 
property is located in the Hinsdale Office Park and is subject to private covenants controlled by the 
Owners Association. The Office Park of Hinsdale Owners Association has provided a no objection letter 
to the Village and is working with the applicant on finalizing an easement agreements.  
 
The property is surrounded by a mix of office and commercial uses. Multi-tenant office buildings, medical 
office buildings, and a detention pond are located to the north, east, and west of the site in the O-3 District. 
Automobile dealerships and a bank are located to the south across Ogden Avenue in the B-3 District. 
Specifically, three automobile dealerships are located on the neighboring blocks to the south of the site 
(Land Rover at 336 E. Ogden Avenue, Continental / Ferrari at 420 E. Ogden Avenue, Current Automotive 
at 300 E. Ogden Avenue).  
 
There are no properties in a Single-Family Residential District located within 250 feet of the site. The 
closest single-family property is located in the R-4 District approximately 475 feet to the south on Oak 
Street across Ogden Avenue. The Graue Mill County Condominium subdivision is located approximately 
780 feet from the north of the site in the R-5 District.   
  
PUBLIC HEARING SUMMARY: On January 11, 2023, the Plan Commission scheduled the public 
hearing for this application. A public hearing for the submitted applications was held on Wednesday, 
February 8, 2023, in Memorial Hall, in the Memorial Building, 19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois, 
pursuant to a notice published in The Hinsdalean on January 19, 2023. A copy of the published notice is 
attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and made a part hereof. Mailed notice was sent to nearby property owners 
and a sign was posted by the applicant, as required by the Village’s Zoning Ordinance (“Zoning Code”). 
In addition, the Village publicized the public hearing on its website. 
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At the duly and properly noticed public hearing, Anastas Shkurti, the attorney for the project with Robbins 
DiMonte, Michael Marzano, representing   the applicant Mouse Automotive, and Jerry Mortier, representing 
the project architect The Redmond Company, provided a presentation to the Plan Commission on the 
proposed development.  
 
Following the presentation, the Plan Commission members asked the applicant questions and provided 
feedback on the project. The applicant responded to the questions by the Plan Commission members. 
Topics discussed during the public hearing included the expansion of the underground stormwater vault, 
the proposed ornamental fencing for security purposes around the parking lot that will match the existing 
fence on site, the proposed building materials, and access to the site. There was a discussion on the 
proposed conceptual signage shown on the plans, which will be reviewed separately for approval by the 
Plan Commission in the future.  
 
Several Commissioners noted they liked the architectural design and appearance of the building, the 
sales tax generation from the proposed use, and the landscaping and screening provided on site.  
 
There was a conversation on the proposed operations for the dealership. Mr. Marzano noted that the 
majority of the vehicle service operations will entail picking up cars from a customer’s location. There was 
then a discussion on the loading area and site design, where Mr. Mortier noted that the parking lot and 
loading area were configured to allow for vehicle delivery. The applicant confirmed that test drives for 
vehicles will not occur in adjacent residential areas.  
 
There was a discussion on the trees to be preserved and removed on site. Mr. Mortier noted that a few 
trees along Ogden Avenue would be removed for visibility to the building, but they are preserving as 
many trees as possible.  
 
One Commissioner asked about the design of the rear elevation and the lack of windows. The applicant 
noted that the rear elevation was designed based on the second-floor parking garage. The rendering also 
is missing the proposed landscaping that will be planted that will soften the architecture of the building.  
 
The existing locations of Mouse Automotive, the name of the dealership, and sales tax generation were 
also discussed. The applicant stated that they hope to open by the end of 2024.  
  
Testimony was taken and heard by the Plan Commission on application requests. No members of the 
public provided comment at the meeting. Staff did not receive feedback or comments from members of 
the public prior to the meeting. There being no questions or members of the public wishing to speak on 
the application, the public hearing was closed. 
 
A transcript of the public hearing is attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and made a part hereof. 
 
MOTION AND RECOMMENDATION: On February 8, 2023, the Plan Commission made the following 
motion on the proposed Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance and Site Plan Review.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Krillenberger, seconded by Commissioner Willobee, to recommend 
to the Village Board approval of Case A-37-2022, a Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / Site 
Plan Review to allow for the development of a luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek 
Lane, as submitted. The motion carried by the roll call vote of seven (7) ayes and zero (0) nays, with 
two (2) absent, as follows: 

AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Hurley, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore and   
 Chairman Cashman 
NAYS: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Commissioners Jablonksi and Fiascone 
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FINDINGS ON THE PROPOSED MAP AMENDMENT:  The Plan Commission, based upon the evidence 
presented at the public hearing, and pursuant to Section 11-601(E) of the Hinsdale Zoning Code, made 
the following Findings as to the Proposed Map Amendment:  
 
STANDARDS FOR APPROVING MAP AMENDMENT: Section 11-601(E) of the Zoning Code provides 
that the wisdom of amending the zoning map or the text of the Zoning Code is a matter committed to the 
sound legislative discretion of the board of trustees and is not dictated by any set standard. However, in 
determining whether a proposed amendment should be granted or denied the board of trustees should 
be guided by the principle that its power to amend this code is not an arbitrary one but one that may be 
exercised only when the public good demands or requires the amendment to be made. In considering 
whether that principle is satisfied in any particular case, the Board of Trustees should weigh, among other 
factors, certain factors:  
1. The consistency of the proposed amendment with the purposes of this code. 
2. The existing uses and zoning classifications for properties in the vicinity of the subject property. 
3. The trend of development in the vicinity of the subject property, including changes, if any, in such 

trend since the subject property was placed in its present zoning classification. 
4. The extent, if any, to which the value of the subject property is diminished by the existing zoning 

classification applicable to it. 
5. The extent to which any such diminution in value is offset by an increase in the public health, safety, 

and welfare. 
6. The extent, if any, to which the use and enjoyment of adjacent properties would be affected by the 

proposed amendment. 
7. The extent, if any, to which the value of adjacent properties would be affected by the proposed 

amendment. 
8. The extent, if any, to which the future orderly development of adjacent properties would be affected 

by the proposed amendment. 
9. The suitability of the subject property for uses permitted or permissible under its present zoning 

classification. 
10. The availability of adequate ingress to and egress from the subject property and the extent to which 

traffic conditions in the immediate vicinity of the subject property would be affected by the proposed 
amendment. 

11. The availability of adequate utilities and essential public services to the subject property to 
accommodate the uses permitted or permissible under its present zoning classification. 

12. The length of time, if any, that the subject property has been vacant, considered in the context of the 
pace of development in the vicinity of the subject property. 

13. The community need for the proposed amendment and for the uses and development it would allow. 
 

MAP AMENDMENT FINDINGS: The Plan Commission found that a Map Amendment to allow for the 
rezoning of the subject property from the O-3 General Office District to the B-3 General Business District 
is generally consistent with the purposes of the Zoning Code. The proposed Map Amendment is 
consistent with the existing uses and zoning classifications for the properties in the vicinity and the 
property will be suitable for the proposed luxury car dealership upon rezoning to the B-3 District.  
 
The subject property is located on Ogden Avenue across from existing properties in the B-3 District. In 
the B-3 District, new and used motor vehicle dealers on lots abutting Ogden Avenue are classified as a 
permitted use. The B-3 District is intended to serve the Hinsdale suburban community with a full range 
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of locally oriented business uses commonly located along established traffic routes and is a more 
generalized commercial district designed for established areas of heavier vehicular traffic. 
 
The property is surrounded by a mix of commercial and office uses. The proposed luxury car dealership 
is consistent with the existing car dealerships located nearby on the south of Ogden Avenue that are in 
the B-3 District: Land Rover at 336 E. Ogden Avenue; Continental / Ferrari at 420 E. Ogden Avenue; 
and, Current Automotive at 300 E. Ogden Avenue.  
 
The development trends in the vicinity of the subject property have been towards business and 
commercial development and away from office development. Market-wide, office space vacancies are at 
high levels, and such use does not generate sales tax revenue. These factors contribute to the existing 
zoning classification diminishing the value of 2 Salt Creek Lane as it has been underused for over a 
decade. The public health, safety, and welfare of the local community does not benefit from the diminution 
in value to 2 Salt Creek Lane from its existing O-3 District zoning classification as it has been vacant 
since 2012 and all redevelopment efforts since have failed up to this point. The proposed use of a luxury 
car dealership under the McLaren brand is the best-case scenario for this specific lot because it will 
permit a long-term solution for the subject property, generate sales tax revenue for the Village, and 
enhance the values of the neighboring properties.  
 
The proposed Map Amendment will not diminish the public health, safety, and welfare of the area and 
will positively affect the enjoyment and the use of adjacent properties. There are no properties in a Single-
Family Residential District located within 250 feet of the site. The closest single-family property is located 
in the R-4 District approximately 475 feet to the south on Oak Street across Ogden Avenue. The Graue 
Mill County Condominium subdivision is located approximately 780 feet from the north of the site in the 
R-5 District. 
 
The proposed luxury car dealership will fit within the context of the neighboring commercial area and 
adjacent car dealerships.  Mouse Automotive / McLaren Chicago is a unique, non-traditional luxury car 
dealership with exceptionally low intensity, low traffic, and low on-site unit sales. About 80% of vehicle 
sales take place online and an enclosed hauler handles 90-95% of the delivery and pick-up of serviced 
vehicles. The dealership projects no more than 20 total new and used cars sales per month including 
online sales. The proposed use will generate significantly less vehicular traffic than an administrative or 
medical office space building of smaller size. The proposed development will provide adequate ingress 
and egress to the new McLaren Chicago dealership. Access to the parking lot will remain at the same 
location where it is currently located from Tower Drive. No access will be provided from Salt Creek Lane 
or Ogden Avenue. The current configuration will create no negative impacts on vehicular traffic patterns.  
 
The proposed Map Amendment will not negatively impact the future development of adjacent properties 
and will benefit the community by re-developing a site that has been vacant and underused for over 10 
years. McLaren Chicago will be single-use, low intensity, and self-contained development and it will not 
impact any adjacent properties that seek to re-develop.  
 
The utilities and essential public services currently available at the site are adequate to accommodate 
the use. The amendment will not further tax public utilities and facilities in the area. In any event, the 
development will upgrade the water main along Ogden from a 6” line to an 8” line. The existing 
underground storm trap structure may be expanded as necessary. Communications with ComEd have 
begun to relocate any easement that runs through the site. 
 
FINDINGS ON THE EXTERIOR APPEARANCE AND SITE PLAN REVIEW: In recommending approval 
of the Exterior Appearance and Site Plan Review, the Plan Commission determined the standards set 
forth in Section 11-604(F) and Section 11-606(F) of the Village’s Zoning Code have been met.  
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Commissioners noted that proposed plans met several of the standards for approval identified in the 
Zoning Code. With the exception of the requested parking variation, the proposed site plan meets the 
standards of the Zoning Code (Section 11-604(F)(1)(a)).  
 
The proposed site plan provides ample landscaping and preserves the majority of tress on site (Section 
11-604(F)(1)(e) and (i). The proposed site plan will not create undue traffic congestion or hazards on 
public streets, and the circulation of elements of the site plan will not unreasonably create vehicular or 
pedestrian hazards, as determined in the submitted traffic study and based on the specific operations of 
the proposed luxury car dealership (Section 11-604(F)(1)(g)). The existing site also utilizes existing 
driveways and access to the site from Tower Drive. The applicant intends to increase the size of the 
existing underground stormwater vault and utilities existing utility systems servicing the site (Section 11-
604(F)(1)(k) and (l)). The proposed architectural design and building materials are of a high-quality 
design and are respectful to the character of and will be compatible with the neighboring area and 
buildings (Section 11-605(E)(1) and (2)). 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Based on the findings set forth above, the Village of Hinsdale Plan Commission, 
by a vote of seven (7) ayes and zero (0) nays, with two (2) absent, recommend approval of Case A-37-
2022, a Map Amendment and Exterior Appearance / Site Plan Review to allow for the development of a 
luxury car dealership on a 2.2-acre site at 2 Salt Creek Lane, as submitted. 
: 
 
 

Signed: ___________________________________ 
Steve Cashman, Chair 
Plan Commission 
Village of Hinsdale 

 
 
Date: ______________________________________ 

 



VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
NOTICE OF PLAN COMMISSION 

PUBLIC HEARING 

PUBLIC NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN to all persons that the Village of Hinsdale Plan 
Commission shall conduct a public hearing on Wednesday, February 8, 2023 at 7:30 p.m. in the 
Memorial Building, 19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois for the purpose of considering an 
application from Mouse Automotive for an Exterior Appearance / Site Plan Review and Map 
Amendment to allow for the development of a 2.2-acre property located at 2 Salt Creek Lane into 
a luxury car dealership for McLaren Chicago. The proposed Map Amendment will entail the 
rezoning of the property from the O-3 General Office District to the B-3 General Business District. 
New and used motor vehicle dealers on lots abutting Ogden Avenue are classified as a permitted 
use in the B-3 District. The applicant will be required to obtain separate approval of a variation 
from the Zoning Board of Appeals and the Board of Trustees to allow for a reduction to parking. 
This request is known as Case A-37-2022. 

Copies of documents relating to the proposed request are on file and available for public 
inspection during regular Village business hours in the Memorial Building, 19 East Chicago 
Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois. 

The common address is 2 Salt Creek Lane, Hinsdale IL, 60521 (PIN: 09-01-207-012) and legally 
described as follows:  

PARCEL 1: LOT 7 IN OFFICE PARK OF HINSDALE, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF 
SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, AND PART OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED 
SEPTEMBER 20, 2022, AS DOCUMENT R2002-243817, IN DUPAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.  

PARCEL 2: NON-EXCLUSIVE PERPETUAL EASEMENTS FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARCEL 1 
AS CREATED BY AGREEMENT RECORDED JUNE 11, 1973 AS DOCUMENT R73-33823 AS 
AMENDED BY DOCUMENTS R73-35331, R81-2365 AND R2001-197280, DESCRIBED IN 
RIDER DESCRIPTIONS 2, 4 AND 6 ATTACHED THERETO, AND BY EASEMENT GRANT 
RECORDED JANUARY 18, 1989 AS DOCUMENT R89-006821 AS AMENDED BY DOCUMENT 
R89-072896, AND AS CREATED BY EASEMENT GRANT RECORDED JUNE 20, 1989 AS 
DOCUMENT R89-07897, DESCRIBED AS EXHIBITS C1 THROUGH C5 ATTACHED 
THERETO, AND ALSO AS CREATED BY LICENSE AGREEMENT RECORDED JUNE 11, 1973 
AS DOCUMENT R73-33822, AS SUPPLEMENTED BY SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION OF 
LICENSE RECORDED AS DOCUMENT R77-117083 AND SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION 
OF LICENSE RECODED AS DOCUMENT R79-107322, FOR THE PURPOSES OF INGRESS 
AND EGRESS OVER, UPON, AND ACROSS EASEMENT PREMISES.  

PARCEL 3: A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARCEL 1 AS CREATED 
BY DECLARATION OF EASEMENTS AND OPERATING COVENANTS RECORDED MAY 29, 
2003, AS DOCUMENT R2003-200111, AND RE-RECORDED JANUARY 10, 2006 AS 
DOCUMENT R2006-0005825 AND AMENDED BY AMENDMENT RECORDED FEBRUARY 27, 
2012 AS DOCUMENT R2012-024784 FPR THE PURPOSE OF VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN 
INGRESS AND EGRESS UPON THE ROADWAYS; REPAIR, REPLACEMENT AND RENEWAL 
OF UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS; RETENTION, DETENTION AND DRAINAGE OF WATER; AND 
OVER COMMON IMPROVEMENTS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE CLOCK TOWER, 
SIDEWALKS, LANDSCAPED AREAS AND POND FOR PEDESTRIAN INGRESS, EGRESS, 
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ACCESS AND FOR PASSIVE RECREATIONAL PURPOSES OVER THE FOLLOWING 
DESCRIBED LAND: LOTS 1,2,3,4,6,7,8,9 AND 10 IN OFFICE PARK OF HINSDALE, BEING A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, 
RANGE 11 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT 
THEREOF RECORDED SEPTEMBER 20, 2002, AS DOCUMENT E2002-243817, IN DUPAGE 
COUNTY ILLINOIS. 

At said public hearing, the Plan Commission shall accept all testimony and evidence pertaining to 
said application and shall consider any and all possible zoning actions, including the granting of 
any necessary special permits, variations, other special approvals, or amendments to the Zoning 
Code that may be necessary or convenient to permit development of the proposed type at the 
described property. All interested persons are invited to attend and be heard. 
 
Dated: January 12, 2023 
 
Andrianna Peterson, Acting Village Clerk     
      
To be published in the Hinsdalean on January 19, 2023 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
 )  ss:

COUNTY OF DU PAGE  )

BEFORE THE HINSDALE PLAN COMMISSION 

In the Matter of:          )
)
)

Map Amendment and Exterior )
Appearance/Site Plan ) 
Review, 2 Salt Creek Lane, )
Case A-37-2022, ) 
Mouse Automotive. )

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 

taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 

matter, before the Hinsdale Plan Commission, at 

19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois, on 

February 8, 2023, at the hour of 7:30 p.m.

     BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 

MR. STEPHEN CASHMAN, Chairman;

MR. MARK WILLOBEE, Member; 

MR. SCOTT MOORE, Member;

MS. CYNTHIA CURRY, Member;

MR. PATRICK HURLEY, Member; 

MR. JIM KRILLENBERGER, Member and 

MS. JULIE CRNOVICH, Member.

Exhibit 2

Bsalmon
Rectangle



KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779 2 of 16 sheets 

2

     ALSO PRESENT:1

         MS. BETHANY SALMON, Village Planner;2
         MR. ANASTAS SHKURTI, Attorney for3
             Petitioner;

4
         MR. MIKE MARZANO, Dealer/Developer;

5
         MR. JERRY MORTIER, Architect for
             Petitioner.6
________________________________________________

7

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  We have one Public8
Hearing tonight, Case A-37-2022, 2 Salt Creek9
Lane, for a map amendment, exterior appearance/07:36PM 10
site plan review to allow a luxury car11
dealership on a 2.2 acre site at 2 Salt Creek12
Lane.  Request by Mouse Automotive.13

And we need to have a motion to14
open the Public Hearing.15

MS. CRNOVICH:  So moved.16
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Second.17
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Roll call, please,18

Bethany.19
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Curry?20
MS. CURRY:  Aye.21
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Krillenberger?22

3

         MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Aye.1
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Hurley?2
         MR. HURLEY:  Aye.3

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Crnovich?4
         MS. CRNOVICH:  Aye.5
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Willobee?6
         MR. WILLOBEE:  Aye.7
         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Moore?8
         MR. MOORE:  Aye.9
         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Cashman?07:36PM 10

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Aye.11
Is there anyone we need to swear12

in, applicants or anyone of the public that13
would like to speak, stand up.14
                  (WHEREUPON, the oath was15
                   administered to Mr. Shkurti,16
                   Mr. Mortier, Mr. Marzano.)17

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Welcome.  If you18
would like to give us an overview of your19
packet.07:37PM 20

MR. SHKURTI:  Good evening, everyone.21
Thank you for having us tonight.  My name is22

4

Anastas Shkurti.  I'm a partner with the Law1
Firm of Robbins DiMonte and also would like to2
thank Bethany here, the village staff, for3
helping us, guiding us through the application4
process that we are bringing here before you5
today.6

The applicants recently purchased7
2 Salt Creek Lane and wants to develop the site8
into a luxury car dealership for McLaren9
Chicago.07:38PM 10

For this purpose we have submitted11
a map amendment application to rezone the site12
from the O-3 general office district to the B-313
general business district and we also have14
submitted an exterior appearance and site plan15
review application.16

The applicant's chief operating17
officer, Mr. Mike Marzano, is here to address18
the dealership's current and projected19
operations and our architect, Mr. Jerry Mortier,07:38PM 20
is also available to provide a review of the21
technical aspects of the site plan review and of22

5

the positive standards that you will consider in1
approving these applications.2

On my end, I will provide a brief3
summary of the project and review the map4
amendment standards and the other so-called5
negative standards that are associated with site6
plan review and after this introduction, we will7
open up the floor to your questions and any8
other questions from the public.9

McLaren Chicago is a unique and07:38PM 10
nontraditional automotive dealership and it11
specializes in selling modern luxury high-12
performance super cars.13

If approved, this project will14
become the largest McLaren dealership in North15
America and this will place Hinsdale on the16
international racing map and we are superexcited17
to bring this project here to you.18

The proposed facility has a unique19
design and it is a great fit for the location.07:39PM 20
The acquisition and the state-of-the-art21
build-out costs in excess of $12 million and it22
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will create several new jobs.1
The site plan consists of a 2-story2

38,367 square foot building with the net area of3
about 32,619 square feet with 46 exterior4
parking stalls.5

The building has two interior6
showrooms/service bays, offices and an interior7
parking garage for vehicle storage.  The8
facility has enough indoor parking for all9
projected vehicle inventory both for sale and07:39PM 10
for service.11

The site plan provides for12
approximately 65 indoor parking stalls.  Those13
are 19 for the 2 showrooms.  The cars will be14
displayed on the first and second floor and then15
there are 12 service bays in the first floor and16
then 34 parking stalls in the parking facility17
in the second floor.18

As Mr. Marzano will explain later,19
McLaren Chicago has a significantly lower07:40PM 20
intensity use than a typical car dealership and21
the site will be accessible from the two22

7

existing curb cuts on the north property line of1
Tower Drive, which is a private road in the2
office park of Hinsdale.  No new curb cuts are3
planned.4

For enhanced security, a three-foot5
tall black open decorative fence matching the6
existing fencing onsite will be installed around7
the perimeter of the parking lot.  A gate will8
be installed on the west driveway and a9
retractable bollard will be installed on the07:40PM 10
east driveway.11

First, in order for this project to12
become a reality, the subject site must be13
rezoned through a map amendment.14

The current classification 0-3 does15
not permit any car dealerships, however, the B-316
business district classification permits new and17
used motor vehicle dealers on lots abutting18
Ogden Avenue.19

And the references to the07:41PM 20
applicable code sections are in the staff memo.21

The site lies immediately north of22

8

Ogden Avenue and it's located in Hinsdale office1
park.  The site is severely underused with a2
history of unsuccessful attempts to develop.3
The last building onsite was demolished in 2012.4

The site is surrounded by a mix of5
office and commercial uses.  There are no6
residential districts adjacent to the site and7
there are no properties in the single-family8
residential district within 250 feet of the9
site.07:41PM 10

On the north, east and west we have11
multi-tenant office buildings, medical office12
buildings and a detention pond all in the O-313
district.  And then to the south of Ogden14
Avenue, all lots immediately adjacent to the15
site are zoned B-3.16

There is the Chase bank at 400 East17
Ogden, and then 3 car dealerships, Land Rover at18
336 East Ogden, Continental Ferrari at 420 East19
Ogden and Current Automotive at 300 East Ogden.07:42PM 20

So having a brand new state-of-the-21
art building housing a high-end dealership like22

9

McLaren on the site will fit very well with the1
surrounding uses.2

The applicant has provided answers3
to all map amendment standards in the recent4
application and I'll review them briefly for5
you.6

First, the proposed amendment is7
consistent with the purpose of the village code.8
The code already contemplates and permits new9
car dealerships along Ogden Avenue in the B-307:42PM 10
district.  And then once rezoned, the site plan11
will satisfy all bulk and height regulations.12

Secondly, the proposed dealership13
will be a great fit for the existing uses and14
zoning classifications for the properties in the15
vicinity.16

3.  The development trends in the17
vicinity have been towards business and18
commercial development and away from office19
development.  Market-wide, office space07:43PM 20
vacancies are at a record high and such office21
uses do not generate any sales tax revenue for22
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the village.1
4.  The existing zoning2

classification, all three, diminishes the value3
of the site because it has been underused for4
over a decade.  The last building on the site,5
as we said, was demolished in 2012.6

5.  The public health, safety and7
welfare of the local community does not benefit8
from the diminution in value to the site from9
its existing O-3 zoning.  The site has been07:43PM 10
vacant and all previous redevelopment efforts11
since demolition of the building have failed.12

6.  The proposed amendment will13
positively affect the enjoyment and the use of14
adjacent properties.  This will be a state-of-15
the-art facility and a great fit for the16
location and it will be a very attractive and17
quiet development and a valuable contributor to18
the community.19

7.  The proposed amendment will07:44PM 20
increase and positively affect the value of21
adjacent properties.  As stated above, the22

11

building, and as the architect will explain, is1
very attractive, unique, very desirable.2

8.  The amendment will have a3
positive impact on the orderly development of4
adjacent properties.  This site is the last5
undeveloped parcel in this stretch of Ogden6
Avenue.7

9.  The passage of time and the8
economic reality have demonstrated that the site9
is not well-suited for office space use and for07:44PM 10
the O-3 zoning classification which it now has.11
This site has been severely underused for over a12
decade and any plan to develop it as an office13
have not succeeded.  As a matter of fact, the14
O-3 zoning classification diminishes the value15
of the site.16

10.  The proposed amendment and17
development will provide adequate ingress and18
egress to the new dealership.  Access to the19
parking lot will remain in the same location as07:45PM 20
it currently is from Ogden Avenue to Salt Creek21
Lane to Tower Drive and then on to the site.22

12

              All traffic that goes in and out of1
the dealership will be limited to the corner of2
the office park and it will not affect the rest3
of the office park and there is currently a4
traffic light at Ogden Avenue and Salt Creek5
Lane.  There is also an existing directional6
sign on Salt Creek Lane that directs traffic7
east to Tower Drive and then on to Salt Creek8
Lane which will then guide traffic to the9
dealership.07:45PM 10

11.  The utilities and essential11
public services currently available on the site12
are adequate to accommodate the use permitted13
under O-3 zoning classification as well as B-314
zoning classification.  So this amendment will15
not further tax any public utilities and16
facilities in the area.17

12.  The site has been vacant for18
over ten years.  The nearby properties19
immediately to the south that are zoned B-3 have07:46PM 20
developed at a much faster pace.  The recent21
development trends in the vicinity have been22

13

towards business, commercial development and1
away from office development.  There is no other2
planned office space development in the vicinity3
that we are aware of.4

13.  The proposed amendment is5
needed to allow the redevelopment of this6
underused lot.  The proposed luxury car7
dealership under the McLaren brand is the best-8
case scenario for this specific lot because it9
will permit a long-term solution for the subject07:46PM 10
property, generate sales tax revenue for the11
village and it will enhance the value of the12
neighboring properties.13

And then 14, finally.  With respect14
to the map amendment application, there is no15
overlay district concerns associated with the16
site plan.17

So that kind of summarizes the 1418
standards that are associated with a map19
amendment application.07:46PM 20

With respect to the site plan21
review application, as you know, there are about22
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16 positive standards and I think about 121
negative standards.  I'll go through quickly the2
negative standards and then I'll permit the3
architect to go ahead with the positive4
standards and further explanations.5

First, once the property is rezoned6
to B-3, the site plan will meet specified7
standards required by the zoning code and it8
will exceed all practical standards.9

2.  The site plan does not07:47PM 10
interfere with any easements or any rights-of-way.11
A few existing utility easements will be12
relocated or abandoned as part of this13
development.  And this is all in line with most14
other new developments.15

3.  The site plan does not create16
any negative destruction or modification of a17
natural, topographical or physical features of18
the site.  The site is relatively flat and has19
been in that condition since the previous07:47PM 20
building was demolished.21

4.  The site plan will not have any22

15

negative effects on the surrounding properties.1
The site is located along the southernmost2
boundary of the office park.  Customers and3
visitors who drive to the dealership will have4
minimum contacts with the other office park lots.5

The entire development is well6
within the building setbacks and the building7
area of the lot and the development complements8
the three dealerships immediately to the south.9

The site plan and use will be quiet07:48PM 10
in nature.  This will not be a loud development11
and it is intended to be peaceful and work very12
well with nature.13

5.  The plan will not create any14
undue traffic congestion or hazards in the public15
streets and it will not create inefficient16
pedestrian or vehicular circulation paths.17

Access to the parking lot of the18
development will remain at substantially the19
same location as it is right now.  The site plan07:48PM 20
guides the visitors to the property.  The main21
customer entrance of the building will be in the22

16

rear of the building and closest to the parking1
lot to enhance pedestrian access and safety.2

The applicant has submitted a3
traffic study report from KLOA which concludes4
that the existing Tower Drive access ways are5
sufficient for the traffic to be generated by6
the use and then the roadway system has7
sufficient capacity to accommodate the traffic8
and no additional improvements or modifications9
are required.07:49PM 10

As a matter of fact, the dealership11
is estimated to generate much less peak hour in12
daily traffic than an approximately 30,00013
square foot office building, that, you know, is14
similar to what was previously there or that15
could be expected in the future in the event16
that this project doesn't go through.17

6.  The site plan provides abundant18
screening and shielding away from nearby uses.19
Jerry will explain that a little bit more, but07:49PM 20
overall, there shouldn't be any concerns about21
noise or light penetration into the adjacent22

17

lots.1
7.  The structures and landscaping2

have abundant amenities and are wholly3
compatible with the nearby structures and uses.4
The design objective is to exceed landscape5
ordinance requirements for the B-3 zoning while6
balancing the overall budget of the project.7

8.  The site plan makes adequate8
provisions for the creation and preservation of9
open space and for the continued maintenance.07:50PM 10
All plantings specified for open space are low11
maintenance.12

9.  The plan does not create13
drainage or erosion problems for the site.  The14
development plan is to utilize the existing15
storm trap structure and then expand it16
accordingly to accommodate any additional17
stormwater requirements.18

10.  The plan will seamlessly19
incorporate the development utilities into the07:50PM 20
existing utility system and it will not21
unreasonably burden it.  This is a low-intensity22
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use and that will be a lower burden on the1
village than past developments of this same site2
or any alternative commercial or office uses.3

11.  There are no required public4
uses.5

And 12, finally.  The site plan6
does not adversely affect the public health,7
safety or general welfare.  Instead, and indeed,8
this project is a great fit for the location.9
It will be a quiet development and it will still07:51PM 10
be a valuable contributor to the community with11
neighboring upscale retailers.  This is the best-12
case scenario for the village given the low13
intensity and potential tax revenue related to14
the applicant's high-dollar vehicles.15

The owners' association also16
supports the proposal, subject to some17
conditions that Bethany can explain, or we can18
answer for you, and McLaren Chicago will be a19
very wonderful addition to the village and an07:51PM 20
attraction for the village.21

So this was my brief summary.  I'd22

19

like to open up the floor to questions from you.1
Mr. Marzano and Mr. Mortier will adequately2
respond to those but if you have any questions3
from me specifically, please, feel free to call4
me up again.  Thank you.5

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Thank you.6
We don't have any questions at this7

moment.  Would you like to continue to present8
or are you open for questions on the entire9
application?07:52PM 10

MR. MARZANO:  We are open for questions.11
MR. MORTIER:  We are open for questions.12
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Great.  Cynthia?13
MS. CURRY:  I know you talked about the14

stormwater, there's an underground storm vault.15
Does that get relocated or --16

MR. MORTIER:  We are building over a17
corner of it, just a corner.  It's a precast18
structure, approximately two feet below grade,19
extends another eight feet down.  So what we07:52PM 20
will do is we will excavate around it, cut off21
the portion that we need to construct a new22

20

concrete wall there to basically end it and then1
build our building up against it.  We will need2
to expand it because of our impervious, so we3
will need to enlarge it from what's shown there.4

MS. CURRY:  It's a beautiful structure.5
MR. MORTIER:  Thank you.6
MS. CURRY:  It looks more like a7

museum; it's beautiful.8
MR. SHKURTI:  The blue area there,9

that's where the storm --07:53PM 10
MR. MORTIER:  It's shared between this11

property and the neighboring property.12
MS. CURRY:  Thank you.13
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Jim?14
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Mr. Shkurti15

mentioned a black security fence.  I can't find a16
rendition of that fence.  I see it individually.17

MR. MORTIER:  It's low.  It's the same18
fence on the front of the property.19

MR. SHKURTI:  If we could magnify this,07:53PM 20
you would be able to see that it shows in the21
legend if you scroll up a little bit.22

21

MR. MORTIER:  It's the same fence1
that's on the property.2

MR. SHKURTI:  It's 36-inch ornamental3
fence all the way on top left and side corner.4
Do you see that?5

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Yes.6
MR. SHKURTI:  The rendering is there7

but we had to magnify that.8
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Correct.  It's9

not -- when you say security fence, I think --07:54PM 10
MR. MORTIER:  It's that -- basically,11

that same height.  We had it taller.  Bethany,12
to her credit, said don't even bother.13

MR. SHKURTI:  There will be a gate on14
the western entrance and that will be a15
retractable bollards on the eastern entrance16
from Tower Drive so that should allow the17
maximum security.18

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  I love the19
aesthetics as long as that's secure enough for07:54PM 20
you guys.21

There's also on the same page where22
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that's identified, vertical architectural ribbed1
panel which looks like a border.  C 3.2

MR. MORTIER:  That's a corrugated metal3
panel.  It's an architectural, it's a heavier4
metal with vertical ribs on it.5

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Where is that6
located?7

MR. SHKURTI:  We probably have to8
switch the files.9

MR. MORTIER:  It's more an accent.  If07:55PM 10
you look at the top, you see the white structural11
frame and then along the very top you see that12
light gray, it would be in that location.13

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Okay.14
MR. MORTIER:  It's an accent material.15

You will see the vertical wood slats and then16
the alternate of the metal panel.17

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Okay.  I'm thrilled18
with what you have done, so I have no other19
questions.07:55PM 20

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Pat?21
MR. HURLEY:  Yes.  Thank you.  It looks22

23

wonderful.1
So the only parking is going to be2

on the north side right, northwest, northeast3
corners?4

MR. MORTIER:  Correct.5
MR. HURLEY:  So I assume that means the6

only entrances to the building are going to be7
on the north side of the building too?8

MR. MORTIER:  Off Tower.9
MR. HURLEY:  And so the rest of it is07:55PM 10

to the south it's all just essentially open11
window kind of space for visual attraction and12
that kind of stuff?13

MR. MORTIER:  Correct.  Yes, we have a14
lot of glass on that first floor.15

MR. HURLEY:  No, it's great.  It looks16
wonderful.17

This is the signage you expect to18
do?19

MR. MORTIER:  We will be back in front07:56PM 20
of you with the signage package but at this time21
this is what we are thinking of.22

24

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  You mentioned some1
ground signs on that wall.2

MR. MORTIER:  There's two brick piers3
now.  We are going to take out a section of4
metal fence and put some brick connecting it and5
replace it.  See that brick fence, we will place6
some signage on there.7

MR. HURLEY:  Wonderful.  That's it.8
Thank you.9

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Julie?07:56PM 10
MS. CRNOVICH:  Thank you for the very11

thorough application in the packet.  This rarely12
happens, but I don't have any questions.  You13
have covered everything and I love the way the14
building looks.  I think it will be a good fit15
for the location.  Low impact.  I'm not worried16
about a variance request because your cars will17
be inside and I like the tax revenue.  Very well18
done.19

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Earlier I didn't07:57PM 20
see it in this presentation, but last month's21
presentation said hardly anybody drives to your22

25

dealership.  People go and get in their car to1
look.  Is that the case?  Is that part of the2
reason for the --3

MR. MARZANO:  So for service we4
frequently just collect cars and bring them.5
I'd say it's 90 to 95 percent of our business is6
just picking cars up for our customers.7

MR. KRILLENBERGER:  And that's the8
national and global experience, Chicago9
experience?07:57PM 10

MR. MARZANO:  Mainly.  I mean, we11
service a pretty big area.  We are in Wisconsin,12
obviously Illinois, some of Michigan, Indiana13
and then when it starts to stretch west, it's14
kind of just a gray area of we take what we can15
get.  A lot of work is trucked in and even16
customer deliveries.17

I have a feeling with a new18
building like this, you know, people will want19
to come and see it but that's the goal.  I mean07:58PM 20
that's why we made it pretty and we wanted to be21
a different place that people want to be at.22
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MR. KRILLENBERGER:  That's reflected in1
the traffic studies as well.2

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.3
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Mark?4
MR. WILLOBEE:  Following after Julie, I5

don't have any comment.  Overall, I think it's a6
great application.  I appreciate it.7

I did have a question about you are8
showing the loading area just to the north of9
the building.  Just looking at, like, currently07:58PM 10
we still get trucks parking on streets, on Oak11
Street.  So will you mostly be coming in the12
west entrance with the trucks?  It doesn't look13
like the turn radius will work on the east end.14
So you will be able to get in the parking lot15
though?16

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.  We ran a path17
analysis.  Trucks will navigate this site.  It18
will take a talented driver.  Luckily there19
won't be any cars in the lot.07:59PM 20

MR. WILLOBEE:  And just a question21
about test drives or service drives after you22

27

fix something, those won't be like through the1
residential neighborhood or anything like that?2

MR. MARZANO:  I'm a recent addition to3
Hinsdale, so I get that concern.  Being close to4
294, I think that's kind of the target of just5
straight 294 and down and then come back.  No6
intent to disrupt the neighborhood.7

MR. WILLOBEE:  Those are all the8
questions I have.  I think landscaping looks9
great.  I like the -- how you are hiding the08:00PM 10
dumpsters.  Thanks.11

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Scott?12
MR. MOORE:  I have to go with the group13

on this, it's a great presentation.  So if I say14
something, I'm not nitpicking.15

You say most of the trees along16
Ogden Avenue and Salt Creek will remain.  What17
goes?18

MR. MORTIER:  There are a couple that19
are close to the front entry that we are putting08:00PM 20
the building right where they are planted right21
now.  But wherever we can, we are preserving22

28

what's there where there's not building.1
MR. MOORE:  And then the water thing,2

what Cynthia said, where would you expand that3
vault?4

MR. MORTIER:  It's going to be under5
the parking lot to the north --6

MR. MOORE:  To the northeast?7
MR. MORTIER:  Yes.  And we will have to8

work with engineering to get the final package9
put together and figure out how large we need to08:00PM 10
make it.11

MR. MOORE:  One of the things that I12
would bring up, if I look at the north elevation13
of the building, there's very limited windows14
there and I look at the south and the east and15
it's beautiful, I mean, truly beautiful, and16
just very attractive.  Anything on the north?17
Because if I think about office space, when18
people build office space buildings in the area,19
you can see they are constructed almost08:01PM 20
quasi-residential.  You know what I mean, they21
kind of fit.22

29

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.1
MR. MOORE:  This on the north side looks2

kind of boxy, institutional.  Not a criticism,3
just saying to me it does.  It looks like it's --4

MR. MARZANO:  I think the goal there5
was a little bit of security too.  I mean --6

MR. SHKURTI:  That's the garage over7
there.  That's where the 34 garage spaces are to8
store vehicles for work.  So we would rather not9
have windows or any incentive for people to try08:01PM 10
to come in.11

MR. MARZANO:  And there's some up in12
the second floor for kind of to let the natural13
light in.  They are tough to see in that photo I14
think.15

MR. MORTIER:  What we don't have is any16
renderings of a landscape plan either.  If we17
were to impose a landscaping on this, you would18
see arborvitae lining the entire base of the19
building on the north side.08:02PM 20

MR. MOORE:  Got it.21
MR. MORTIER:  Yes.22
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MR. MOORE:  Like I said, I'm nitpicking1
and you can drive the cars in my neighborhood.2

MR. MARZANO:  We will give you one to3
drive.4

MR. MOORE:  I like it.  It looks5
wonderful.6

MR. MARZANO:  Thank you.  Appreciate it.7
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  It's a very well8

done, very thorough package.  I appreciate that.9
I know Bethany pushes that but you responded08:02PM 10
well, I imagine.  I really appreciate that.11

I think it's an awesome addition to12
the village.  I'm excited about the visual of13
it, you know, coming into town and seeing that14
on the corner, it really -- I like the letters15
from the dealers, they are supportive of your16
investment here.  I think it's really a nice17
addition.  When the building was there, it was a18
very small office building and I think they19
knocked it down because it was more costly to08:03PM 20
have it up.  So it's great to see something21
happen on this site.  I wish you a lot of22

31

success.1
MR. MARZANO:  Thank you.2
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Where are you3

located currently in the city?4
MR. MARZANO:  We are split right now.5

Sales is at 645 West Randolph in the west loop,6
and then service is in the west side of the city7
like the very outskirt like Central and 290 in a8
warehouse, so it's very divided.9

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Anything else?08:03PM 10
MS. CURRY:  Are those facilities going11

to stay in place or they are done?12
MR. MARZANO:  So sales in the west loop13

will completely go away.  We own the building on14
the west side so that will stay for overflow or15
anything like that so that's going to stay in16
the picture.17

MS. CURRY:  I might be the only person18
who doesn't know this but why is it Mouse19
Motors?08:04PM 20

MR. MARZANO:  Our owner's dog.  He's a21
giant Presa Canario that is 130 pounds.  That's22

32

the irony of it.  He's massive.  He's good.  I1
think he's going on, like, 13, so pretty good2
for an old dog.3

MR. MOORE:  On the economics of how4
this works, if people are ordering online and5
buying online, does that all funnel through your6
dealership in Hinsdale?7

MR. MARZANO:  So sales tax for any8
vehicle you buy, and that's as it stands right9
now, you just pay taxes where you live.  So if08:05PM 10
you buy a car in Indiana and you are a Hinsdale11
resident, you will pay your Illinois tax and I12
don't know if on top of that when buying out of13
state, Hinsdale takes a piece.  I think there's14
a Hinsdale additional tax of like one percent or15
something like that.  So, mixed answer, yes and16
no.  Anything sold in Illinois, I believe17
Hinsdale would get a piece.18

MR. MOORE:  So if you have a big19
geographic footprint, that's across multiple08:05PM 20
states.21

MR. MARZANO:  The only thing that would22

33

really be brought in the picture there is they1
are going to collect on service and parts2
revenue so that's just treated as if you are3
buying a coffee from Starbucks or wherever, you4
are collecting taxes.5

MR. MOORE:  And all work is done on6
that location, correct?7

MR. MARZANO:  Yes.8
MS. CURRY:  Once you break ground, when9

do you anticipate moving in?08:05PM 10
MR. MARZANO:  I think end of '24 would11

be the goal right now in a perfect world.  We12
would love for it to be as soon as possible but13
I think best case is late '24.14

CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Any other questions?15
(No response.)16
Thank you.17
Can we have a vote to close the18

Public Hearing?19
Is there a motion?08:06PM 20

MS. CURRY:  Motion to close.21
MR. HURLEY:  Second.22
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CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Roll call vote,1
please, Bethany.2

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Curry?3
MS. CURRY:  Aye.4
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Krillenberger?5
MR. KRILLENBERGER:  Aye.6
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Hurley?7
MR. HURLEY:  Aye.8
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Crnovich?9
MS. CRNOVICH:  Aye.10

         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Willobee?11
         MR. WILLOBEE:  Aye.12

MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Moore?13
MR. MOORE:  Aye.14
MS. SALMON:  Chairman Cashman?15
CHAIRMAN CASHMAN:  Aye.16

                  (WHICH, were all of the17
                   proceedings had, evidence18
                   offered or received in the19
                   above entitled cause.)20

21
22
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KATHLEEN W. BONO, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn by me to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affix my electronic
signature this 20th day of February, A.D. 2023.

                       _________________________
                       KATHLEEN W. BONO
                       C.S.R. No. 84-1423
                       Notary Public, DuPage County



11 of 16 sheets KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779

$

$12  [1] - 5:22

'

'24  [2] - 33:11, 33:14

0

0-3 [1] - 7:15

1

10  [2] - 11:17, 17:19
11  [2] - 12:11, 18:4
12  [4] - 6:16, 12:18, 

14:1, 18:6
13  [2] - 13:5, 32:2
130  [1] - 31:22
14  [2] - 13:14, 13:18
16  [1] - 14:1
19  [2] - 1:12, 6:14

2

2 [6] - 1:6, 2:9, 2:12, 
4:8, 6:14, 14:10

2-story  [1] - 6:2
2.2 [1] - 2:12
2012  [2] - 8:4, 10:6
2023  [2] - 1:13, 35:18
20th [1] - 35:18
250  [1] - 8:9
290  [1] - 31:8
294  [2] - 27:5, 27:6

3

3 [4] - 8:18, 9:17, 
14:16, 22:2

30,000  [1] - 16:13
300  [1] - 8:20
32,619  [1] - 6:4
336  [1] - 8:19
34  [2] - 6:17, 29:8
36-inch  [1] - 21:3
38,367  [1] - 6:3

4

4 [2] - 10:2, 14:22
400  [1] - 8:17
420  [1] - 8:19
46  [1] - 6:4

5

5 [2] - 10:7, 15:14

6

6 [2] - 10:13, 16:18
645  [1] - 31:6
65  [1] - 6:13

7

7 [2] - 10:20, 17:2
7:30  [1] - 1:13

8

8 [3] - 1:13, 11:3, 
17:8

84-1423  [1] - 35:21

9

9 [2] - 11:8, 17:13
90  [1] - 25:6
95  [1] - 25:6

A

A-37-2022  [2] - 1:7, 
2:9

A.D [1] - 35:18
abandoned  [1] - 

14:13
able  [2] - 20:21, 

26:15
above -entitled  [1] - 

1:10
abundant  [2] - 16:18, 

17:3
abutting  [1] - 7:18
accent  [2] - 22:10, 

22:15
access  [4] - 11:19, 

15:18, 16:2, 16:5
accessible  [1] - 6:22
accommodate  [3] - 

12:13, 16:8, 17:17
accordingly  [1] - 

17:17
acquisition  [1] - 5:21
acre  [1] - 2:12
addition  [4] - 18:20, 

27:3, 30:12, 30:18
additional  [3] - 16:9, 

17:17, 32:15

address  [1] - 4:18
adequate  [3] - 11:18, 

12:13, 17:8
adequately  [1] - 19:2
adjacent  [6] - 8:7, 

8:15, 10:15, 10:22, 
11:5, 16:22

administered  [1] - 
3:16

adversely  [1] - 18:7
aesthetics  [1] - 

21:20
affect  [4] - 10:14, 

10:21, 12:3, 18:7
affix  [1] - 35:17
aforesaid  [1] - 35:15
ahead  [1] - 14:4
allow  [3] - 2:11, 13:6, 

21:17
almost  [1] - 28:20
ALSO  [1] - 2:1
alternate  [1] - 22:17
alternative  [1] - 18:3
Amendment  [1] - 1:5
amendment  [14] - 

2:10, 4:12, 5:5, 7:14, 
9:4, 9:7, 10:13, 10:20, 
11:3, 11:17, 12:15, 
13:5, 13:15, 13:20

amenities  [1] - 17:3
America  [1] - 5:16
analysis  [1] - 26:18
ANASTAS  [1] - 2:3
Anastas  [1] - 4:1
answer  [2] - 18:19, 

32:16
answers  [1] - 9:3
anticipate  [1] - 33:10
appearance  [2] - 

2:10, 4:15
Appearance /Site  [1] 

- 1:6
applicable  [1] - 7:21
applicant  [2] - 9:3, 

16:3
applicant 's [2] - 

4:17, 18:15
applicants  [2] - 3:13, 

4:7
application  [10] - 

4:4, 4:12, 4:16, 9:5, 
13:15, 13:20, 13:22, 
19:10, 24:12, 26:7

applications  [1] - 5:2
appreciate  [4] - 26:7, 

30:7, 30:9, 30:11
approved  [1] - 5:14
approving  [1] - 5:2
arborvitae  [1] - 

29:19

Architect  [1] - 2:5
architect  [3] - 4:20, 

11:1, 14:4
architectural  [2] - 

22:1, 22:4
area  [8] - 6:3, 12:17, 

15:8, 20:9, 25:12, 
25:15, 26:9, 28:19

art  [3] - 5:21, 8:22, 
10:16

aspects  [1] - 4:22
associated  [3] - 5:6, 

13:16, 13:19
association  [1] - 

18:16
assume  [1] - 23:6
attempts  [1] - 8:3
Attorney  [1] - 2:3
attraction  [2] - 

18:21, 23:12
attractive  [3] - 10:17, 

11:2, 28:17
automotive  [1] - 5:11
Automotive  [3] - 1:7, 

2:13, 8:20
available  [2] - 4:21, 

12:12
Avenue  [9] - 1:12, 

7:19, 8:1, 8:15, 9:10, 
11:7, 11:21, 12:5, 
27:17

aware  [1] - 13:4
awesome  [1] - 30:12
Aye [3] - 2:21, 3:3, 

3:5
aye  [11] - 3:1, 3:7, 

3:9, 3:11, 34:4, 34:6, 
34:8, 34:10, 34:12, 
34:14, 34:16

B

B-3 [8] - 4:13, 7:16, 
8:16, 9:10, 12:14, 
12:20, 14:7, 17:6

balancing  [1] - 17:7
bank  [1] - 8:17
base  [1] - 29:19
bays  [2] - 6:7, 6:16
beautiful  [4] - 20:5, 

20:8, 28:16
become  [2] - 5:15, 

7:13
BEFORE  [1] - 1:3
below  [1] - 19:19
benefit  [1] - 10:8
best  [3] - 13:8, 

18:12, 33:14
BETHANY  [1] - 2:2

36

Bethany  [6] - 2:19, 
4:3, 18:18, 21:12, 
30:10, 34:2

between  [1] - 20:11
big  [2] - 25:12, 32:19
bit  [3] - 16:20, 20:22, 

29:6
black  [2] - 7:6, 20:16
blue  [1] - 20:9
BOARD  [1] - 1:15
bollard  [1] - 7:10
bollards  [1] - 21:16
BONO  [2] - 35:3, 

35:20
border  [1] - 22:2
bother  [1] - 21:13
boundary  [1] - 15:3
boxy  [1] - 29:3
brand  [2] - 8:21, 13:8
break  [1] - 33:9
brick  [3] - 24:3, 24:5, 

24:6
brief  [2] - 5:3, 18:22
briefly  [1] - 9:5
bring  [3] - 5:18, 25:5, 

28:13
bringing  [1] - 4:5
brought  [1] - 33:1
budget  [1] - 17:7
build  [3] - 5:22, 20:2, 

28:19
build -out  [1] - 5:22
building  [27] - 6:3, 

6:6, 8:4, 8:22, 10:5, 
10:12, 11:1, 14:21, 
15:7, 15:22, 16:1, 
16:14, 19:17, 20:2, 
23:7, 23:8, 24:15, 
25:19, 26:10, 27:21, 
28:1, 28:14, 29:20, 
30:18, 30:19, 31:14

buildings  [3] - 8:12, 
8:13, 28:19

bulk  [1] - 9:12
burden  [2] - 17:22, 

18:1
business  [5] - 4:14, 

7:17, 9:18, 13:1, 25:6
buy  [2] - 32:9, 32:11
buying  [3] - 32:6, 

32:13, 33:4

C

C.S.R [1] - 35:21
Canario  [1] - 31:22
capacity  [1] - 16:8
car  [9] - 2:11, 4:9, 

6:21, 7:16, 8:18, 9:10, 



KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779 12 of 16 sheets 

13:7, 25:1, 32:11
cars  [7] - 5:13, 6:14, 

24:17, 25:5, 25:7, 
26:20, 30:2

Case  [2] - 1:7, 2:9
case  [4] - 13:9, 

18:13, 25:2, 33:14
Cashman  [2] - 3:10, 

34:15
CASHMAN  [19] - 

1:16, 2:8, 2:18, 3:11, 
3:18, 19:6, 19:13, 
20:14, 22:21, 24:1, 
24:10, 26:4, 27:12, 
30:8, 31:3, 31:10, 
33:15, 34:1, 34:16

Central  [1] - 31:8
Certified  [1] - 35:3
certify  [1] - 35:6
CHAIRMAN  [18] - 

2:8, 2:18, 3:11, 3:18, 
19:6, 19:13, 20:14, 
22:21, 24:1, 24:10, 
26:4, 27:12, 30:8, 
31:3, 31:10, 33:15, 
34:1, 34:16

Chairman  [3] - 1:16, 
3:10, 34:15

Chase  [1] - 8:17
Chicago  [6] - 1:12, 

4:10, 5:10, 6:20, 
18:19, 25:9

chief  [1] - 4:17
circulation  [1] - 

15:17
city  [2] - 31:4, 31:7
classification  [7] - 

7:15, 7:17, 10:3, 
11:11, 11:15, 12:14, 
12:15

classifications  [1] - 
9:15

close  [4] - 27:4, 
27:20, 33:18, 33:21

closest  [1] - 16:1
code  [4] - 7:21, 9:8, 

9:9, 14:8
coffee  [1] - 33:4
collect  [2] - 25:5, 

33:2
collecting  [1] - 33:5
coming  [2] - 26:12, 

30:14
commencement  [1] 

- 35:6
comment  [1] - 26:6
commercial  [4] - 8:6, 

9:19, 13:1, 18:3
COMMISSION  [1] - 

1:3

Commission  [1] - 
1:11

Commissioner  [12] - 
2:20, 2:22, 3:2, 3:4, 
3:6, 3:8, 34:3, 34:5, 
34:7, 34:9, 34:11, 
34:13

community  [3] - 
10:8, 10:19, 18:11

compatible  [1] - 17:4
complements  [1] - 

15:8
complete  [1] - 35:14
completely  [1] - 

31:14
concern  [1] - 27:4
concerns  [2] - 13:16, 

16:21
concludes  [1] - 16:4
concrete  [1] - 20:1
condition  [1] - 14:20
conditions  [1] - 

18:18
congestion  [1] - 

15:15
connecting  [1] - 24:5
consider  [1] - 5:1
consistent  [1] - 9:8
consists  [1] - 6:2
construct  [1] - 19:22
constructed  [1] - 

28:20
contacts  [1] - 15:5
contemplates  [1] - 

9:9
Continental  [1] - 

8:19
continue  [1] - 19:8
continued  [1] - 17:10
contributor  [2] - 

10:18, 18:11
corner  [5] - 12:2, 

19:18, 21:4, 30:15
corners  [1] - 23:4
correct  [5] - 21:9, 

23:5, 23:14, 33:7, 
35:14

corrugated  [1] - 22:3
costly  [1] - 30:20
costs  [1] - 5:22
County  [2] - 35:5, 

35:21
COUNTY  [2] - 1:2, 

35:2
couple  [1] - 27:19
covered  [1] - 24:14
create  [5] - 6:1, 

14:16, 15:14, 15:16, 
17:13

creation  [1] - 17:9

credit  [1] - 21:13
Creek  [9] - 1:6, 2:9, 

2:12, 4:8, 11:21, 12:5, 
12:7, 12:8, 27:17

criticism  [1] - 29:3
CRNOVICH  [5] - 

1:22, 2:16, 3:5, 24:11, 
34:10

Crnovich  [2] - 3:4, 
34:9

curb  [2] - 7:1, 7:3
current  [2] - 4:19, 

7:15
Current  [1] - 8:20
CURRY  [11] - 1:19, 

2:21, 19:14, 20:5, 
20:7, 20:13, 31:11, 
31:18, 33:9, 33:21, 
34:4

Curry  [2] - 2:20, 34:3
customer  [2] - 15:22, 

25:17
customers  [2] - 15:3, 

25:7
cut  [1] - 19:21
cuts  [2] - 7:1, 7:3
Cynthia  [2] - 19:13, 

28:3
CYNTHIA  [1] - 1:19

D

daily  [1] - 16:13
Dealer /Developer  [1] 

- 2:4
dealers  [2] - 7:18, 

30:16
dealership  [15] - 

2:12, 4:9, 5:11, 5:15, 
6:21, 8:22, 9:13, 
11:19, 12:2, 12:10, 
13:8, 15:4, 16:11, 
25:1, 32:7

dealership 's [1] - 
4:19

dealerships  [4] - 
7:16, 8:18, 9:10, 15:9

decade  [2] - 10:5, 
11:13

decorative  [1] - 7:6
deliveries  [1] - 25:17
demolished  [3] - 8:4, 

10:6, 14:21
demolition  [1] - 

10:12
demonstrated  [1] - 

11:9
design  [2] - 5:20, 

17:5

desirable  [1] - 11:2
destruction  [1] - 

14:17
detention  [1] - 8:13
develop  [3] - 4:8, 

8:3, 11:13
developed  [1] - 

12:21
development  [18] - 

9:17, 9:19, 9:20, 
10:18, 11:4, 11:18, 
12:22, 13:1, 13:2, 
13:3, 14:14, 15:6, 
15:8, 15:11, 15:19, 
17:15, 17:20, 18:10

developments  [2] - 
14:15, 18:2

different  [1] - 25:22
diminishes  [2] - 

10:3, 11:15
diminution  [1] - 10:9
DiMonte  [1] - 4:2
directional  [1] - 12:6
directs  [1] - 12:7
displayed  [1] - 6:15
disrupt  [1] - 27:7
district  [7] - 4:13, 

4:14, 7:17, 8:9, 8:14, 
9:11, 13:16

districts  [1] - 8:7
divided  [1] - 31:9
dog  [2] - 31:21, 32:3
dollar  [1] - 18:15
done  [5] - 22:19, 

24:19, 30:9, 31:12, 
33:6

down  [3] - 19:20, 
27:6, 30:20

drainage  [1] - 17:14
drive  [3] - 15:4, 30:2, 

30:4
Drive  [5] - 7:2, 11:22, 

12:8, 16:5, 21:17
driver  [1] - 26:19
drives  [3] - 24:22, 

26:22
driveway  [2] - 7:9, 

7:11
DU  [2] - 1:2, 35:2
duly  [1] - 35:8
dumpsters  [1] - 

27:11
DuPage  [2] - 35:5, 

35:21

E

easements  [2] - 
14:11, 14:12

37

east  [5] - 7:11, 8:11, 
12:8, 26:14, 28:15

East  [5] - 1:12, 8:17, 
8:19, 8:20

eastern  [1] - 21:16
economic  [1] - 11:9
economics  [1] - 32:4
effects  [1] - 15:1
efforts  [1] - 10:11
egress  [1] - 11:19
eight  [1] - 19:20
either  [1] - 29:17
electronic  [1] - 35:17
elevation  [1] - 28:13
end  [5] - 5:3, 8:22, 

20:1, 26:14, 33:11
engineering  [1] - 

28:9
enhance  [2] - 13:12, 

16:2
enhanced  [1] - 7:5
enjoyment  [1] - 

10:14
enlarge  [1] - 20:4
entire  [3] - 15:6, 

19:9, 29:19
entitled  [2] - 1:10, 

34:20
entrance  [4] - 15:22, 

21:15, 21:16, 26:13
entrances  [1] - 23:7
entry  [1] - 27:20
erosion  [1] - 17:14
essential  [1] - 12:11
essentially  [1] - 

23:11
estimated  [1] - 16:12
evening  [1] - 3:21
event  [1] - 16:16
evidence  [1] - 34:18
examination  [1] - 

35:7
excavate  [1] - 19:21
exceed  [2] - 14:9, 

17:5
excess  [1] - 5:22
excited  [1] - 30:13
existing  [10] - 7:1, 

7:7, 9:14, 10:2, 10:10, 
12:6, 14:12, 16:5, 
17:15, 17:21

expand  [3] - 17:16, 
20:3, 28:3

expect  [1] - 23:18
expected  [1] - 16:16
experience  [2] - 

25:9, 25:10
explain  [4] - 6:19, 

11:1, 16:20, 18:18



13 of 16 sheets KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779

explanations  [1] - 
14:5

extends  [1] - 19:20
Exterior  [1] - 1:5
exterior  [3] - 2:10, 

4:15, 6:4

F

facilities  [2] - 12:17, 
31:11

facility  [4] - 5:19, 
6:9, 6:17, 10:16

fact  [2] - 11:14, 
16:11

failed  [1] - 10:12
family  [1] - 8:8
faster  [1] - 12:21
features  [1] - 14:18
February  [2] - 1:13, 

35:18
feet  [4] - 6:4, 8:9, 

19:19, 19:20
fence  [9] - 7:6, 

20:16, 20:17, 20:19, 
21:1, 21:4, 21:10, 
24:5, 24:6

fencing  [1] - 7:7
Ferrari  [1] - 8:19
few  [1] - 14:12
figure  [1] - 28:10
files  [1] - 22:9
final  [1] - 28:9
finally  [2] - 13:14, 

18:6
Firm  [1] - 4:2
first  [6] - 6:15, 6:16, 

7:12, 9:7, 14:6, 23:15
fit [7] - 5:20, 9:1, 

9:14, 10:16, 18:9, 
24:15, 28:22

fix  [1] - 27:1
flat  [1] - 14:19
floor  [7] - 5:8, 6:15, 

6:16, 6:18, 19:1, 
23:15, 29:13

following  [1] - 26:5
foot  [3] - 6:3, 7:5, 

16:14
footprint  [1] - 32:20
foregoing  [1] - 35:13
form  [1] - 35:13
frame  [1] - 22:12
free  [1] - 19:4
frequently  [1] - 25:5
front  [3] - 20:19, 

23:20, 27:20
funnel  [1] - 32:6
future  [1] - 16:16

G

garage  [3] - 6:8, 
29:7, 29:8

gate  [2] - 7:8, 21:14
general  [3] - 4:13, 

4:14, 18:8
generate  [3] - 9:22, 

13:11, 16:12
generated  [1] - 16:6
geographic  [1] - 

32:20
giant  [1] - 31:22
given  [2] - 18:13, 

35:10
glass  [1] - 23:15
global  [1] - 25:9
goal  [3] - 25:20, 

29:5, 33:12
grade  [1] - 19:19
gray  [2] - 22:13, 

25:15
great  [10] - 5:20, 

9:14, 10:16, 18:9, 
19:13, 23:16, 26:7, 
27:10, 27:14, 30:21

ground  [2] - 24:2, 
33:9

group  [1] - 27:13
guide  [1] - 12:9
guides  [1] - 15:21
guiding  [1] - 4:4
guys  [1] - 21:21

H

hand  [1] - 35:17
hardly  [1] - 24:22
hazards  [1] - 15:15
health  [2] - 10:7, 

18:7
Hearing  [3] - 2:9, 

2:15, 33:19
hearing  [1] - 1:10
heavier  [1] - 22:4
height  [2] - 9:12, 

21:12
helping  [1] - 4:4
hereby  [1] - 35:5
herein  [1] - 35:8
hereto  [1] - 35:10
hereunto  [1] - 35:17
hiding  [1] - 27:10
high  [4] - 5:12, 8:22, 

9:21, 18:15
high-dollar  [1] - 

18:15
high-end  [1] - 8:22

HINSDALE  [1] - 1:3
Hinsdale  [11] - 1:11, 

1:12, 5:16, 7:3, 8:1, 
27:4, 32:7, 32:11, 
32:14, 32:15, 32:18

history  [1] - 8:3
hour  [2] - 1:13, 16:12
housing  [1] - 8:22
Hurley  [2] - 3:2, 34:7
HURLEY  [9] - 1:20, 

3:3, 22:22, 23:6, 
23:10, 23:16, 24:8, 
33:22, 34:8

I

identified  [1] - 22:1
ILLINOIS  [2] - 1:1, 

35:1
Illinois  [5] - 1:12, 

25:13, 32:12, 32:17, 
35:5

imagine  [1] - 30:11
immediately  [4] - 

7:22, 8:15, 12:20, 
15:9

impact  [2] - 11:4, 
24:16

impervious  [1] - 20:3
impose  [1] - 29:18
improvements  [1] - 

16:9
IN [1] - 35:16
incentive  [1] - 29:10
incorporate  [1] - 

17:20
increase  [1] - 10:21
indeed  [1] - 18:8
Indiana  [2] - 25:13, 

32:11
individually  [1] - 

20:17
indoor  [2] - 6:9, 6:13
inefficient  [1] - 15:16
ingress  [1] - 11:18
inside  [1] - 24:18
installed  [3] - 7:7, 

7:9, 7:10
instead  [1] - 18:8
institutional  [1] - 

29:3
intended  [1] - 15:12
intensity  [3] - 6:21, 

17:22, 18:14
intent  [1] - 27:7
interfere  [1] - 14:11
interior  [2] - 6:6, 6:7
international  [1] - 

5:17

introduction  [1] - 5:7
inventory  [1] - 6:10
investment  [1] - 

30:17
irony  [1] - 32:1

J

Jerry  [2] - 4:20, 
16:20

JERRY  [1] - 2:5
Jim  [1] - 20:14
JIM  [1] - 1:21
jobs  [1] - 6:1
Julie  [2] - 24:10, 26:5
JULIE  [1] - 1:22

K

KATHLEEN  [2] - 
35:3, 35:20

kind  [8] - 13:18, 
23:12, 23:13, 25:15, 
27:5, 28:22, 29:3, 
29:13

KLOA  [1] - 16:4
knocked  [1] - 30:20
KRILLENBERGER  

[14] - 1:21, 2:17, 3:1, 
20:15, 21:6, 21:9, 
21:19, 22:6, 22:14, 
22:18, 24:20, 25:8, 
26:1, 34:6

Krillenberger  [2] - 
2:22, 34:5

L

Land  [1] - 8:18
landscape  [2] - 17:5, 

29:17
landscaping  [3] - 

17:2, 27:9, 29:18
Lane  [8] - 1:6, 2:10, 

2:13, 4:8, 11:22, 12:6, 
12:7, 12:9

large  [1] - 28:10
largest  [1] - 5:15
last  [4] - 8:4, 10:5, 

11:5, 24:21
late  [1] - 33:14
Law  [1] - 4:1
left  [1] - 21:4
legend  [1] - 20:22
less  [1] - 16:12
letters  [1] - 30:15
lies  [1] - 7:22
light  [4] - 12:5, 

38

16:22, 22:13, 29:14
limited  [2] - 12:2, 

28:14
line  [2] - 7:1, 14:14
lining  [1] - 29:19
live  [1] - 32:10
loading  [1] - 26:9
local  [1] - 10:8
located  [4] - 8:1, 

15:2, 22:7, 31:4
location  [8] - 5:20, 

10:17, 11:20, 15:20, 
18:9, 22:13, 24:16, 
33:7

long-term  [1] - 13:10
look  [5] - 22:11, 

25:2, 26:13, 28:13, 
28:15

looking  [1] - 26:10
looks  [9] - 20:7, 

22:2, 22:22, 23:16, 
24:15, 27:9, 29:2, 
29:4, 30:5

loop  [2] - 31:6, 31:13
loud  [1] - 15:11
love  [3] - 21:19, 

24:14, 33:13
low  [5] - 17:11, 

17:22, 18:13, 20:18, 
24:16

low-intensity  [1] - 
17:22

lower  [2] - 6:20, 18:1
luckily  [1] - 26:19
luxury  [4] - 2:11, 4:9, 

5:12, 13:7

M

magnify  [2] - 20:20, 
21:8

main  [1] - 15:21
maintenance  [2] - 

17:10, 17:12
Map  [1] - 1:5
map  [8] - 2:10, 4:12, 

5:4, 5:17, 7:14, 9:4, 
13:15, 13:19

Mark  [1] - 26:4
MARK  [1] - 1:17
market  [1] - 9:20
market -wide  [1] - 

9:20
Marzano  [4] - 3:17, 

4:18, 6:19, 19:2
MARZANO  [20] - 2:4, 

19:11, 25:4, 25:11, 
26:3, 26:17, 27:3, 
29:1, 29:5, 29:12, 



KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779 14 of 16 sheets 

30:3, 30:7, 31:2, 31:5, 
31:13, 31:21, 32:8, 
32:22, 33:8, 33:11

massive  [1] - 32:1
matching  [1] - 7:6
material  [1] - 22:15
Matter  [1] - 1:4
matter  [3] - 1:11, 

11:14, 16:11
matters  [1] - 35:9
maximum  [1] - 21:18
McLaren  [7] - 4:9, 

5:10, 5:15, 6:20, 9:1, 
13:8, 18:19

mean  [5] - 25:11, 
25:20, 28:16, 28:21, 
29:6

means  [2] - 23:6, 
35:11

medical  [1] - 8:12
meet  [1] - 14:7
Member  [6] - 1:17, 

1:18, 1:19, 1:20, 1:21, 
1:22

MEMBERS  [1] - 1:15
memo  [1] - 7:21
mentioned  [2] - 

20:16, 24:1
metal  [4] - 22:3, 

22:5, 22:17, 24:5
Michigan  [1] - 25:13
might  [1] - 31:18
MIKE  [1] - 2:4
Mike  [1] - 4:18
million  [1] - 5:22
minimum  [1] - 15:5
mix  [1] - 8:5
mixed  [1] - 32:16
modern  [1] - 5:12
modification  [1] - 

14:17
modifications  [1] - 

16:9
moment  [1] - 19:8
month 's [1] - 24:21
MOORE  [14] - 1:18, 

3:9, 27:13, 28:2, 28:7, 
28:12, 29:2, 29:21, 
30:1, 30:5, 32:4, 
32:19, 33:6, 34:14

Moore  [2] - 3:8, 
34:13

Mortier  [3] - 3:17, 
4:20, 19:2

MORTIER  [21] - 2:5, 
19:12, 19:17, 20:6, 
20:11, 20:18, 21:1, 
21:11, 22:3, 22:10, 
22:15, 23:5, 23:9, 
23:14, 23:20, 24:3, 

27:19, 28:5, 28:8, 
29:16, 29:22

most  [2] - 14:14, 
27:16

mostly  [1] - 26:12
motion  [3] - 2:14, 

33:20, 33:21
motor  [1] - 7:18
Motors  [1] - 31:20
Mouse  [3] - 1:7, 

2:13, 31:19
moved  [1] - 2:16
moving  [1] - 33:10
MR  [94] - 1:16, 1:17, 

1:18, 1:20, 1:21, 2:3, 
2:4, 2:5, 2:17, 3:1, 
3:3, 3:7, 3:9, 3:21, 
19:11, 19:12, 19:17, 
20:6, 20:9, 20:11, 
20:15, 20:18, 20:20, 
21:1, 21:3, 21:6, 21:7, 
21:9, 21:11, 21:14, 
21:19, 22:3, 22:6, 
22:8, 22:10, 22:14, 
22:15, 22:18, 22:22, 
23:5, 23:6, 23:9, 
23:10, 23:14, 23:16, 
23:20, 24:3, 24:8, 
24:20, 25:4, 25:8, 
25:11, 26:1, 26:3, 
26:5, 26:17, 26:21, 
27:3, 27:8, 27:13, 
27:19, 28:2, 28:5, 
28:7, 28:8, 28:12, 
29:1, 29:2, 29:5, 29:7, 
29:12, 29:16, 29:21, 
29:22, 30:1, 30:3, 
30:5, 30:7, 31:2, 31:5, 
31:13, 31:21, 32:4, 
32:8, 32:19, 32:22, 
33:6, 33:8, 33:11, 
33:22, 34:6, 34:8, 
34:12, 34:14

MS  [31] - 1:19, 1:22, 
2:2, 2:16, 2:20, 2:21, 
2:22, 3:2, 3:4, 3:5, 
3:6, 3:8, 3:10, 19:14, 
20:5, 20:7, 20:13, 
24:11, 31:11, 31:18, 
33:9, 33:21, 34:3, 
34:4, 34:5, 34:7, 34:9, 
34:10, 34:11, 34:13, 
34:15

multi  [1] - 8:12
multi -tenant  [1] - 

8:12
multiple  [1] - 32:20
museum  [1] - 20:8
must  [1] - 7:13

N

name  [1] - 3:22
national  [1] - 25:9
natural  [2] - 14:18, 

29:13
nature  [2] - 15:11, 

15:13
navigate  [1] - 26:18
nearby  [3] - 12:19, 

16:19, 17:4
need  [6] - 2:14, 3:12, 

19:22, 20:2, 20:4, 
28:10

needed  [1] - 13:6
negative  [5] - 5:6, 

14:2, 14:3, 14:17, 
15:1

neighborhood  [3] - 
27:2, 27:7, 30:2

neighboring  [3] - 
13:13, 18:12, 20:12

net  [1] - 6:3
new  [9] - 6:1, 7:3, 

7:17, 8:21, 9:9, 11:19, 
14:15, 19:22, 25:18

nice  [1] - 30:17
nitpicking  [2] - 

27:15, 30:1
noise  [1] - 16:22
nontraditional  [1] - 

5:11
north  [11] - 7:1, 7:22, 

8:11, 23:3, 23:8, 26:9, 
28:6, 28:13, 28:17, 
29:2, 29:20

North  [1] - 5:15
northeast  [2] - 23:3, 

28:7
northwest  [1] - 23:3
Notary  [2] - 35:4, 

35:21
notes  [1] - 35:15

O

O-3 [6] - 4:13, 8:13, 
10:10, 11:11, 11:15, 
12:14

Oak  [1] - 26:11
oath  [1] - 3:15
objective  [1] - 17:5
obviously  [1] - 25:13
OF  [5] - 1:1, 1:2, 1:9, 

35:1, 35:2
offered  [1] - 34:19
office  [22] - 4:13, 7:3, 

8:1, 8:6, 8:12, 9:19, 

9:20, 9:21, 11:10, 
11:13, 12:3, 12:4, 
13:2, 13:3, 15:3, 15:5, 
16:14, 18:3, 28:18, 
28:19, 30:19

officer  [1] - 4:18
offices  [1] - 6:7
Ogden  [12] - 7:19, 

8:1, 8:14, 8:18, 8:19, 
8:20, 9:10, 11:6, 
11:21, 12:5, 27:17

old  [1] - 32:3
once  [3] - 9:11, 14:6, 

33:9
one  [4] - 2:8, 28:12, 

30:3, 32:15
online  [2] - 32:5, 

32:6
onsite  [2] - 7:7, 8:4
open  [10] - 2:15, 5:8, 

7:6, 17:10, 17:11, 
19:1, 19:9, 19:11, 
19:12, 23:11

operating  [1] - 4:17
operations  [1] - 4:20
order  [1] - 7:12
ordering  [1] - 32:5
orderly  [1] - 11:4
ordinance  [1] - 17:6
ornamental  [1] - 

21:3
outskirt  [1] - 31:8
overall  [3] - 16:21, 

17:7, 26:6
overflow  [1] - 31:15
overlay  [1] - 13:16
overview  [1] - 3:19
own  [1] - 31:14
owner 's [1] - 31:21
owners ' [1] - 18:16

P

p.m [1] - 1:13
pace  [1] - 12:21
package  [3] - 23:21, 

28:9, 30:9
packet  [2] - 3:20, 

24:12
PAGE  [2] - 1:2, 35:2
page  [1] - 21:22
panel  [3] - 22:2, 

22:4, 22:17
parcel  [1] - 11:6
park  [6] - 7:3, 8:2, 

12:3, 12:4, 15:3, 15:5
parking  [14] - 6:5, 

6:8, 6:9, 6:13, 6:17, 
7:8, 11:20, 15:18, 

39

16:1, 23:2, 26:11, 
26:15, 28:6

part  [2] - 14:13, 25:2
partner  [1] - 4:1
parts  [1] - 33:2
passage  [1] - 11:8
past  [1] - 18:2
pat  [1] - 22:21
path  [1] - 26:17
paths  [1] - 15:17
PATRICK  [1] - 1:20
pay  [2] - 32:10, 32:12
peaceful  [1] - 15:12
peak  [1] - 16:12
pedestrian  [2] - 

15:17, 16:2
penetration  [1] - 

16:22
people  [6] - 25:1, 

25:19, 25:22, 28:19, 
29:10, 32:5

percent  [2] - 25:6, 
32:15

perfect  [1] - 33:12
performance  [1] - 

5:13
perimeter  [1] - 7:8
permit  [3] - 7:16, 

13:10, 14:3
permits  [2] - 7:17, 

9:9
permitted  [1] - 12:13
person  [1] - 31:18
pertaining  [1] - 

35:10
Petitioner  [2] - 2:3, 

2:6
photo  [1] - 29:14
physical  [1] - 14:18
picking  [1] - 25:7
picture  [2] - 31:17, 

33:1
piece  [2] - 32:14, 

32:18
piers  [1] - 24:3
place  [4] - 5:16, 24:6, 

25:22, 31:12
plan  [24] - 2:11, 4:15, 

4:22, 5:7, 6:2, 6:12, 
9:11, 11:13, 13:17, 
13:21, 14:7, 14:10, 
14:16, 14:22, 15:10, 
15:14, 15:20, 16:18, 
17:8, 17:13, 17:15, 
17:19, 18:6, 29:17

PLAN  [1] - 1:3
Plan  [2] - 1:6, 1:11
planned  [2] - 7:4, 

13:3
Planner  [1] - 2:2



15 of 16 sheets KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779

planted  [1] - 27:21
plantings  [1] - 17:11
pond  [1] - 8:13
portion  [1] - 19:22
positive  [4] - 5:1, 

11:4, 14:1, 14:4
positively  [2] - 

10:14, 10:21
possible  [1] - 33:13
potential  [1] - 18:14
pounds  [1] - 31:22
practical  [1] - 14:9
precast  [1] - 19:18
Presa  [1] - 31:22
PRESENT  [2] - 1:15, 

2:1
present  [1] - 19:8
presentation  [3] - 

24:21, 24:22, 27:14
preservation  [1] - 

17:9
preserving  [1] - 

27:22
pretty  [3] - 25:12, 

25:21, 32:2
previous  [3] - 10:11, 

14:20, 35:6
previously  [1] - 

16:15
private  [1] - 7:2
problems  [1] - 17:14
proceedings  [1] - 

34:18
PROCEEDINGS  [1] - 

1:9
process  [1] - 4:5
project  [7] - 5:4, 

5:14, 5:18, 7:12, 
16:17, 17:7, 18:9

projected  [2] - 4:19, 
6:10

properties  [8] - 8:8, 
9:15, 10:15, 10:22, 
11:5, 12:19, 13:13, 
15:1

property  [8] - 7:1, 
13:11, 14:6, 15:21, 
20:12, 20:19, 21:2

proposal  [1] - 18:17
proposed  [8] - 5:19, 

9:7, 9:13, 10:13, 
10:20, 11:17, 13:5, 
13:7

provide  [3] - 4:21, 
5:3, 11:18

provided  [1] - 9:3
provides  [2] - 6:12, 

16:18
provisions  [1] - 17:9
Public  [5] - 2:8, 2:15, 

33:19, 35:4, 35:21
public  [8] - 3:13, 5:9, 

10:7, 12:12, 12:16, 
15:15, 18:4, 18:7

purchased  [1] - 4:7
purpose  [2] - 4:11, 

9:8
pushes  [1] - 30:10
put  [2] - 24:5, 28:10
putting  [1] - 27:20

Q

quasi  [1] - 28:21
quasi -residential  [1] 

- 28:21
questions  [12] - 5:8, 

5:9, 19:1, 19:3, 19:7, 
19:9, 19:11, 19:12, 
22:20, 24:13, 27:9, 
33:15

quickly  [1] - 14:2
quiet  [3] - 10:18, 

15:10, 18:10

R

racing  [1] - 5:17
radius  [1] - 26:14
ran  [1] - 26:17
Randolph  [1] - 31:6
rarely  [1] - 24:12
rather  [1] - 29:9
reality  [2] - 7:13, 

11:9
really  [4] - 30:11, 

30:15, 30:17, 33:1
rear  [1] - 16:1
reason  [1] - 25:3
received  [1] - 34:19
recent  [3] - 9:4, 

12:21, 27:3
recently  [1] - 4:7
record  [1] - 9:21
redevelopment  [2] - 

10:11, 13:6
reduced  [1] - 35:11
references  [1] - 7:20
reflected  [1] - 26:1
regulations  [1] - 

9:12
related  [1] - 18:14
relation  [1] - 35:9
relatively  [1] - 14:19
relocated  [2] - 14:13, 

19:16
remain  [3] - 11:20, 

15:19, 27:17

rendering  [1] - 21:7
renderings  [1] - 

29:17
rendition  [1] - 20:17
replace  [1] - 24:6
REPORT  [1] - 1:9
report  [1] - 16:4
Reporter  [1] - 35:4
Request  [1] - 2:13
request  [1] - 24:17
required  [3] - 14:8, 

16:10, 18:4
requirements  [2] - 

17:6, 17:18
resident  [1] - 32:12
residential  [4] - 8:7, 

8:9, 27:2, 28:21
respect  [2] - 13:14, 

13:21
respond  [1] - 19:3
responded  [1] - 

30:10
response  [1] - 33:16
rest  [2] - 12:3, 23:10
retailers  [1] - 18:12
retractable  [2] - 

7:10, 21:16
revenue  [5] - 9:22, 

13:11, 18:14, 24:18, 
33:3

review  [8] - 2:11, 
4:16, 4:21, 4:22, 5:4, 
5:7, 9:5, 13:22

Review  [1] - 1:6
rezone  [1] - 4:12
rezoned  [3] - 7:14, 

9:11, 14:6
ribbed  [1] - 22:1
ribs  [1] - 22:5
rights  [1] - 14:11
rights -of-way  [1] - 

14:11
road  [1] - 7:2
roadway  [1] - 16:7
Robbins  [1] - 4:2
roll  [2] - 2:18, 34:1
Rover  [1] - 8:18

S

safety  [3] - 10:7, 
16:2, 18:8

sale  [1] - 6:10
sales  [5] - 9:22, 

13:11, 31:6, 31:13, 
32:8

SALMON  [15] - 2:2, 
2:20, 2:22, 3:2, 3:4, 
3:6, 3:8, 3:10, 34:3, 

34:5, 34:7, 34:9, 
34:11, 34:13, 34:15

Salt  [9] - 1:6, 2:9, 
2:12, 4:8, 11:21, 12:5, 
12:7, 12:8, 27:17

satisfy  [1] - 9:12
scenario  [2] - 13:9, 

18:13
Scott  [1] - 27:12
SCOTT  [1] - 1:18
screening  [1] - 16:19
scroll  [1] - 20:22
seamlessly  [1] - 

17:19
second  [5] - 2:17, 

6:15, 6:18, 29:13, 
33:22

secondly  [1] - 9:13
section  [1] - 24:4
sections  [1] - 7:21
secure  [1] - 21:20
security  [5] - 7:5, 

20:16, 21:10, 21:18, 
29:6

see  [13] - 20:17, 
20:21, 21:5, 22:11, 
22:12, 22:16, 24:6, 
24:21, 25:20, 28:20, 
29:14, 29:19, 30:21

seeing  [1] - 30:14
selling  [1] - 5:12
service  [7] - 6:11, 

6:16, 25:4, 25:12, 
26:22, 31:7, 33:2

services  [1] - 12:12
set  [1] - 35:17
setbacks  [1] - 15:7
several  [1] - 6:1
severely  [2] - 8:2, 

11:12
shared  [1] - 20:11
shielding  [1] - 16:19
SHKURTI  [9] - 2:3, 

3:21, 20:9, 20:20, 
21:3, 21:7, 21:14, 
22:8, 29:7

Shkurti  [3] - 3:16, 
4:1, 20:15

Shorthand  [1] - 35:4
shorthand  [2] - 

35:12, 35:15
showing  [1] - 26:9
shown  [1] - 20:4
showrooms  [1] - 

6:14
showrooms /

service  [1] - 6:7
shows  [1] - 20:21
side  [7] - 21:4, 23:3, 

23:8, 29:2, 29:20, 

40

31:7, 31:15
sign  [1] - 12:7
signage  [3] - 23:18, 

23:21, 24:7
signature  [1] - 35:18
significantly  [1] - 

6:20
signs  [1] - 24:2
similar  [1] - 16:15
single  [1] - 8:8
single -family  [1] - 

8:8
site  [48] - 2:11, 2:12, 

4:8, 4:12, 4:15, 4:22, 
5:6, 6:2, 6:12, 6:22, 
7:13, 7:22, 8:2, 8:5, 
8:7, 8:10, 8:16, 9:1, 
9:11, 10:4, 10:5, 10:9, 
10:10, 11:5, 11:9, 
11:12, 11:16, 11:22, 
12:12, 12:18, 13:17, 
13:21, 14:7, 14:10, 
14:16, 14:19, 14:22, 
15:2, 15:10, 15:20, 
16:18, 17:8, 17:14, 
18:2, 18:6, 26:18, 
30:22

slats  [1] - 22:16
small  [1] - 30:19
so-called  [1] - 5:5
sold  [1] - 32:17
solution  [1] - 13:10
soon  [1] - 33:13
south  [5] - 8:14, 

12:20, 15:9, 23:11, 
28:15

southernmost  [1] - 
15:2

space  [8] - 9:20, 
11:10, 13:3, 17:10, 
17:11, 23:12, 28:18, 
28:19

spaces  [1] - 29:8
specializes  [1] - 5:12
specific  [1] - 13:9
specifically  [1] - 

19:4
specified  [2] - 14:7, 

17:11
split  [1] - 31:5
square  [3] - 6:3, 6:4, 

16:14
ss  [2] - 1:1, 35:1
staff  [2] - 4:3, 7:21
stalls  [3] - 6:5, 6:13, 

6:17
stand  [1] - 3:14
standards  [11] - 5:1, 

5:5, 5:6, 9:4, 13:19, 
14:1, 14:2, 14:3, 14:5, 



KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779 16 of 16 sheets 

14:8, 14:9
stands  [1] - 32:9
Starbucks  [1] - 33:4
starts  [1] - 25:14
state  [4] - 5:21, 8:21, 

10:15, 32:14
State  [1] - 35:5
STATE  [2] - 1:1, 35:1
state -of [1] - 10:15
state -of-the  [1] - 

8:21
state -of-the-art  [1] - 

5:21
states  [1] - 32:21
stay  [3] - 31:12, 

31:15, 31:16
STEPHEN  [1] - 1:16
still  [2] - 18:10, 26:11
storage  [1] - 6:8
store  [1] - 29:9
storm  [3] - 17:16, 

19:15, 20:10
stormwater  [2] - 

17:18, 19:15
straight  [1] - 27:6
Street  [1] - 26:12
streets  [2] - 15:16, 

26:11
stretch  [2] - 11:6, 

25:14
structural  [1] - 22:11
structure  [3] - 17:16, 

19:19, 20:5
structures  [2] - 17:2, 

17:4
studies  [1] - 26:2
study  [1] - 16:4
stuff  [1] - 23:13
subject  [3] - 7:13, 

13:10, 18:17
submitted  [3] - 4:11, 

4:15, 16:3
substantially  [1] - 

15:19
succeeded  [1] - 

11:14
success  [1] - 31:1
sufficient  [2] - 16:6, 

16:8
suited  [1] - 11:10
summarizes  [1] - 

13:18
summary  [2] - 5:4, 

18:22
super  [1] - 5:13
superexcited  [1] - 

5:17
supportive  [1] - 

30:16
supports  [1] - 18:17

surrounded  [1] - 8:5
surrounding  [2] - 

9:2, 15:1
swear  [1] - 3:12
switch  [1] - 22:9
sworn  [1] - 35:8
system  [2] - 16:7, 

17:21

T

talented  [1] - 26:19
tall  [1] - 7:6
taller  [1] - 21:12
target  [1] - 27:5
tax  [8] - 9:22, 12:16, 

13:11, 18:14, 24:18, 
32:8, 32:12, 32:15

taxes  [2] - 32:10, 
33:5

technical  [1] - 4:22
ten  [1] - 12:19
tenant  [1] - 8:12
term  [1] - 13:10
test  [1] - 26:22
testify  [1] - 35:9
testimony  [3] - 1:9, 

35:7, 35:10
TESTIMONY  [1] - 

35:16
THE  [1] - 1:3
the-art  [1] - 10:16
thereafter  [1] - 35:12
thinking  [1] - 23:22
thorough  [2] - 24:12, 

30:9
three  [3] - 7:5, 10:3, 

15:9
three -foot  [1] - 7:5
thrilled  [1] - 22:18
today  [1] - 4:6
together  [1] - 28:10
tonight  [2] - 2:9, 3:22
top  [4] - 21:4, 22:11, 

22:12, 32:13
topographical  [1] - 

14:18
tough  [1] - 29:14
towards  [2] - 9:18, 

13:1
Tower  [6] - 7:2, 

11:22, 12:8, 16:5, 
21:17, 23:9

town  [1] - 30:14
traffic  [10] - 12:1, 

12:5, 12:7, 12:9, 
15:15, 16:4, 16:6, 
16:8, 16:13, 26:2

transcribed  [1] - 

35:12
transcript  [1] - 35:14
trap  [1] - 17:16
treated  [1] - 33:3
trees  [1] - 27:16
trends  [2] - 9:17, 

12:22
trucked  [1] - 25:16
trucks  [3] - 26:11, 

26:13, 26:18
true  [1] - 35:14
truly  [1] - 28:16
truth  [1] - 35:9
try [1] - 29:10
turn  [1] - 26:14
two  [4] - 6:6, 6:22, 

19:19, 24:3
typewritten  [1] - 

35:13
typical  [1] - 6:21

U

under  [3] - 12:14, 
13:8, 28:5

underground  [1] - 
19:15

underused  [4] - 8:2, 
10:4, 11:12, 13:7

undeveloped  [1] - 
11:6

undue  [1] - 15:15
unique  [3] - 5:10, 

5:19, 11:2
unreasonably  [1] - 

17:22
unsuccessful  [1] - 

8:3
up  [10] - 3:14, 5:8, 

19:1, 19:5, 20:2, 
20:22, 25:7, 28:13, 
29:12, 30:21

upscale  [1] - 18:12
uses  [8] - 8:6, 9:2, 

9:14, 9:22, 16:19, 
17:4, 18:3, 18:5

utilities  [3] - 12:11, 
12:16, 17:20

utility  [2] - 14:12, 
17:21

utilize  [1] - 17:15

V

vacancies  [1] - 9:21
vacant  [2] - 10:11, 

12:18
valuable  [2] - 10:18, 

18:11
value  [5] - 10:3, 10:9, 

10:21, 11:15, 13:12
variance  [1] - 24:17
various  [1] - 35:7
vault  [2] - 19:15, 

28:4
vehicle  [4] - 6:8, 

6:10, 7:18, 32:9
vehicles  [2] - 18:15, 

29:9
vehicular  [1] - 15:17
vertical  [3] - 22:1, 

22:5, 22:16
vicinity  [4] - 9:16, 

9:18, 12:22, 13:3
Village  [1] - 2:2
village  [9] - 4:3, 9:8, 

10:1, 13:12, 18:2, 
18:13, 18:20, 18:21, 
30:13

visitors  [2] - 15:4, 
15:21

visual  [2] - 23:12, 
30:13

vote  [2] - 33:18, 34:1

W

wall  [2] - 20:1, 24:2
wants  [1] - 4:8
warehouse  [1] - 31:9
water  [1] - 28:2
ways  [1] - 16:5
welcome  [1] - 3:18
welfare  [2] - 10:8, 

18:8
well -suited  [1] - 

11:10
west  [8] - 7:9, 8:11, 

25:14, 26:13, 31:6, 
31:7, 31:13, 31:15

West  [1] - 31:6
western  [1] - 21:15
WHEREOF  [1] - 

35:16
WHEREUPON  [1] - 

3:15
WHICH  [1] - 34:17
white  [1] - 22:11
wholly  [1] - 17:3
wide  [1] - 9:20
Willobee  [2] - 3:6, 

34:11
WILLOBEE  [6] - 

1:17, 3:7, 26:5, 26:21, 
27:8, 34:12

window  [1] - 23:12
windows  [2] - 28:14, 

41

29:10
Wisconsin  [1] - 

25:12
wish  [1] - 30:22
witnesses  [2] - 35:8, 

35:11
wonderful  [5] - 

18:20, 23:1, 23:17, 
24:8, 30:6

wood  [1] - 22:16
works  [1] - 32:5
world  [1] - 33:12
worried  [1] - 24:16
writing  [1] - 35:11

Y

years  [1] - 12:19

Z

zoned  [2] - 8:16, 
12:20

zoning  [9] - 9:15, 
10:2, 10:10, 11:11, 
11:15, 12:14, 12:15, 
14:8, 17:6
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION  
OF THE HINSDALE PLAN COMMISSION 

TO THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
APPLICATION:   Case A-4-2023 – 218 W. Ogden Avenue – Tentative & Final Plat of Subdivision and 

Exterior Appearance & Site Plan Review to allow for the subdivision of four (4) lots 
into two (2) code compliant lots in the R-4 Single Family Residential District for 
Karimi Estates 

 
PROPERTY:   218 W. Ogden Avenue (PINs: 09-01-117-001; 09-01-117-002; 09-01-117-005; 09-

01-117-006) 
 
APPLICANT:   KAL Development, LLC  
 
REQUEST:   Tentative and Final Plat of Subdivision / Exterior Appearance and Site Plan Review 
 
PLAN COMMISSION (PC) REVIEW:   February 8, 2023 
 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 1ST READING:   March 7, 2023 
 
SUMMARY OF REQUEST: The Village of Hinsdale received an application from KAL Development, LLC 
requesting approval of a Tentative and Final Plat of Subdivision in addition to an Exterior Appearance 
and Site Plan Review to subdivide four (4) existing non-conforming lots into two (2) code compliant lots 
located at 218 W. Ogden Avenue in the R-4 Single Family Residential District for the Karimi Estates 
subdivision.  
 
The subject property is currently vacant and was formerly improved with a building used by the Hinsdale 
Animal Hospital. The property is surrounded by single-family detached homes in the R-2 Single Family 
Residential District to the north across Ogden Avenue and to the south, east, and west in the R-4 Single 
Family Residential District.  
 
The applicant is proposing to subdivide the existing four (4) lots, which collectively total 47,263 square 
feet in area, into two (2) code-compliant lots that are nearly equal in size. The existing Lots 1 and 2, 
located off of Grant Street, will be combined into the proposed Lot 1. The existing Lots 10 and 11, located 
off of Vine Street, will be combined into the proposed Lot 2. The proposed Lot 1 will measure 23,879 
square feet (0.54 acres) and Lot 2 will measure 23,384 square feet (0.53 acres). At this time, the applicant 
is only proposing to subdivide the existing lots. There are currently no plans to redevelop the lots. Lot 1 
and Lot 2 will remain vacant until a building permit is approved by the Village for the new construction of 
single-family homes. The proposed lots will be required to meet the bulk requirements of the R-4 District 
listed in Section 3-110 of the Zoning Code. Because detailed construction plans have not yet been 
prepared, the applicant or future owner will need to verify code compliance at the time of building permit 
submittal. 
 
Per Title 11-7-7 of the Municipal Code, the applicant may request, and the Plan Commission may, at its 
discretion, waive any of the requirements for a Tentative Plat which it deems unnecessary or not pertinent 
to a particular subdivision. For Final Plats, the Plan Commission may also waive the requirements and 
supporting documents listed in Title 11-1-10 and Title 11-1-11. The full requirements outlined in Title 11-
7-7 through Title 11-1-11 are attached for review. The applicant has requested several requirements be 
waived, which are identified and included in a written response in the application packet. At this time, the 
applicant is only proposing to subdivide the existing lot. There are no development plans for either lot at 
this time. Therefore, detailed plans or engineering plans have not been prepared to meet the Tentative 
and Final Plat requirements in the Municipal Code.  
 



 
2 

Public notice is not required for a Tentative and Final Plat. In accordance with Section 11-604(C)(3), an 
Exterior Appearance / Site Plan Review is required as the property exceeds 30,000 square feet in size. 
Because the subject property is intended for a single-family residential use and is located in a residential 
zoning district, public notice via the newspaper, certified mail, or signage is not required for this project. 
 
PUBLIC MEETING SUMMARY AND FINDINGS: On February 8, 2023, the request was reviewed at a 
public meeting by the Plan Commission. Shabbir Karimi, representing KAL Development Group, provided 
an overview of the project and noted that the two (2) lots will be code-compliant. Mr. Karimi confirmed 
that there are no intentions to build single-family homes on the lots and they are only requesting to 
subdivide the lots at this point to list them for sale. The future purchasers of the lots would then move 
forward with construction plans for single-family homes. 
 
Commissioners stated support for the project, noting it is positive that the lots will be code-complaint and 
will be used for single-family residential homes to match the surrounding zoning and land uses. One 
Commissioner asked about ingress and egress to the lots. Mr. Karimi stated that they were required to 
remove the former access from Ogden Avenue, so the lots will be accessible from Vine Street and Grant 
Street once they are developed.  
 
In recommending approval of the Site Plan Review, the Plan Commission determined the applicable 
standards set forth in Section 11-604(F) of the Village’s Zoning Code have been met. The standards in 
Section 11-606(F) for an Exterior Appearance Review were not applicable as this project does not entail 
development and involves a Tentative and Final Plat of Subdivision. Commissioners noted that proposed 
plans met several of the standards for approval identified in the Zoning Code including meeting all zoning 
code requirements as matching the single-family residential character of the neighboring properties and 
the surrounding zoning districts. (Section 11-604(F)(1)(a) and (f)).  
 
No members of the public provided comment at the meeting. Staff did not receive complaints or negative 
feedback from members of the public prior to the meeting.  
 
A motion to approve the Tentative & Final Plat of Subdivision and Exterior Appearance & Site Plan 
Review was made by Commissioner Crnovich and seconded by Commissioner Curry, as submitted. The 
vote carried by a roll call vote as follows: 
 

AYES: Commissioners Curry, Krillenberger, Hurley, Crnovich, Willobee, Moore and Chairman 
Cashman  

NAYS: None  
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Commissioner Jablonski and Fiascone 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Based on the findings set forth above, the Village of Hinsdale Plan Commission, 
by a vote of seven (7) ayes and zero (0) nays, with two (2) absent, recommended to the President and 
Board of Trustees approval of Case A-4-2023 for 218 W. Ogden Avenue for a Tentative & Final Plat of 
Subdivision and Exterior Appearance & Site Plan Review to allow for the subdivision of four (4) lots into 
two (2) code compliant lots in the R-4 Single Family Residential District for Karimi Estates, as submitted.  
 

Signed: ____________________________________ 
Steve Cashman, Chair 
Plan Commission 
Village of Hinsdale 

 
 
Date: ______________________________________ 
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              MEMORANDUM 
 
 

DATE:   March 3, 2023 

TO:   Chairman Cashman and Plan Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner  

SUBJECT:  Case A-9-2023 – 11 Salt Creek Lane – MedProperties – Exterior Appearance and Site Plan 
Review to Allow for Changes to the Existing Building Elevation, Landscape Plan, and Site 
Plan at 11 Salt Creek Lane in the O03 General Office District 

FOR:  March 8, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
GENERAL APPLICATION INFORMATION 

Applicant: David Dastur, Jensen & Halstead, LTD.  

Subject Property: 11 Salt Creek Lane (PIN: 06-36-405-022) 

Site Area: 3.89 acres (169,798 square feet) 

Existing Zoning & Land Use: O-3 General Office District – Multi-Tenant Medical Office Building 

Surrounding Zoning & Land Use: 
North:  O-3 General Office District – Office 
South:  O-3 General Office District – Office 
East:  O-3 General Office District – (across Spinning Wheel Drive) Vacant Land / Office 
West:  O-3 General Office District – (across Salt Creek Lane) Office / Salt Creek  
 
APPLICATION SUMMARY 
The applicant requests approval of an Exterior Appearance and Site Plan Review to allow for changes to 
exterior façade of the existing three-story building and site located at 11 Salt Creek Lane in the O-3 General 
Office District.  
 
Proposed changes to the site include the construction of a new drop-off and loading area near the main 
entrance on the east side of the building, alterations to the existing parking lot and sidewalks, 
modifications to site landscaping and screening, and the replacement of the existing dumpster enclosure.  
The applicant is also proposing changes to the building elevations, including the replacement of windows 
and doors, installation of new light fixtures, and alterations to the existing porticos and entrance trim.  
 
The property is located in the Hinsdale Office Park. The building is used as a multi-tenant medical office 
building and is accessible from Salt Creek Lane, a private street. The property is surrounded by a mix of 
office buildings in the O-3 District, most of which are used for medical offices. There are no properties in 
a Single-Family Residential District located within 250 feet of the site. The existing site is non-conforming 
with respect to several bulk requirements for the O-3 District, such as yards and setbacks.  
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MEMORANDUM 

REQUEST AND ANALYSIS 

The applicant is proposing various improvements to the existing site plan and building elevations, which 
are detailed below: 

• Construction of a Drop-off / Loading Area and Changes to the Parking Lot - The applicant is proposing 
to install a new drop-off and loading area near the main entrance on the east elevation to provide 
better access to patients entering the medical office building. To accommodate the new drop-off and 
loading area, the adjacent parking spaces, drive aisle, and landscape islands will be reconfigured. Two 
(2) existing parking lot light poles will be relocated further toward the building to allow for the 
installation of a new sidewalk to connect the main building entrance to the adjacent parking and 
loading areas. The central parking area will continue to accommodate two-way traffic, but the 
southern drive aisle will be narrowed in width to only allow for one-way vehicle exiting to the south.  

A total of 176 parking spaces are currently provided on site. Four (4) parking spaces will be removed 
as part of this project, which will result in a total of 172 spaces. Per Section 9-104(J), the proposed use 
is required to provide one (1) parking space for each 275 square feet of net floor area for business 
and professional office uses where the gross square footage of the building is 10,001 to 50,000 square 
feet. With 36,860 square feet of net floor area, 134 parking spaces are required on site. The prior 
approval for Hinsdale Office Park under Ordinance No. O2002-18 required 160 parking spaces on site. 
As proposed, the number of parking spaces proposed meets code requirements and prior approvals.  

• Landscape Plan - The applicant has provided a detailed landscape plan and tree preservation plan for 
review. New landscaping will be installed around the perimeter of the building and in several parking 
lot landscape islands. Existing bare grass areas will be restored with sod or seeded. The majority of 
the existing trees on site will be preserved. Sixteen (16) shade, ornamental, or evergreen trees will be 
planted. Twenty-one (21) trees will be removed. Per the cover letter, the majority of these trees are 
in a state of decline, are considered a public hazard by limiting visibility, or negatively impact the 
appearance of the property. The plans were reviewed by the Village Forester and determined the 
proposed tree removal plan was reasonable.  

• Screening - The existing transformer near the main entrance on the east elevation will be screened 
with a new privacy fence. The Trex composite fence will measure six (6) feet tall to fully screen the 
transformer and will be a dark brown color.  The area is currently screened with a mix of hedges and 
trees, which will be removed. New landscaping will be installed around the perimeter of the fence. 

• Dumpster Enclosure - The existing dumpster enclosure on the east side of the site has deteriorated 
and will be replaced as part of the project. The enclosure will be constructed of six (6) foot tall cedar 
fencing in the same location as the existing enclosure. 

• Building Elevations - Changes to the building elevations are summarized below. No signage is 
proposed as part of this project. Any changes to signage would require the submittal of a separate 
Sign Permit application for review by the Plan Commission at a later date.  

• Removal of the Portico Railings - The existing railings / balustrades on top of the porticos on the 
east and west elevations have deteriorated and will be removed. The porticos will be repaired 
and painted to match the existing color where needed.  

• Entrance Doors and Trim - On the north, south and west elevations, the existing exterior doors 
will be replaced with solid white metal doors and a new glass transom window. The existing trim 
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and decorative headers around the doors will be removed and replaced with simple white cement 
siding painted to match the color of the porticos. For the main entrance on the east elevation, 
new automatic sliding glass doors with white aluminum trim and a glass transom window will be 
installed.  

• Light Fixtures - On the north, south and east elevations, new wall-mounted sconces will be 
installed on both sides of the entrance doors. On the west elevation facing Salt Creek Lane, the 
existing hanging pendant below the portico will be replaced with a new light fixture. The applicant 
has included the proposed light fixtures for review. 

• Windows - All existing windows on the building will be replaced with new fixed windows with a 
slightly different design than the existing windows. The applicant has included a rendering of the 
proposed windows in the application packet. There are no changes to the size of the window 
openings or headers.  

 
REVIEW PROCESS 

Pursuant to Section 11-604 and Section 11-606, the Chairman of the Plan Commission shall at the public 
meeting on the application for an Exterior Appearance Review or Site Plan Review allow any member of 
the general public to offer relevant, material and nonrepetitive comment on the application. Within 60 
days following the conclusion of the public meeting, the Plan Commission shall transmit to the Board of 
Trustees its recommendation, in the form specified in Subsection 11-103(H), recommending either 
approval or disapproval of the Exterior Appearance and Site Plan based on the standards set forth in 
Section 11-604 and Section 11-606. 
 
Within 90 days following the receipt of the recommendation of the Plan Commission, or its failure to act 
as above provided, the Board of Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, shall approve the site plan as 
submitted, or shall make modifications acceptable to the applicant and approve such modified site plan, 
or shall disapprove it either with or without a remand to the plan commission for further consideration. 
The failure of the board of trustees to act within ninety (90) days, or such further time to which the 
applicant may agree, shall be deemed to be a decision denying site plan approval.  
 
The subject property is not located within 250 feet from a single-family zoning district, therefore, public 
notice via the newspaper, certified mail, or signage is not required for this project. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birdseye View  
4. Street View  
5. Exterior Appearance & Site Plan Review Application and Exhibits  



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location  
 

 
 

11 Salt Creek 
Lane 



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location 
 

 

  

11 Salt Creek Lane 



Aerial View – 11 Salt Creek Lane 
 

 

 



Birds Eye View – 11 Salt Creek Lane  
 

 

 

 

 

 



Birds Eye View – 11 Salt Creek Lane  
 

 

 

 



Street View – 11 Salt Creek Lane 
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01/31/2023 
 
 
 
Bethany Salmon  
Village Planner 
Village of Hinsdale 
19 E. Chicago Avenue 
Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 
 
 
Re: Salt Creek Entry 
 MPR22240  
 
 
 
Dear Bethany,  
 

Please see the following narrative for the scope of work.  
 

• Architectural: 
o Removal of the balustrades at the existing porticos due to deterioration. The Roofing and 

portico will be patched and repaired as required.  
o Replacement of all existing windows with more thermally efficient storefront system 

windows.  
o Replacement of exterior metal doors on the north, south and west elevations with 

thermally insulated hollow metal doors and a new transom.  
o Replacement and revision to the existing east entrance to accommodate a new aluminum 

framed double sliding glass door.  
o Replacement and installation of all exterior light fixtures.  
o Replacement of existing trash enclosure to match existing trash enclosure. 

 
• Landscape: 

o Most of the trees suggested for removal are in a state of decline, considered 

problematic as a potential public hazard, and negatively impact the overall appearance 

of the property. 

o One street tree at Salt Creek Lane is in decline and will be replaced along with those that 

are missing (Tree #16, Tree Preservation Plan, sheet L1). The ornamental pear at the 

south vehicular entrance will not be replaced as its proximity interferes with the 

driveway sight triangle (Tree #10). 

o Selective clearing of low quality and declining trees at the south vehicle entrance will 

allow for improved wayfinding of the medical office building – patients and visitors have 

difficulty identifying the location with obstructed views of the building and ground 

signage (Trees #1, #3, #5, and #9) 



 

PROJECT NARRATIVE 
 

 

o The continuity of the European Hornbeam at the east building face will be lost with four 

having to be removed for the new drop-off configuration. All seven trees will be 

replaced with multi-branched Jane Magnolia that will offer red-purple spring flowering, 

interesting branching, vertical structure, and appropriate scale in relationship with the 

building while not obstructing windows (Trees #54-#60). 

o The oak, ash, and maple identified for removal are dead or in a state of decline, and in 

the case of the ash, are susceptible to ash-bore (Trees #25, #32, #39, #40, #41, #46, #51, 

and #52). 

 

• Civil: 

o Removal of several parking spaces to enlarge existing drop off at east entrance for 

increased patient safety.   

o Added additional sidewalk adjacent to drop off to connect southern parking lot main 

entrance.  

 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
JENSEN & HALSTEAD, LTD. 
 
 
 
John McDonald 
Project Manager 
 
cc: Dave Dastur, Jensen and Halstead, Kelleen Enright, MedProperties Group 

 
 
 

 

jmcdonald
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VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  

DEPARTMENT 

 

 

PLAN COMMISSION APPLICATION  
  

I. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name: ___________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________ 

City/Zip: _________________________________ 

Phone/Fax: (___) ___________/______________ 

E-Mail: __________________________________ 

 

Applicant 

Name: ___________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________ 

City/Zip: _________________________________ 

Phone/Fax: (___) ___________/______________ 

E-Mail: __________________________________ 

 

Owner 

Others, if any, involved in the project (i.e. Architect, Attorney, Engineer) 

Name: ___________________________________ 

Title: ____________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________ 

City/Zip: _________________________________ 

Phone/Fax: (___) ___________/______________ 

E-Mail: __________________________________ 

 

Name: ___________________________________ 

Title: ____________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________ 

City/Zip: _________________________________ 

Phone/Fax: (___) ___________/______________ 

E-Mail: __________________________________ 

 

Disclosure of Village Personnel:  (List the name, address and Village position of any officer or employee 

of the Village with an interest in the owner of record, the Applicant or the property that is the subject of this 

application, and the nature and extent of that interest) 

 

1) ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2) ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

3) ______________________________________________________________________________________ 
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II.  SITE INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Address of subject property: _____________________________________________________ 
 
Property identification number (P.I.N. or tax number): ____ - ____ - ______ - _______  
 
Brief description of proposed project: ________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
General description or characteristics of the site: ________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Existing zoning and land use: _________________ 
 
Surrounding zoning and existing land uses: 
 
North: _______________________________     South: ______________________________ 
 
East: ________________________________     West: _______________________________ 
 
Proposed zoning and land use: _____________________________ 
 
Existing square footage of property: _____________________ square feet 
 
Existing square footage of all buildings on the property: _____________ square feet Please mark the approval(s) you are seeking and attach all applicable applications and 
standards for each approval requested: 
   
  Site Plan Approval 11-604 

 

 Design Review Permit 11-605E 
 

 Exterior Appearance 11-606E  
 

 Special Use Permit 11-602E 

Special Use Requested: _______________ 
___________________________________ 

     ________________________________________ 

 Map and Text Amendments 11-601E 

Amendment Requested: ______________ 
__________________________________ 

      ______________________________________ 

 

 Planned Development 11-603E 
 

 Development in the B-2 Central Business 
District Questionnaire 

 

 Major Adjustment to Final Plan Development 
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TABLE OF COMPLIANCE 

Address of subject property: ________________________________________________________ 
 
The following table is based on the __________ Zoning District.   
 
 Minimum Code 

Requirements 
Proposed/Existing  
Development 

   
Minimum Lot Area (s.f.)   
Minimum Lot Depth   
Minimum Lot Width   
Building Height   
   Number of Stories   
Front Yard Setback   
Corner Side Yard Setback   
Interior Side Yard Setback   
Rear Yard Setback    
Maximum Floor Area Ratio 
(F.A.R.)* 

  

Maximum Total Building 
Coverage* 

  

Maximum Total Lot Coverage*   
Parking Requirements 
 
 
 

  

Parking front yard setback   
Parking corner side yard 
setback 

  

Parking interior side yard 
setback 

  

Parking rear yard setback   
Loading Requirements   
Accessory Structure 
Information 

  

* Must provide actual square footage number and percentage. 
 
 
Where any lack of compliance is shown, state the reason and explain the Village’s authority, if any, to approve the 
application despite such lack of compliance: _____________________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  
DEPARTMENT 

EXTERIOR APPEARANCE AND 
SITE PLAN REVIEW CRITERIA 

 

 
 

Address of proposed request:  __________________________________________________ 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA 
 

Section 11-606 of the Hinsdale Zoning Code regulates Exterior appearance review.  The exterior appearance 

review process is intended to protect, preserve, and enhance the character and architectural heritage and 

quality of the Village, to protect, preserve, and enhance property values, and to promote the health, safety, and 

welfare of the Village and its residents.  Please note that Subsection Standards for building permits refers to 

Subsection 11-605E Standards and considerations for design permit review.   

***PLEASE NOTE***   If this is a non-residential property within 250 feet of a single-family 

residential district, additional notification requirements are necessary.  Please contact the Village 

Planner for a description of the additional requirements.  

 

FEES for Exterior Appearance/Site Plan Review: 

Standard Application: $600.00 

Within 250 feet of a Single-Family Residential District: $800 

 
Below are the criteria that will be used by the Plan Commission, Zoning and Public Safety 
Committee and Board of Trustees in reviewing Exterior Appearance Review requests.  Please 
respond to each criterion as it relates to the application.  Please use an additional sheet of paper 
to respond to questions if needed. 
 
1. Open spaces.  The quality of the open space between buildings and in setback spaces 

between street and facades.   
 
 
 

2. Materials.  The quality of materials and their relationship to those in existing adjacent 
structures.  

 
 
 

3. General design.  The quality of the design in general and its relationship to the overall 
character of neighborhood.  
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4. General site development.  The quality of the site development in terms of landscaping, 
recreation, pedestrian access, auto access, parking, servicing of the property, and impact on 
vehicular traffic patterns and conditions on-site and in the vicinity of the site, and the retention 
of trees and shrubs to the maximum extent possible.   

 
 
 
 

5. Height.  The height of the proposed buildings and structures shall be visually compatible with 
adjacent buildings.  
 
 
 

6. Proportion of front façade.  The relationship of the width to the height of the front elevation 
shall be visually compatible with buildings, public ways, and places to which it is visually 
related.   

 
 
 

7. Proportion of openings.  The relationship of the width to the height of windows shall be visually 
compatible with buildings, public ways, and places to which the building is visually related.  

 
 
 

8. Rhythm of solids to voids in front facades.  The relationship of solids to voids in the front 
façade of a building shall be visually compatible with buildings, public ways, and places to 
which it is visually related.   

 
 
 

9. Rhythm of spacing and buildings on streets.  The relationship of a building or structure to the 
open space between it and adjoining buildings or structures shall be visually compatible with 
the buildings, public ways, and places to which it is visually related.   

 
 
 

10. Rhythm of entrance porch and other projections.  The relationship of entrances and other 
projections to sidewalks shall be visually compatible with the buildings, public ways, and 
places to which it is visually related.   

 
 
 

11. Relationship of materials and texture.  The relationship of the materials and texture of the 
façade shall be visually compatible with the predominant materials to be used in the buildings 
and structures to which it is visually related.   
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12. Roof shapes.  The roof shape of a building shall be visually compatible with the buildings to 
which it is visually related.   

 
 
 
 

13. Walls of continuity.  Building facades and appurtenances such as walls, fences, and landscape 
masses shall, when it is a characteristic of the area, form cohesive walls of enclosure along a 
street to ensure visual compatibility with the buildings, public ways, and places to which such 
elements are visually related.   

 
 
 
 

14. Scale of building.  The size and mass of buildings and structures in relation to open spaces, 
windows, door openings, porches, and balconies shall be visually compatible with the 
buildings, public ways, and places to which they are visually related.   

 
 
 
 

15. Directional expression of front elevation.  The buildings shall be visually compatible with the 
buildings, public ways, and places to which it is visually related in its directional character, 
whether this be vertical character, horizontal character, or nondirectional character.   

 
 
 
 

16. Special consideration for existing buildings.  For existing buildings, the Plan Commission and 
the Board of Trustees shall consider the availability of materials, technology, and 
craftsmanship to duplicate existing styles, patterns, textures, and overall detailing.   

 

 

 

 

 
REVIEW CRITERIA – Site Plan Review 
 Below are the criteria that will be used by the Plan Commission and Board of Trustees in 

determining is the application does not meet the requirements for Site Plan Approval.  Briefly 
describe how this application will not do the below criteria.  Please respond to each criterion as it 
relates to the application.  Please use an additional sheet of paper to respond to questions if 
needed. 

 
 Section 11-604 of the Hinsdale Zoning Code regulates Site Plan Review.  The site plan review 

process recognizes that even those uses and developments that have been determined to be 
generally suitable for location in a particular district are capable of adversely affecting the 
purposes for which this code was enacted unless careful consideration is given to critical design 
elements.   
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1. The site plan fails to adequately meet specified standards required by the Zoning Code with 
respect to the proposed use or development, including special use standards where 
applicable. 

 
  
 

2. The proposed site plan interferes with easements and rights-of-way.   
 
 
 

3. The proposed site plan unreasonably destroys, damages, detrimentally modifies, or interferes 
with the enjoyment of significant natural, topographical, or physical features of the site.   

 
 

 
4. The proposed site plan is unreasonably injurious or detrimental to the use and enjoyment of 

surrounding property. 
 
 

 
5. The proposed site plan creates undue traffic congestion or hazards in the public streets, or the 

circulation elements of the proposed site plan unreasonably creates hazards to safety on or off 
site or disjointed, inefficient pedestrian or vehicular circulation paths on or off the site.   

 
 
 
 
6. The screening of the site does not provide adequate shielding from or for nearby uses. 
 
 
 
 
7. The proposed structures or landscaping are unreasonably lacking amenity in relation to, or are 

incompatible with, nearby structures and uses.   
 
 
 
 

8. In the case of site plans submitted in connection with an application for a special use permit, 
the proposed site plan makes inadequate provision for the creation or preservation of open 
space or for its continued maintenance.  

 
 
 

9. The proposed site plan creates unreasonable drainage or erosion problems or fails to fully and 
satisfactorily integrate the site into the overall existing and planned ordinance system serving 
the community.  

 
 
 
 

jmcdonald
Highlight
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10. The proposed site plan places unwarranted or unreasonable burdens on specified utility 
systems serving the site or area or fails to fully and satisfactorily integrate the site’s utilities into 
the overall existing and planned utility system serving the Village.   

 
 
 
 

11. The proposed site plan does not provide for required public uses designated on the Official 
Map.  

 
 

 
12. The proposed site plan otherwise adversely affects the public health, safety, or general 

welfare.   
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VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

19 East Chicago Avenue 
Hinsdale, Illinois  60521-3489 

630.789.7030 
 

Application for Certificate of Zoning Compliance 
 

You must complete all portions of this application.  If you think certain 
information is not applicable, then write “N/A.”  If you need additional 
space, then attach separate sheets to this form. 
 
Applicant’s name: ______________________________________________ 

Owner’s name (if different): ______________________________________________ 

Property address: ______________________________________________ 

Property legal description: [attach to this form] 

Present zoning classification:  

Square footage of property: ______________________________________________ 

Lot area per dwelling: ______________________________________________ 

Lot dimensions: ____ x ____ 

Current use of property: ______________________________________________ 

Proposed use:  Single-family detached dwelling 

  Other: ________________________________________ 

Approval sought:  Building Permit  Variation 

  Special Use Permit  Planned Development 
  Site Plan  Exterior Appearance 

  Design Review 

  Other: ________________________________________ 

  

Brief description of request and proposal: 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 
Plans & Specifications: [submit with this form] 
 
 Provided: Required by Code: 
Yards: 

front: _________ _________ 
interior side(s) ____ /____ ____ /____ 

  
 

David Dastur

 11 Salt Creek Campus LLC

11 Salt Creek Lane Hinsdale, IL 60521

41,856

N/A

479'' 513'

Medical Office Building

Medical Office Building

80.2'
0' 0'

25'
0' 0'

O-3, General Office District

✔ ✔

Expansion of the existing drop-off. Exterior upgrades to the windows, exterior doors and porticos.

✔

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4CDD8F6F-91D7-47BD-A5F1-306C92F7D91B



 

 -2- 

Provided: Required by Code: 
 
corner side _________ _________ 
rear _________ _________ 

Setbacks (businesses and offices): 
front: _________ _________ 
interior side(s) ____ /____ ____ /____ 
corner side _________ _________ 
rear _________ _________ 
others: _________ _________ 
Ogden Ave. Center: _________ _________ 
York Rd. Center: _________ _________ 
Forest Preserve: _________ _________ 

Building heights: 
principal building(s): _________ _________ 
accessory building(s): _________ _________ 

Maximum Elevations: 
principal building(s): _________ _________ 
accessory building(s): _________ _________ 

Dwelling unit size(s): _________ _________ 

Total building coverage: _________ _________ 

Total lot coverage: _________ _________ 

Floor area ratio: _________ _________ 

Accessory building(s): ______________________________________________ 

Spacing between buildings: [depict on attached plans] 

principal building(s): _________ _________ _________ 
accessory building(s): _________ _________ _________ 

Number of off-street parking spaces required: _______ 
Number of loading spaces required: ________ 
 
Statement of applicant: 
 
I swear/affirm that the information provided in this form is true and complete.  I 
understand that any omission of applicable or relevant information from this form could 
be a basis for denial or revocation of the Certificate of Zoning Compliance. 
 
By: _______________________________ 
 Applicant’s signature 
 
 _______________________________ 
 Applicant’s printed name 
 
Dated: ___________________, 20___. 

N/A
35.9'

100.5'
89.5'
N/A
216.6'
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

42'-4"
N/A

42'-4"
N/A

N/A

N/A

55%

.247

N/A
25'

25'
10'
N/A
25'
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

10'

60'
N/A

60'
N/A

N/A

N/A

55 %

0.35

N/A

N/A
N/A

160
1

David Dastur

1/31 23

DocuSign Envelope ID: 4CDD8F6F-91D7-47BD-A5F1-306C92F7D91B
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CONTRACTOR SHALL 
REPLACE TRASH 
ENCLOSURE TO MATCH 
EXISTING TRASH 
ENCLOSURE. EXISTING 
STRUCTURE SHALL REMAIN. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL MATCH 
HEIGHT AND DIMENSIONS OF 
EXISTING ENCLOSURE. 
CEDAR WOOD FENCE 
AROUND ENTIRE 
ENCLOSURE AS INDICATED. 
WOOD SHALL RUN  IN FRONT 
OF COLUMNS AS THE 
EXISTING STRUCTURE DID. 
CEDAR PLANKS TO MATCH 
EXISTING WIDTH AND FINISH.

A1.10
5

EXISTING GALVANIZED 
STRUCTURE SHALL 
REMAIN. TYPICAL AT 
ALL LOCATIONS.

VERIFY IN FIELD

EXISTING

VERI F Y IN F IEL D 

EX ISTI NG

EQ
EQ

CEDAR WOOD FENCE 
AROUND ENTIRE 
ENCLOSURE AS 
INDICATED. WOOD 
SHALL RUN  IN FRONT 
OF COLUMNS AS THE 
EXISTING STRUCTURE 
DID. CEDAR PLANKS 
TO MATCH EXISTING 
WIDTH AND FINISH.

CEDAR WOOD GATE. 
WIDTH SHALL MATCH 
EXISTING DOOR 
WIDTH TO FULL 
EXTENT OF EXISTING 
STRUCTURE. CEDAR 
PLANKS TO MATCH 
EXISTING WIDTH AND 
FINISH.

1
A1.10

A1.10 4

A1.10

3

A1.102

A1.10

3
OPP

CEDAR WOOD GATE. WIDTH SHALL 
MATCH EXISTING DOOR WIDTH TO 
FULL EXTENT OF EXISTING 
STRUCTURE. CEDAR PLANKS TO 
MATCH EXISTING WIDTH AND 
FINISH. 

STEEL CANE BOLTS SHALL MATCH 
EXISTING 

EXISTING GALVANIZED 
STRUCTURE SHALL 
REMAIN. TYPICAL AT 
ALL LOCATIONS.

VE
RI

FY
 IN

 F
IE

LD

EX
IS

TI
NG

EXISTING VERIFY IN FIELD

CEDAR WOOD FENCE 
AROUND ENTIRE 
ENCLOSURE AS 
INDICATED. WOOD 
SHALL RUN  IN FRONT 
OF COLUMNS AS THE 
EXISTING STRUCTURE 
DID. CEDAR PLANKS 
TO MATCH EXISTING 
WIDTH AND FINISH.  

EXISTING VERIFY IN FIELD

VE
RI

FY
 IN

 F
IE

LD

EX
IS

TI
NG

VE
RI

FY
 IN

 F
IE

LD

EX
IS

TI
NG

EXISTING VERIFY IN FIELD

CEDAR WOOD FENCE 
AROUND ENTIRE 
ENCLOSURE AS 
INDICATED. WOOD 
SHALL RUN  IN FRONT 
OF COLUMNS AS THE 
EXISTING STRUCTURE 
DID. CEDAR PLANKS 
TO MATCH EXISTING 
WIDTH AND FINISH. 

CEDAR WOOD FENCE 
AROUND ENTIRE 
ENCLOSURE AS 
INDICATED. WOOD 
SHALL RUN  IN FRONT 
OF COLUMNS AS IT 
DOES CURRENTLY. 
CEDAR PLANKS SHALL 
MATCH EXISTING 
WIDTH AND FINISH. 
PROVIDE BLOCKING 
BEHIND CEDAR 
PANELS TO MATCH 
EXISTING BLOCKING. 

1'-
0"

6'-
0"

4"
2'-

4"
2'-

4"

EXISTING GALVANIZED 
STRUCTURE SHALL 
REMAIN.TYPICAL AT 
ALL LOCATIONS.

EXISTING 
FOUNDATION SHALL 
REMAIN. 

Consultants:

Date:

Project No.

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Approved by: Sheet        of        Sheets

Sheet Title

Sheet Number

Key Plan:

Seal:

JENSEN & HALSTEAD, LTD.

A
  
H

IS
T

O
R

Y
  
O

F
  
IN

N
O

V
A

T
IO

N
  
IN

  
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

ARCHITECTURAL CORPORATION
LICENSE NO. 184-000279

820 WEST JACKSON BOULEVARD. SUITE 850
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60607

TEL. 312.664.7557 WWW.JANDHLTD.COM

Issuances:

Project:

ARCHITECTURE       PLANNING       INTERIORS

2/
2/

20
23

 3
:5

9:
28

 P
M

A1.10
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No. Date Description

1" = 30'-0"6 SITE PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"5 TRASH ENCLOSURE

1/4" = 1'-0"4 TRASH ENCLOSURE WEST ELEVATION
1/4" = 1'-0"3 TRASH ENCLOSURE NORTH ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"2 TRASH ENCLOSURE EAST ELEVATION

1/2" = 1'-0"1 TRASH ENCLOSURE SECTION



NEW 1" THICK FIBER CEMENT SIDING AT DOOR 
JAMBS AND (2) LAYERS OF 1" THICK FIBER 
CEMENT SIDING AT DOOR HEAD.  PAINT WHITE 
TO MATCH EXISTING PORTICO COLOR. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFIRM FINAL COLOR 
WITH ARCHITECT. SEE DETAILS ON A9.00.

REMOVE BALUSTRADES. 
PATCH AND REPAIR AS 
REQUIRED.  PAINT 
PORTICO  TO MATCH 
EXISTING COLOR AS 
REQUIRED. 

REMOVE EXISTING 
RAILING. PATCH AND 
REPAIR AS REQUIRED. 
PAINT PORTICO  TO 
MATCH EXISTING COLOR 
AS REQUIRED.   

NEW EXTERIOR PENDANT 

NEW EXTERIOR WALL MOUNTED SCONCES

NEW INSULATED HOLLOW METAL DOUBLE DOORS, 
TRANSLUCENT GLASS TRANSOM WINDOW, AND 
FRAME. MAINTAIN EXISTING DOOR AND TRANSOM 
OPENING SIZES. PAINT WHITE TO MATCH EXISTING 
PORTICO COLOR. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFIRM 
FINAL COLOR WITH ARCHITECT. 

13
'-6

"

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS, REMOVE 
EXISTING WINDOW AND REPLACE WITH 
NEW THERMALLY BROKEN STOREFRONT 
GLAZING SYSTEM.  

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS,  
EXISTING HEADER SHALL REMAIN.

EXISTING COPING SHALL 
REMAIN. CONTRACTOR 
SHALL CLEAN AS 
REQUIRED BY  OWNER, 
TYP.

EXISTING MASONRY 
SHALL REMAIN, TYP.

NEW 1" THICK FIBER CEMENT SIDING AT DOOR JAMBS AND 
(2) LAYERS OF 1" THICK FIBER CEMENT SIDING AT DOOR 
HEAD.  PAINT WHITE TO MATCH EXISTING PORTICO COLOR. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFIRM FINAL COLOR WITH 
ARCHITECT. SEE DETAILS ON A9.00. 

REMOVE BALUSTRADES. PATCH AND REPAIR AS 
REQUIRED.  PAINT PORTICO  TO MATCH 
EXISTING COLOR AS REQUIRED. 

NEW EXTERIOR PENDANT
NEW INSULATED HOLLOW METAL DOUBLE DOORS AND TRANSLUCENT GLASS 
TRANSOM WINDOW. MAINTAIN EXISTING DOOR AND TRANSOM OPENING SIZES. 
PAINT WHITE TO MATCH EXISTING PORTICO COLOR. CONTRACTOR SHALL 
CONFIRM FINAL COLOR WITH ARCHITECT. SEE DETAILS ON A9.00.

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS, REMOVE 
EXISTING WINDOW AND REPLACE 
WITH NEW THERMALLY BROKEN 
STOREFRONT GLAZING SYSTEM.  

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS,  
EXISTING HEADER SHALL REMAIN.

EXISTING COPING SHALL 
REMAIN. CONTRACTOR 
SHALL CLEAN AS 
REQUIRED BY  OWNER, 
TYP.

EXISTING MASONRY 
SHALL REMAIN, TYP.
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1/8" = 1'-0"1 NORTH ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"2 WEST ELEVATION



REMOVE BALUSTRADES. PATCH AND REPAIR AS 
REQUIRED.  PAINT PORTICO  TO MATCH 
EXISTING COLOR AS REQUIRED. 

NEW EXTERIOR WALL SCONCE NEW ALUMINUM AND GLASS SLIDING 
DOORS, TRANSLUCENT GLASS TRANSOM 
AND FRAME. EXTEND EXISTING 8'-10" H X 
6'-5" W DOOR OPENING TO 10'-2" X 9'-10" H.

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS, REMOVE 
EXISTING WINDOW AND REPLACE WITH 
NEW THERMALLY BROKEN STOREFRONT 
GLAZING SYSTEM.  

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS,  
EXISTING HEADER SHALL REMAIN.

9'-10"

10
'-2

 5/
8"

REMOVE EXISTING LINTEL AT OPENING AND 
PROVIDE NEW CONCEALED STEEL LINTEL 

PAINT TO MATCH BRICK COLOR.

EXISTING COPING SHALL 
REMAIN. CONTRACTOR 
SHALL CLEAN AS 
REQUIRED BY  OWNER, 
TYP.

EXISTING MASONRY 
SHALL REMAIN, TYP.

NEW 1" THICK FIBER CEMENT SIDING 
AT DOOR JAMBS AND (2) LAYERS OF 1" 
THICK FIBER CEMENT SIDING AT DOOR 
HEAD.  PAINT WHITE TO MATCH 
EXISTING PORTICO COLOR. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFIRM FINAL 
COLOR WITH ARCHITECT. SEE 
DETAILS ON A9.00.

NEW EXTERIOR WALL SCONCE

NEW INSULATED HOLLOW METAL DOUBLE DOORS 
AND TRANSLUCENT GLASS TRANSOM WINDOW. 
PAINT WHITE TO MATCH EXISTING PORTICO 
COLOR. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFIRM FINAL 
COLOR WITH ARCHITECT. SEE DETAILS ON A9.00.

REMOVE BALUSTRADES. 
PATCH AND REPAIR AS 
REQUIRED.  PAINT 
PORTICO  TO MATCH 
EXISTING COLOR AS 
REQUIRED. 

REMOVE BALUSTRADES. 
PATCH AND REPAIR AS 
REQUIRED.  PAINT 
PORTICO  TO MATCH 
EXISTING COLOR AS 
REQUIRED. 

NEW EXTERIOR PENDANT 02

A9.00

TYPICAL AT ALL 
WINDOWS,  EXISTING 
HEADER SHALL REMAIN.

EXISTING COPING SHALL 
REMAIN. CONTRACTOR 
SHALL CLEAN AS 
REQUIRED BY  OWNER, 
TYP.

EXISTING MASONRY 
SHALL REMAIN, TYP.

TYPICAL AT ALL WINDOWS, 
REMOVE EXISTING WINDOW 
AND REPLACE WITH NEW 
THERMALLY BROKEN 
STOREFRONT GLAZING 
SYSTEM.  

Consultants:

Date:

Project No.

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Approved by: Sheet        of        Sheets

Sheet Title

Sheet Number

Key Plan:

Seal:

JENSEN & HALSTEAD, LTD.

A
  
H

IS
T

O
R

Y
  
O

F
  
IN

N
O

V
A

T
IO

N
  
IN

  
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

ARCHITECTURAL CORPORATION
LICENSE NO. 184-000279

820 WEST JACKSON BOULEVARD. SUITE 850
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60607

TEL. 312.664.7557 WWW.JANDHLTD.COM

Issuances:

Project:

ARCHITECTURE       PLANNING       INTERIORS

1/
30

/2
02

3 
5:

28
:0

9 
PM

A8.01

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

JM
LL/JM
01/25/2023
MPR22240

3

ENTRY RENOVATION

11 SALT CREEK LN
HINSDALE, IL 60521

MEDPROPERTIES

SALT CREEK

7DD

No. Date Description
12/14/2022 ISSUE FOR APPEARANCE REVIEW

1/8" = 1'-0"1 EAST ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"2 SOUTH ELEVATION



Consultants:

Date:

Project No.

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Approved by: Sheet        of        Sheets

Sheet Title

Sheet Number

Key Plan:

Seal:

JENSEN & HALSTEAD, LTD.

A
  
H

IS
T

O
R

Y
  
O

F
  
IN

N
O

V
A

T
IO

N
  
IN

  
A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

ARCHITECTURAL CORPORATION
LICENSE NO. 184-000279

820 WEST JACKSON BOULEVARD. SUITE 850
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60607

TEL. 312.664.7557 WWW.JANDHLTD.COM

Issuances:

Project:

ARCHITECTURE       PLANNING       INTERIORS

1/
25

/2
02

3 
5:

09
:4

7 
PM

A8.03

EXISTING BUILDING
PHOTOS

JM
LL/JM
01/25/2023
MPR22240

4

ENTRY RENOVATION

11 SALT CREEK LN
HINSDALE, IL 60521

MEDPROPERTIES

SALT CREEK

7DD

No. Date Description

EXISTING WINDOW TO BE REPLACED. 
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS FOR NEW 
WINDOW DESIGN. 

TYPICAL FOR NORTH AND SOUTH ELEVATIONS, 
EXISTING DOOR TRIM TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW 
PORITICO. SEE ELEVATIONS FOR NEW SCOPE OF 
WORK. EXISTING DOOR TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW 
INSULATED METAL DOOR. 

BALUSTRADES  TO BE REMOVED DUE TO WOOD 
DETERIATION. EXISTING DOOR TO BE REPLACED WITH 
NEW THERMALLY BROKEN ALUMINUM DOOR. SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND ELEVATIONS.  

EXISTING DOOR TRIM TO BE 
REPLACED . SEE ELEVATIONS FOR 
NEW SCOPE OF WORK. EXISTING 
DOOR TO BE REPLACED WITH NEW 
INSULATED METAL DOOR. 

BALUSTRADES  TO BE REMOVED DUE TO WOOD 
DETERIATION. EXISTING DOOR TO BE REPLACED WITH 
NEW THERMALLY BROKEN ALUMINUM DOOR. SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND ELEVATIONS.  

EXISTING WINDOWS TO BE REPLACED. 
SEE EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS FOR NEW 
WINDOW DESIGN. 
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EAST DOOR SHALL BE REPLACED BY 
NEW ALUMINUM AND GLASS SLIDNG 
DOORS, TRANSLUCENT TRANSOM 
GLASS AND FRAME. SIMILAR TO ABOVE 
IMAGE. PROVIDE WHITE POWDER COAT 
TO ALUMINUM DOOR AND FRAME. 

EXTERIOR DOORS ON THE NORTH, 
WEST AND SOUTH SIDES SHALL BE 
REPLACED WITH AN INSULATED 
HOLLOW METAL DOOR WITH A SIMILAR 
DOOR ELEVATION AESTHETIC.

EXISTING WINDOWS SHALL BE 
REPLACED WITH FIXED THERMALLY 
EFFICIENT STOREFRONT SYSTEM 
SIMILAR TO ADJACENT BUILDINGS. 

PENDANT ON WEST SIDE SHALL BE 
REPLACED WITH FIXTURE SHOWN.

EXTERIOR SCONCES SHALL BE 
REPLACED WITH FIXTURE SHOWN. 

DOOR TRIM WILL BE SIMILAR TO TRIM SHOWN AROUND DOOR IN 
IMAGE. 
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ADVENT HEALTH CANCER INSTITUTE - 1 SALT CREEK LANE, HINSDALE, IL 60521

EDWARD ELMHURST IMMEDIATE CARE - 8 SALT CREEK LANE STE 202, HINSDALE, IL 605212903



1"
1'-

0"

EXISTING 
MASONRY WALL 
TO REMAIN.

NEW INSULATED 
METAL DOOR AND 
FRAME. 

NEW 1" THICK FIBER 
CEMENT SIDING AT 
DOOR JAMBS ON 2x4 
FIRE TREATED WOOD 
STUDS. RETURN FIBER 
CEMENT SIDING TO 
DOOR JAMB. PROVIDE 
BACK ROD AND SEALANT. 

EXISTING STEEL 
COLUMN.

2 1/2"

EXISTING 
MASONRY WALL 
TO REMAIN.

NEW INSULATED 
METAL TRANSOM 
FRAME AND 
GLAZING

NEW (2) LAYERS 1" 
FIBER CEMENT 
SIDING AT DOOR 
HEAD ON 2X4 FIRE 
TREATED WOOD 
STUDS. RETURN 1" 
FIBER CEMENT 
SIDING TO DOOR 
TRANSOM HEAD. 
PROVIDE BACKER 
ROD AND SEALANT. 

SEALANT 
BETWEEN FIBER 
CEMENT PANELS 1'-

0"
1"

3 1/2"

5 1/8"
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1 1/2" = 1'-0"01 EXTERIOR DOOR JAMB DETAIL
1 1/2" = 1'-0"02 EXTERIOR DOOR HEADER DETAIL



0

SCALE:  1" = 30'

3030 15

1
SMC

DAG

08-24-22

1" = 30'

NOTES:

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR A BOUNDARY AND TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY.

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICE CONFORMS TO THE CURRENT ILLINOIS 

LICENSE EXPIRES: NOVEMBER 30, 2022

ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR NUMBER 035-003057

EMAIL: dgray@mackieconsult.com

DALE A. GRAY

________________________________________

___________, 20__ IN ROSEMONT, ILLINOIS.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL THIS ____ DAY OF

SAID TOPOGRAPHY.

PLAT REPRESENTS THE CONDITIONS FOUND AT THE TIME OF

TOPOGRAPHY ON THE ABOVE  DESCRIBED PROPERTY AND THAT THIS 

NUMBER 184-002694, HEREBY CERTIFY THAT WE HAVE PREPARED THE 

WE, MACKIE CONSULTANTS LLC, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM  

COUNTY OF COOK)

              )SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

BOUNDARY LINE

CHORD BEARINGCB=

L= ARC LENGTH

CH= CHORD LENGTH

R= RADIUS

SMN SET MAG NAIL

FCC FOUND CROSS CUT

SCC SET CROSS CUT

BUFFALO BOX PIPE ONLY (BBP)

LEGEND:

FENCE

GUARDRAIL

BUSH LINE

GUY WIRE (GW)

CATCH BASIN (CB)

INLET (INL)

FLARED END SECTION (FES)

VALVE VAULT (VV)

BUFFALO BOX (BB)

VALVE BOX (VB)

FIRE HYDRANT (FH)

AUXILIARY VALVE (AV)

CLEANOUT (CO)

ELECTRIC MANHOLE (EMH)

TELEPHONE MANHOLE (TMH)

TRAFFIC SIGNAL BOX (TSB)

TRAFFIC SIGNAL (TS)

HANDHOLE (HH)

LIGHT (LHT)

POWER POLE (PP)

CABLE PEDESTAL (PEDC)

TOP OF CURB ELEVATION

WALK ELEVATION

ELECTRIC PEDESTAL (PEDE)

TELEPHONE PEDESTAL (PEDT)

SIGN

 

DECIDUOUS TREE (SIZE IN INCHES)

BUSH

CONTOUR LINE

SPOT ELEVATION

PAVEMENT ELEVATION

TOP OF DEPRESSED CURB ELEVATION

STORM

TRANSFORMERTRANS

GAS VALVE (GV)

BOLLARD (BOL)

DEPRESSED CURB

 

CONIFEROUS TREE (SIZE IN INCHES)

TRANSFORMER

SITE BENCHMARKSBM

STR STRUCTURE

FIR

FIP FOUND IRON PIPE

FOUND IRON ROD

SIR

SIP SET IRON PIPE

SET IRON ROD

XXX

XXX.XX

PXXX.XX

TCXXX.XX

TDCXXX.XX

WXXX.XX

T

E

C

T

E

CO

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

EXISTING LOT LINE

BUILDING SETBACK LINE (BSL)

EASEMENT LINE

MANHOLE (MH)

STM

C&G CURB AND GUTTER

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:

NOT TO SCALE

LOCATION MAP

LOCATION
PROJECT

294

55

88

34

12

20

WOODRIDGE

DOWNERS

GROVE

OAK

BROOK

HINSDALE

N

O
R
T

H

BENCHMARKS:

ELEVATION = 651.88

CORNER OF 12 SALT CREEK LANE MEDICAL OFFICE BUILDING.

PARKING LOT APPROXIMATELY 175 FEET SOUTH OF THE SOUTHWEST 

SQUARE CUT IN THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LIGHT POLE BASE IN 

SITE BENCHMARK #3:

ELEVATION = 659.42

LANE APPROXIMATELY 600 FEET NORTH OF OGDEN AVENUE.

ARROW BOLT ON FIRE HYDRANT ON THE WEST SIDE OF SALT CREEK 

SITE BENCHMARK #2:

ELEVATION = 651.45

BUILDING.

NORTHWEST CORNER OF 12 SALT CREEK LANE MEDICAL OFFICE 

OF PARKING LOT APPROXIMATELY 650 FEET NORTH OF THE 

SQUARE CUT ON SOUTH SIDE OF LIGHT POLE BASE AT THE WEST END 

SITE BENCHMARK #1:

ELEVATION = 652.96

LANE.

TRAFFIC ISLAND AT INTERSECTION OF YORK ROAD AND GATEWAY 

BRONZE DISK IN CONCRETE LIGHT POLE BASE LOCATED IN ENTRANCE 

SOURCE BENCHMARK (DUPAGE COUNTY BM YK36002):

24th

22AUGUST

TRUNCATED DOME

BUILDING

HOT MIX ASPHALT (HMA)

GRAVEL

CONCRETE (CONC)

TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

8.  SURVEY IS BASED ON FIELD WORK COMPLETED ON 08-16-22.

EVIDENCE OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES LOCATED AND SHOWN HEREON.

7.  OBSERVABLE ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES AND ABOVE GROUND 

BURIED UTILITIES PRIOR TO DIGGING.

6.  CONTACT JULIE AT 1-800-892-0123 FOR EXACT LOCATION OF 

5.  NO DIMENSIONS SHALL BE DERIVED FROM SCALE MEASUREMENTS.

ORDINANCES FOR OTHER RESTRICTIONS.

ON. REFER TO THE DEED, TITLE INSURANCE POLICY AND LOCAL 

SHOWN ON THE RECORDED PLAT OF SUBDIVISIONS ARE SHOWN HERE 

4.  ONLY THOSE BUILDING LINE SETBACKS AND EASEMENTS WHICH ARE 

3.  ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN FEET AND DECIMAL PARTS THEREOF.

FROM THE OUTSIDE FACE OF EXISTING STRUCTURE.

2.  BUILDING DIMENSIONS AND TIES SHOWN HEREON ARE MEASURED 

COORDINATE SYSTEM, EAST ZONE.

1.  BEARINGS BASED ON NAD83 (2011) ILLINOIS STATE PLANE 
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General Notes
1.  BASE INFORMATION ACQUIRED FROM CIVIL ENGINEERING PLANS PREPARED BY MACKIE CONSULTANTS, LLC.

2.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SECURING AND PURCHASING ALL PERMITS, FEES AND INSPECTIONS NECESSARY FOR
PROPER IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS WORK.  COMPLY WITH CODES APPLICABLE TO THIS WORK

3.  CONTRACTOR SHALL APPLY AND OBTAIN A TREE REMOVAL PERMIT FOR APPROVAL OF PROPOSED TREE REMOVALS PRIOR TO
ANY WORK.

4.  NO CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY, MOVEMENT AND PLACEMENT OF EQUIPMENT, OR MATERIAL, OR SPOILS STORAGE AND NO EXCESS
SOIL, ADDITIONAL FILL, LIQUIDS, OR CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS SHALL BE PLACED WITHIN THE ROOT ZONE OF ANY TREE THAT IS
REQUIRED TO BE PRESERVED NOR AT ANY HIGHER LOCATION.

5.  CRUSHED LIMESTONE HYDROCARBONS AND OTHER MATERIAL DETRIMENTAL TO TREES SHALL NOT BE DUMPED WITHIN THE ROOT
ZONE OF ANY TREE NOR AT ANY HIGHER LOCATION WHERE DRAINAGE TOWARD THE TREE COULD REASONABLY EXPECT TO
AFFECT THE HEALTH OF THE TREE.

6.  EXISTING GRADES SHALL BE MAINTAINED WITH NO DISTURBANCE PERMITTED (NO GRADING OR SOIL BACKFILLING) WITHIN THE
DRIPLINE OF TREES TO BE PRESERVED.

7.   PRESERVE EXISTING TREES AS INDICATED.  PERFORM REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF EXISTING VEGETATION IN CONFLICT WITH THE
NEW SITE IMPROVEMENTS SPECIFIED ON THE TOPOGRAPHICAL SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN.  GRUB TREE ROOTS 18" BELOW GRADE
AND SHRUBS ROOTS 10" BELOW GRADE.  REMOVAL OPERATIONS SHALL REQUIRE THAT ALL TREE AND VEGETATION SPECIFIED
FOR REMOVAL SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY LOADED ON TO TRUCKS FOR DISPOSAL OFF SITE.

8.  PRESERVED TREES LOCATED WITHIN THE CONSTRUCTION ZONE SHALL BE PROPERLY PRUNED TO REMOVE DEAD,
DISEASED, WEAK, AND BROKEN BRANCHES.  SELECTIVE PRUNING (THINNING) SHALL BE NECESSARY TO COMPENSATE
FOR ROOT LOSS AND REQUIRED CLEARANCES.  TREES LOCATED IN CLOSE PROXIMITY OF EXCAVATION SHALL HAVE ROOT
PRUNING PERFORMED WITHIN (1) FOOT OF EXCAVATION WORK IN ORDER TO PROMOTE NEW ROOT GROWTH AND
PROVIDE WOUND CLOSURE (SUITABLE EQUIPMENT FOR ROOT PRUNING MAY INCLUDE A TRENCHER, ROOT PRUNER, OR
STUMP GRINDER).  TREES LOCATED WITHIN THE CONSTRUCTION ZONE SHALL BE TREATED WITH A SOIL INJECTED LIQUID
ROOT FERTILIZER AS SPECIFIED AND PERFORMED BY A CERTIFIED ARBORIST.

9.  THE SERVICES OF A CERTIFIED ARBORIST SHOULD BE SECURED TO PERFORM THE AFOREMENTIONED TREE PRUNING,
ROOT PRUNING, FERTILIZING AND SITE MONITORING DURING AND AFTER CONSTRUCTION.

10.  LOCATION OF ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE VERIFIED BY CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  CALL
J.U.L.I.E. (JOINT UTILITY LOCATING FOR EXCAVATORS)  1-800-892-0123.

11. REFER TO SHEET L3 FOR TREE PROTECTION DETAILS.

71 S. Wacker Drive,Suite 3725
Chicago, IL 60606
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3 01/26/2023 Issued for Village Submittal
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PRESERVE
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PRESERVE
EX. TURF

PRESERVE
EX. TURF

PRESERVE
EX. TURF

PRESERVE
EX. TURF

EXISTING
DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE

EXISTING TREE LINE

EXISTING ARBORVITAE HEDGE @ 8-10' HEIGHT

REMOVE BUCKTHORN @ 10' HEIGHT

EXISTING ARBORVITAE
@ 20' HEIGHT

14-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

14-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)
180-CREEPING LILYTURF-4"POT (18"-O.C.)

9-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

10-INVINCIBELLE
WEE WHITE
HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)

15-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)
36-FRAGRANT RETURNS DAYLILY-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

32-ROZANNE GERANIUM-1GAL (22"-O.C.)
24-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

19-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

10-KARL FOERSTER FEATHER
REED GRASS-1GAL (24"-O.C.)

16-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL
ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

4-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-1GAL (30"-O.C.)

14-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

42-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL
ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

9-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-1GAL (30"-O.C.)
EXISTING IDENTIFICATION SIGN

11-INVINCIBELLE
WEE WHITE
HYDRANGEA-18"

32-ROZANNE GERANIUM-1GAL (22"-O.C.)
24-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)
20-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

36-FRAGRANT RETURNS DAYLILY-1GAL (20"-O.C.)
16-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)

10-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

13-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)
18-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)
13-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

140-CREEPING LILYTURF-4"POT (18"-O.C.)
11-INVINCIBELLE WEE WHITE HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)

10-INVINCIBELLE WEE
WHITE HYDRANGEA-18"

1-JAPANESE TREE LILAC-7.0' CLUMP

1-JAPANESE TREE LILAC-7.0' CLUMP

6' HIGH PRIVACY FENCE
(MIN. 3' HORIZONTAL CLEARANCE
FROM CONCRETE TRANSFORMER
PAD, SEE DETAILS AND IMAGES -
SHEETS L3, L4, & L5)

1-COMMON BALDCYPRESS-3.5"

1-EXCLAMATION LONDON PLANETREE-3.0"

1-COMMON BALDCYPRESS-3.5"

1-COMMON BALDCYPRESS-3.5"

8-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)
11-EXISTING BOXWOOD (PRESERVE)

3-JANE MAGNOLIA-6.0'
130-CREEPING LILYTURF-4"POT (18"-O.C.)

8-KODIAK RED BUSH-HONEYSUCKLE-18" (36"-O.C.)
9-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)

44-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

3-MARIESII DOUBLEFILE VIBURNUM-4.0'

11-EXISTING BOXWOOD (PRESERVE)
10-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)

150-CREEPING LILYTURF-4"POT (18"-O.C.)
4-JANE MAGNOLIA-6.0'

8-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)
12-KODIAK RED BUSH-HONEYSUCKLE-18" (36"-O.C.)

15-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18" (36"-O.C.)
38-FRAGRANT RETURNS DAYLILY-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

7-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

32-ROZANNE GERANIUM-1GAL (22"-O.C.)

13-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)

10-GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD-18" (36"-O.C.)
6-CLIMBING HYDRANGEA-3GAL

150-CREEPING LILYTURF-4"POT (18"-O.C.)

48-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

30-CREEPING LILYTURF-4"POT (18"-O.C.)

2-CHANTICLEER ORNAMENTAL
PEAR-2.5"

1-CHANTICLEER ORNAMENTAL
PEAR-2.5"

12-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-4"POT (30"-O.C.)
14-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-4"POT (30"-O.C.)

44-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-4"POT (30"-O.C.)

9-KODIAK RED BUSH-HONEYSUCKLE-18" (36"-O.C.)
10-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-1GAL (30"-O.C.)

48-FRAGRANT RETURNS DAYLILY-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

26-EXISTING PRAIRIE DROPSEED (PRESERVE)
60-EXISTING EARLY BIRD CATMINT (PRESERVE)

24-SUMMER BEAUTY ORN.
ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

6-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-1GAL (30"-O.C.)

18-ROZANNE GERANIUM-1GAL
(22"-O.C.)

5-STORM CLOUD BLUE STAR
AMSONIA-1GAL (36"-O.C.)

20-ROZANNE GERANIUM-1GAL
(22"-O.C.)

6-STORM CLOUD BLUE STAR
AMSONIA-1GAL (36"-O.C.)

12-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-1GAL (30"-O.C.)

7-STORM CLOUD BLUE STAR
AMSONIA-1GAL (36"-O.C.)

18-EARLY BIRD CATMINT-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

76-PLAINS OVAL SEDGE-3"PLUG
(18"-O.C.)

LIMIT OF SOD (TYP.)

LIMIT OF SOD (TYP.)

LIMIT OF SOD (TYP.)

RESTORE TURF W/ SEED AND
BLANKET AFTER TREE/STUMP
REMOVAL (TYP.)

RESTORE TURF W/ SEED AND
BLANKET AFTER TREE/STUMP
REMOVAL (TYP.)

RESTORE TURF W/ SEED AND
BLANKET AFTER TREE/STUMP
REMOVAL (TYP.)

RESTORE TURF W/ SEED AND
BLANKET AFTER TREE/STUMP
REMOVAL (TYP.)

13-PRAIRIE DROPSEED-1GAL
(30"-O.C.)
36-ROZANNE GERANIUM-1GAL
(22"-O.C.)
40-SUMMER BEAUTY ORN.
ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)
11-BOBO HYDRANGEA-18"
(36"-O.C.)

16-EARLY BIRD CATMINT-1GAL
(20"-O.C.)
42-FRAGRANT RETURNS
DAYLILY-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

30-SUMMER BEAUTY ORNAMENTAL
ONION-1GAL (20"-O.C.)

LIMIT OF TURF
RESTORATION W/
SEED/BLANKET (TYP.)

FILL ISLAND W/ TOPSOIL (CROWN @ 6")

FILL ISLAND W/ TOPSOIL (CROWN @ 3")

FILL ISLAND W/ TOPSOIL (CROWN @ 3")

SEED/BLANKET
SEED/BLANKET

SEED/BLANKET

SEED/BLANKET

LIMIT OF SOD (TYP.)

SEED/BLANKET

LIMIT OF TURF
RESTORATION W/
SEED/BLANKET (TYP.)

LIMIT OF TURF
RESTORATION W/
SEED/BLANKET (TYP.)

SEED/
BLANKET

SEED/BLANKET

LIMIT OF TURF
RESTORATION W/
SEED/BLANKET (TYP.)

NOTE:  ALL BARE TURF AREAS
ONSITE TO BE RESTORED W/
SEED AND BLANKET

NOTE:  ALL BARE TURF AREAS
ONSITE TO BE RESTORED W/
SEED AND BLANKET

NOTE:  ALL BARE TURF AREAS
ONSITE TO BE RESTORED W/
SEED AND BLANKET

TRANSFORMER (5'-6" HIGH)

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE TO BE
REMOVED AND REPLACED
(REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL
PLANS)

C Trippiedi Design, P.C.2022
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Plant and Material Schedules

1.     BASE INFORMATION ACQUIRED FROM CIVIL ENGINEERING PLANS PREPARED BY MACKIE CONSULTANTS, LLC.

2.  ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL VERIFY THAT THEY HAVE CURRENT PLANS PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ANY WORK.

3.  ALL CONTRACTORS ARE LIABLE FOR THE SAFETY OF THEIR EMPLOYEES AND EQUIPMENT WHILE ON THE PROJECT SITE.

4.  WRITTEN DIMENSIONS ALWAYS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED DIMENSIONS.

5.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY SITE CONDITIONS AND INFORMATION ON DRAWINGS, AND REPORT ANY MISTAKES OR
DISCREPANCIES TO THE INFORMATION SHOWN IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  THE OWNER IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR
UNAUTHORIZED CHANGES OR EXTRA WORK REQUIRED TO CORRECT UNREPORTED DISCREPANCIES.

6.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SECURING AND PURCHASING ALL PERMITS, FEES AND INSPECTIONS NECESSARY
FOR PROPER IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS WORK.  COMPLY WITH CODES APPLICABLE TO THIS WORK.

7.  QUANTITY LISTS ARE SHOWN FOR CONTRACTORS CONVENIENCE ONLY - THE CONTRACTOR MUST CONFIRM ALL MATERIAL
AND SUPPLY SUFFICIENT MATERIAL TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT AS DRAWN.  SHRUB HEDGE QUANTITIES ARE BASED ON
LINEAR FOOTAGE WITH SPECIFIED SPACING AND ONLY GRAPHICALLY ILLUSTRATED TO INDICATE LOCATION.

8.   ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE SPECIMEN QUALITY AND ACQUIRED FROM AN APPROVED NORTHERN ILLINOIS NURSERY WITH
HEAVY CLAY SOILS.  NO BARE ROOT PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE ALLOWED.  NURSERY STOCK SHALL BE EITHER BALLED AND
BURLAPPED OR CONTAINER GROWN.  MINIMUM SIZES AND SPREADS ARE SPECIFIED ON PLANT LIST.  NO PLANT
SUBSTITUTIONS SHALL BE MADE WITHOUT THE APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND/OR OWNER.

TREES AND SHRUBS HAVE BEEN RESERVED AND SELECTED BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AT THE FOLLOWING APPROVED
NURSERIES:  MARIANI PLANTS (KENOSHA, WI), HINSDALE NURSERIES (PLANO, IL), AND MIDWEST GROUNDCOVERS (ST.
CHARLES, IL).

9.   THE REQUIREMENTS FOR PLANT MATERIAL MEASUREMENT, BRANCHING AND BALL SIZE SHALL COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE
REQUIREMENTS OF ANSI Z60.1 "AMERICAN STANDARD OF NURSERY STOCK" (CURRENT EDITION) BY THE AMERICAN
ASSOCIATION OF NURSERYMEN, INC.

10. PRIOR TO INSTALLATION, CONTRACTOR SHALL LAYOUT ALL SITE ELEMENTS AND PLANTS FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL BY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPORTING SUPPLEMENTAL PULVERIZED TOPSOIL, MUSHROOM COMPOST, AND
SOIL AMENDMENT MIXES FOR USE IN ALL PLANTING OPERATIONS: TREE AND SHRUB BACKFILL, PLANTING BED PREPARATION,
AND PLANTER BACKFILL.  PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, ROSES, PERENNIALS, VINES, ORNAMENTAL GRASSES, AND
GROUNDCOVERS SHALL BE CULTIVATED TO AN EIGHT INCH (8") DEPTH WITH A THREE INCH (3") LAYER OF "ONE STEP SOIL
CONDITIONER" PREPARED BY MIDWEST TRADING.  ANNUAL BEDS SHALL BE CULTIVATED TO AN EIGHT INCH (8") DEPTH WITH
THREE INCHES (3") OF MUSHROOM COMPOST.  ALL BEDS SHALL BE RAISED TWO INCHES (2") ABOVE FINISHED GRADE.

DURING PLANTING OPERATIONS, DO NOT BACKFILL PLANT MATERIAL WITH CLAY SPOILS.  CONTRACTOR SHALL DISPOSE OF
ALL UNSUITABLE EXCAVATED SOILS OFF-SITE.

12. ANNUAL BEDS SHALL BE TOPDRESSED WITH A TWO INCH (2") LAYER OF MUSHROOM COMPOST. PROVIDE PREMIUM
SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH (DOUBLE PROCESSED) FOR PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING PERENNIALS, VINES, ORNAMENTAL
GRASSES, AND GROUNDCOVERS WITH A TWO INCH (2") LAYER, AND MULCH ALL SHRUB BEDS AND TREE SAUCERS WITH A
THREE INCH (3") LAYER.  PROVIDE TREES UNDER A SEVEN INCH (7") CALIPER WITH A MINIMUM SIX FOOT (6') DIAMETER MULCH
SAUCER, AND THOSE TREES WITH A SEVEN INCH (7") CALIPER OR LARGER SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM NINE FOOT (9') DIAMETER
MULCH SAUCER.  PLANTING BED EDGES AND TREE SAUCERS SHALL REQUIRE A SPADE CUT EDGE BETWEEN LAWN AND
MULCHED AREAS.

13. TURF AREAS IDENTIFIED AS SEED SHALL BE CONVENTIONALLY SEEDED WITH A KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS BLEND AND
PROTECTED  WITH SPECIFIED EROSION CONTROL BLANKET AND ANCHORED WITH STAKES OR OTHER ACCEPTABLE METHOD.
TURF AREAS IDENTIFIED AS SOD SHALL BE SODDED WITH A PREMIUM KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS BLEND CONTAINING A SOIL
MINERAL BASE (PEAT SOD IS UNACCEPTABLE).  USE SOD STAPLES ON SLOPES AS NECESSARY TO PREVENT SHIFTING OR
SLIPPAGE OF NEWLY INSTALLED SOD.  CONTRACTOR TO PERFORM REMOVAL OF EXISTING TURF IN CONFLICT WITH THE NEW
TURF ZONES AND TO RESTORE ANY DAMAGED TURF OUTSIDE OF THESE ZONES WITH SOD.

14. CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN SUCH A WAY AS TO PREVENT TRACKING OF MUD OR SOIL ON TO
PAVEMENTS AND OFF SITE.  AT THE END OF THE DAY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CLEAN UP ALL MUD OR SOIL WHICH HAS BEEN
TRACKED ONTO AREAS OUTSIDE OF CONSTRUCTION ZONE.

15. AN AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION SYSTEM IS PLANNED FOR THE PROJECT AND WILL BE INSTALLED IN  CONJUNCTION WITH THE
LANDSCAPE IMPROVEMENTS.  THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM WILL PROVIDE ZONED COVERAGE FOR LAWN AREAS (INCLUDING
PARKWAYS), PARKING LOT ISLANDS, FOUNDATION PLANTING BEDS, AND SITE PLANTING BEDS.  SUPPLEMENTAL HAND
WATERING WILL BE PERFORMED BY THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR UNTIL THE AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION SYSTEM IS
OPERATIONAL.  TREE WATERING AND REFILLING OF GATOR BAGS SHALL BE REQUIRED DURING THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD.
ALL SUPPLEMENTAL WATERING SHALL BE COVERED IN THE CONTRACT BASE BID (INCLUDE WATERING COSTS AS PART OF
THE MAINTENANCE FEE).  THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR MAY UTILIZE WATER SUPPLIED BY THE OWNER OR WATER
SUPPLIED BY CONTRACTOR'S OWN WATER VEHICLE.  THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE HIS WORK WITH
THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR AND SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING WATERING SCHEDULE AND PROGRAMING
CLOCK.

16. OWNER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR TWO TOPSOIL TESTS TO BE PERFORMED BY AN APPROVED SOIL TESTING LABORATORY:
BROOKSIDE LABORATORIES WHOSE AGENT IS DAVID MARQUARDT OF BIO-GROW TECHNOLOGIES,  PHONE (630) 251-1511,
EMAIL DAVE@DIRT-N-TURF.COM.

17. ACCEPTABLE SOIL COMPOSITION SHALL MEET THE FOLLOWING RANGES:  45-77 PERCENT SILT, 0-20 PERCENT CLAY, AND 25-33
PERCENT SAND.  ACCEPTABLE SOIL ACIDITY:  PH 6.0 - 7.8.  ACCEPTABLE ORGANIC CONTENT: 4 - 8%.  SOIL SHALL BE AMENDED
TO MEET THESE RANGES.

18. BASED ON SOIL TESTING RECOMMENDATIONS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPORTING SUPPLEMENTAL
PULVERIZED TOPSOIL AND SOIL AMENDMENT MIXES INCLUDING COURSE SAND, PINE BARK FINES, GYPSUM, MAP, SOP, AND
MILORGANITE  FOR USE IN PLANTING OPERATIONS (TREE PIT AND PLANTER BACKFILL).

DURING PLANTING OPERATIONS, DO NOT BACKFILL PLANT MATERIAL WITH CLAY SPOILS.  CONTRACTOR SHALL DISPOSE OF
ALL UNSUITABLE EXCAVATED SOILS OFF-SITE.

19. LOCATION OF ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE VERIFIED BY CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  CALL J.U.L.I.E.
(JOINT UTILITY LOCATING FOR EXCAVATORS) 1-800-892-0123.

20. CONTRACTOR SHALL PERFORM FINISH-GRADING OPERATIONS FOR THOSE SITE AREAS THAT PERTAIN TO THE LANDSCAPE
IMPROVEMENTS.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPORTING AND SPREADING TOPSOIL FOR USE IN FILLING
SURFACE DEPRESSIONS CREATED BY VEGETATION REMOVAL, PLANTING OPERATIONS AND FINISH-GRADING OPERATIONS.
FINISHED GRADES SHALL SLOPE TO DRAIN, BE FREE OF DEPRESSIONS OR OTHER IRREGULARITIES AFTER THOROUGH
SETTLEMENT AND COMPACTION OF SOIL, AND SHALL BE UNIFORM IN BETWEEN GRADING CONTROLS.  THE FOLLOWING SITE
AREAS SHALL RECEIVE THE MINIMUM DEPTHS OF ACCEPTABLE TOPSOIL/SOIL MIXES:

A. LANDSCAPE ISLANDS:  PLACE 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL IN COMPACTED LAYERS, ALLOWING FOR A FINISH GRADE 3 TO 4
INCHES BELOW  TOP OF CURB FOR CULTIVATION, SOIL AMENDMENTS, AND A FINAL LAYER OF ORGANIC MULCH.
CROWN CENTER OF ISLAND 4-6 INCHES ABOVE TOP OF CURB.

B.  BUILDING FOUNDATION & SITE PLANTING BEDS:  PLACE 18 INCHES OF TOPSOIL FOR WOODY SHRUBS (12 INCHES FOR
HERBACEOUS PLANTS) IN COMPACTED LAYERS TO RESULT IN A FINISH GRADE 3 TO 4 INCHES BELOW TOP OF CURB
AND PEDESTRIAN PAVEMENTS TO ALLOW FOR CULTIVATION, SOIL AMENDMENTS, AND A FINAL LAYER OF ORGANIC
MULCH.

C  TURF GRASS AREAS:  SPREAD 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL TO MEET THE REQUIRED FINISHED GRADES.  TOPSOIL DEPTHS
MAY BE DECREASED WITHIN 24 TO 36 INCHES OF GRADE CONTROLS TO MAINTAIN GRADE LEVELS 2" BELOW CURB AND
EDGE OF PEDESTRIAN PAVEMENT.
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71 S. Wacker Drive,Suite 3725
Chicago, IL 60606

2 11/16/2022 Issued for Village Submittal

Exp. Date 8-31-2023

3 12/22/2022 Issued for Village Submittal

4 01/12/2023 Issued for Village Submittal

5 01/26/2023 Issued for Village Submittal

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
651

AutoCAD SHX Text
651

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
652

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
653

AutoCAD SHX Text
654

AutoCAD SHX Text
654

AutoCAD SHX Text
654

AutoCAD SHX Text
654

AutoCAD SHX Text
654

AutoCAD SHX Text
654

AutoCAD SHX Text
655

AutoCAD SHX Text
655

AutoCAD SHX Text
655

AutoCAD SHX Text
655

AutoCAD SHX Text
655

AutoCAD SHX Text
656

AutoCAD SHX Text
656

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAW

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
#7

AutoCAD SHX Text
#8

AutoCAD SHX Text
#6

AutoCAD SHX Text
#12

AutoCAD SHX Text
#11

AutoCAD SHX Text
#13

AutoCAD SHX Text
#15

AutoCAD SHX Text
#14

AutoCAD SHX Text
#18

AutoCAD SHX Text
#24

AutoCAD SHX Text
#19

AutoCAD SHX Text
#20

AutoCAD SHX Text
#21

AutoCAD SHX Text
#23

AutoCAD SHX Text
#26

AutoCAD SHX Text
#31

AutoCAD SHX Text
#30

AutoCAD SHX Text
#29

AutoCAD SHX Text
#28

AutoCAD SHX Text
#27

AutoCAD SHX Text
#22

AutoCAD SHX Text
#4

AutoCAD SHX Text
#2

AutoCAD SHX Text
#53

AutoCAD SHX Text
#69

AutoCAD SHX Text
#68

AutoCAD SHX Text
#67

AutoCAD SHX Text
#66

AutoCAD SHX Text
#65

AutoCAD SHX Text
#64

AutoCAD SHX Text
#63

AutoCAD SHX Text
#17

AutoCAD SHX Text
#62

AutoCAD SHX Text
#61

AutoCAD SHX Text
#50

AutoCAD SHX Text
#33

AutoCAD SHX Text
#34

AutoCAD SHX Text
#37

AutoCAD SHX Text
#38

AutoCAD SHX Text
#36

AutoCAD SHX Text
#35

AutoCAD SHX Text
#40

AutoCAD SHX Text
#43

AutoCAD SHX Text
#44

AutoCAD SHX Text
#45

AutoCAD SHX Text
#47

AutoCAD SHX Text
#48

AutoCAD SHX Text
#49



96" O.C.

91"

2 1
/4"

5 3
/4"

3/8
"

2"

72
"

12"

73
 5/

8"

74
 1/

4"

NOTES:
1.   INSTALLATION TO BE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS.
2.   DO NOT SCALE DRAWING.
3.   ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN WAS CURRENT AT THE TIME OF DEVELOPMENT BUT MUST BE REVIEWED

AND APPROVED BY THE PRODUCT MANUFACTURER TO BE CONSIDERED ACCURATE.
4.   GRADUALLY STEP FENCE WITH SLOPED GRADES BY INSTALLING FENCE RAILS LEVEL BETWEEN POSTS.

COMPONENTS QTY LENGTH

POST CAP: PYRAMID, FLAT OR CROWN 1

1

4" x 4.9" TOP RAIL 1

1" X 5.75" INTERLOCKING PICKET 19

1" X 5.75" BOTTOM RAIL COVER 2

2.7" X 5.1" ALUMINUM BOTTOM RAIL 1

FENCE BRACKET 4

1 5/8" EXTERIOR WOOD SCREWS 24

108"

91"

67"

91"

FRONT VIEW

90 1/2"

CUT VIEWSFENCE BRACKET
CLOSE UP VIEW

42" MIN. OR TO FROST DEPTH
(TYP.), CONSULT LOCAL
CONDITIONS, CODES, AND
STANDARD BUILDING
PRACTICES FOR POST DEPTH

SCHEDULE OF MATERIALS

INTERLOCKING PICKET

POST CAP

TOP RAIL

ALUMINUM BOTTOM RAIL

FENCE BRACKET
BOTTOM RAIL COVER

CONC. FILL

MANUFACTURER:  TREX
STYLE:  SECLUSIONS @ 6' HT.
COLOR:  WOODLAND BROWN
WEBSITE:  TREXFENCING.COM

8' - O.C. MAXIMUM POST SPACING

6"

12" X 42" RECOMMENDED
CONCRETE FOOTING, SET
TOP FLUSH W/ FINISH GRADE

3-1/2" X 3-1/2" X 3/16" A36 STEEL
TUBE POST INSERT (TYP.)

24
"M

IN
.

5" X 5" POST W/ STEEL POST INSERT

NOTES:
1.   INSTALLATION TO BE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS.
2.   DO NOT SCALE DRAWING.
3.   ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN WAS CURRENT AT THE TIME OF DEVELOPMENT BUT MUST BE

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE PRODUCT MANUFACTURER TO BE CONSIDERED ACCURATE.
4. THIS DRAWING IS INTENDED FOR USE BY ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS, CONTRACTORS, CONSULTANTS AND

DESIGN PROFESSIONALS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY.  THIS DRAWING MAY NOT BE USED FOR
CONSTRUCTION.

5.   CONTRACTOR'S NOTE: FOR PRODUCT AND COMPANY INFORMATION VISIT www.CADdetails.com/info AND ENTER
REFERENCE NUMBER 4873-102.

SECLUSIONS

EXPLODED VIEW

SCHEDULE OF MATERIALS FOR AN 8'
SECTION OF HORIZONS FENCING

DESCRIPTION QTY LENGTH

POST CAP 1
FENCE POST 1

TOP RAIL 1

PICKETS 19

BOTTOM RAIL 1

BOTTOM RAIL COVER 2

108"

67"

90 1/2"

ITEM
NO.

2

1

3

4

6

7

FENCE BRACKETS 4

5

1

91"

91"

1 5/8" SCREWS 248

2

2

4

8
3

7

6

5

8

8

8

8

1

MANUFACTURER:  TREX
STYLE:  SECLUSIONS @ 6' HT.
COLOR:  WOODLAND BROWN
WEBSITE:  TREXFENCING.COM

6'-0"

EXISTING PORTICO

PROPOSED 6' HIGH PRIVACY FENCE TO
SCREEN TRANSFORMER (3' MIN. SET
BACK FROM CONCRETE TRANSFORMER
PAD)

6'-0" 6'-0"5'-0"

5'
-0

"
5'

-6
"

5'
-0

"

1'-2"

3'

EXISTING
TRANSFORMER

(5'-6" HIGH)

3'

RE-PURPOSE EXISTING LIGHT
POLE TO NEW LOCATION (SEE
CIVIL)

EXISTING
ELECTRICAL
CABINET

PATIENT DROP-OFF

6'
-3

"
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Landscape Details

Salt Creek Medical Campus
11 Salt Creek
Hinsdale, IL

Medical Office Building

1 11/11/2022 Issued for Client Review

71 S. Wacker Drive,Suite 3725
Chicago, IL 60606

2 11/16/2022 Issued for Village Submittal

321 Transformer Screen - Composite Privacy Fence Transformer Screen - Composite Privacy Fence Transformer Screen Layout at East Building Entrance 
Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

654

FINISH GRADE

DO NOT CUT LEADER
SHADE OR FLOWERING TREE

PROTECT TRUNK W/ PLASTIC TREE WRAP

MOUND MULCH TO FORM SAUCER
MINIMUM 6' DIAMETER

EXISTING GRADE (2" MAXIMUM) 
SET TREE CROWN AT OR SLIGHTLY ABOVE

3'' DEEP SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH,

REMOVE TOP THIRD OF WIRE BASKET, TIES  
& BURLAP FROM BALL (TREES 4" OR LARGER,

WIRE PROTECTORS AT EACH GUYWIRE

SET ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED SOIL

2-3X  

BACKFILL WITH PLANT MIXTURE AS 

GROUND)
OF 18'' BELOW TREE PIT IN UNDISTURBED 
THREE 8' (STEEL STAKES DRIVEN MINIMUM
UNDISTURBED GROUND

PERFORM SAME 1-YEAR AFTER PLANTING)

ROOT BALL

SPECIFIED

DO NOT CONTACT TRUNK W/ MULCH

Deciduous Tree Planting Shrub Planting

REMOVE BURLAP AND TIES FROM TOP 1/3 OF ROOT 

BACKFILL WITH PLANT MIXTURE AS SPECIFIED

BALL, REMOVE ENTIRE WIRE BASKET, OR REMOVE

3'' DEEP SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH W/ SAUCER

DISEASED BRANCHES
PRUNE ONLY TO REMOVE DEAD, BROKEN, OR

GRADE (1" MAXIMUM)

UNDISTURBED GROUND

SET ROOT BALL AT OR SLIGHTLY ABOVE EXISTING 

SET ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED SOIL

AROUND EDGE, DO NOT CONTACT PLANT W/ MULCH 

FROM PLASTIC CONTAINER AND SCORE SIDES OF   
ROOT MASS

Perennial & Groundcover Planting

INSTALL PLANT BED 2'' ABOVE FINISH GRADE

12
"

15'' MIN.

MIXTURE AS SPECIFIED
PREPARE PLANTING BED AT 8'' DEPTH W/ PLANT

PERENNIALS AND ORNAMENTAL GRASSES 
2'' DEEP SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH FOR 

SET PLANTS AT FINISH GRADE

UNDISTURBED GROUND

PERENNIALS, ORNAMENTAL GRASSES, AND

FOR GROUNDCOVERS
2'' DEEP LEAF COMPOST TOPDRESSING

(PLACE MULCH UNDER FOLIAGE), OR

M
IN

.

USE TRIANGULAR PLANTING PATTERN, UNLESS
SQUARE PATTERN IS NOTED ON PLAN
SPACING VARIES BY SPECIES, SEE PLAN FOR
SPECIFIED SPACING

GROUNDCOVERS

3 12/22/2022 Issued for Village Submittal

1. REFER TO TREE PRESERVATION PLAN FOR DESIGNATED TREES TO BE
PROTECTED.

2. TREE PROTECTION FENCE SHALL COVER CRITICAL ROOT ZONE -
FENCE TO BE LOCATED AT A RADIUS DISTANCE FROM THE TRUNK OF
THE TREE EQUAL TO (1') FOR EVERY INCH OF DIAMETER MEASURED
AT BREAST HEIGHT (4.5' ABOVE GROUND LEVEL). FOR EXAMPLE, A 20"
CALIPER TREE SHALL REQUIRE FENCE PROTECTION AT A MINIMUM 20'
RADIUS DISTANCE FROM TREE.

3. FENCE TO BE CONSTRUCTED WITH STANDARD STEEL POSTS
INSTALLED AT A MAXIMUM SPACING OF 10'-0" ON CENTER.

10' MAX
METAL POST

EXISTING GRADE

CHAINLINK FENCE

6'
 H

T.
30

"
M

IN
.

Tree Protection Detail
Not to Scale7

Not to Scale Not to Scale Not to Scale

Not to ScaleNot to Scale

4 01/12/2023 Issued for Village Submittal

Project
North

Exp. Date 8-31-2023

5 01/26/2023 Issued for Village Submittal
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Existing Landscape
Photos of East Elevation

Salt Creek Medical Campus
11 Salt Creek
Hinsdale, IL

Medical Office Building

1 12/22/2022 Issued for Village Submittal

71 S. Wacker Drive,Suite 3725
Chicago, IL 60606

OVERGROWN LANDSCAPE AT EAST BUILDING ELEVATION CREATES A NARROW UNINVITING CORRIDOR
AT ENTRYWAY, OBSCURES THE BUILDING, AND OBSTRUCTS WINDOWS. EXISTING TREES TO BE
REPLACED WITH INTERMEDIATE TREES THAT ARE IN SCALE WITH THE BUILDING. SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN
AND EAST ELEVATION TREES.

LEFT SIDE VIEW OF ENTRYWAY (SOUTH OF SIDEWALK). RIGHT SIDE VIEW OF ENTRYWAY (NORTH OF SIDEWALK). JUNIPER HEDGE AND EUROPEAN HORNBEAM
OBSCURE BUILDING ELEVATION AND BLOCK SECOND FLOOR WINDOWS. SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN.

LANDSCAPE IN CONFLICT WITH NEW PATIENT DROP-OFF. SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN. TRANSFORMER IS IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO MAIN BUILDING ENTRANCE. JUNIPER HEDGE IS OVERGROWN,
CREATING NARROW CORRIDOR AT ENTRYWAY AND BLOCKING SECOND FLOOR WINDOWS.

SPACE BETWEEN PORTICO AND TRANSFORMER IS LIMITED WITH ~4' NARROW GREEN SPACE, OF WHICH
3' IS REQUIRED FOR PERIMETER CLEARANCE, LEAVING INSUFFICIENT ROOM FOR A VERTICAL
EVERGREEN HEDGE. LANDSCAPE TO BE REPLACED WITH SOLID PRIVACY FENCE, CLIMBING VINES, AND
APPROPRIATELY SIZED PLANTINGS. SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN AND NEW TRANSFORMER SCREEN.
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New Transformer Screen
& East Elevation Trees

Salt Creek Medical Campus
11 Salt Creek
Hinsdale, IL

Medical Office Building

1 12/22/2022 Issued for Village Submittal

71 S. Wacker Drive,Suite 3725
Chicago, IL 60606

PRIVACY FENCE SHALL SCREEN TRANSFORMER LOCATED NORTH OF EAST BUILDING ENTRANCE. THE
FENCE IS BEING PROPOSED DUE TO LIMITED SPACE THAT WILL NOT ACCOMMODATE A VERTICAL
EVERGREEN HEDGE. FENCE SHOWN IS MANUFACTURED BY TREX:  STYLE - SECLUSIONS AT 6' HEIGHT,
MATERIAL - COMPOSITE, COLOR - WOODLAND BROWN.

COMPOSITE PRIVACY FENCE COMPONENTS, APPEARANCE, AND COLOR OPTIONS.

CLIMBING HYDRANGEA (MATURE SIZE: 30' HIGH X 6' WIDE) SHALL
COVER AND AESTHETICALLY SOFTEN ENTIRE PRIVACY FENCE FOR
PROPOSED TRANSFORMER SCREEN.

GREEN VELVET BOXWOOD (MATURE SIZE: 4' HIGH X 4' WIDE) SHALL ANCHOR AND
COVER BASE OF PRIVACY FENCE.

JANE MAGNOLIA (MATURE SIZE: 12-15' HIGH X 8-10' WIDE) SHALL
REPLACE EXISTING EUROPEAN HORNBEAM THAT HAVE  BECOME
OVERGROWN - OBSCURING THE EAST BUILDING ELEVATION AND
BLOCKING WINDOWS. THE NEW TREES WILL SERVE AS A
REPEATED STRUCTURAL ELEMENT - PROVIDING CONTINUITY
WHILE ENHANCING THE BUILDING APPEARANCE.

DENSELY BRANCHED MARIESII DOUBLEFILE VIBURNUM (MATURE SIZE 8' HIGH X 8' WIDE)
SHALL SCREEN INTERIOR VIEWS AND NORTH FACE OF TRANSFORMER WITHOUT
OVERCROWDING SPACE AND EXCEEDING HEIGHT OF SECOND FLOOR.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
              MEMORANDUM 

DATE: March 3, 2023 

TO:  Chairman Cashman and Plan Commissioners 

CC: Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
 Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner  

RE:  Case A-6-2023 – Sign Permit Review – 5837 S. Madison Street – Hinsdale Discount Tires and 
Automotive – Installation of One (1) Wall Sign and a New Sign Face on an Existing Ground 
Sign  

FOR:  March 8, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting 
 
 
Summary 
The Village of Hinsdale has received a sign permit application from American Public Art, the sign 
contractor, seeking approval to install one (1) wall sign on the existing one-story building and a new sign 
face on the existing multi-tenant ground sign for Hinsdale Discount Tires and Automotive located at 5837 
S. Madison Street in the B-1 Community Business District.  
 
On June 14, 2022, by Ordinance No. O2022-15, the Village Board approved a Special Use Permit to allow 
for an Automotive Repair Shop for Hinsdale Discount Tires and Automotive, Inc. at 5837 S. Madison Street 
located in the B-1 Community Business District (Case A-36-2021). Landscaping improvements were 
approved as part of this project, which will be completed in the spring.  
 
Request and Analysis 
The applicant is requesting to install one (1) wall sign and a new sign face on the existing ground sign 
located along Madison Street. The proposed signs meets the Village’s code requirements and are 
described below: 
 
Wall Sign - The applicant is seeking to install one (1) new wall sign in the brick area above the garage doors 
on the west elevation facing Madison Street. The sign measures 3’-6” tall and 16’ wide, with an overall 
sign face area of 56 square feet. The wall sign will be constructed with an aluminum exterior and 
corrugated plastic core. The sign background is primarily blue with a white overall accent area and the 
sign letters are red, with either blue or white outlines. 
 
Ground Sign - The applicant is also requesting to install a new sign face on each side of the existing joint 
ground sign located in the parking lot for the multi-tenant shopping center to the north at 5811-5827 S. 
Madison Street. 5837 S. Madison is part of this larger multi-tenant shopping center. Hinsdale Partners LLC 
owns both the subject property and the multi-tenant shopping center. There are no proposed changes to 
the existing brick structure or cabinet.  
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              MEMORANDUM 

The sign faces use the same design and colors on the wall sign. The background is primarily blue with a 
white overall accent area and the sign letters are red, with either blue or white outlines. The each plastic 
sign face will measure 96” wide and 12” tall, with a sign face area of 8 square feet. 
 
Code Requirements - In the B-1 District, one awning valance, canopy valance, wall, or permanent window 
sign is allowed per user having a separate entrance, except that when the premises occupied by such user 
has more than one exterior wall that fronts on a public street or a public parking lot, then one such sign 
per such wall shall be permitted. The maximum gross surface area for awning valance, canopy valance, 
wall, and window signs is not to exceed one square foot per foot of building width, up to a maximum of 
one hundred (100) square feet, for a single-tenant building, minus any square footage devoted to a ground 
sign unless such ground sign is limited to a joint identification sign. The building frontage facing Madison 
Street is 85.5 feet long. For new ground signs, one ground sign is allowed per each lot frontage on a street. 
Ground signs may not exceed eight (8) feet in height or fifty (50) square feet per sign face. As proposed, 
the wall sign and sign face proposed on the existing multi-tenant ground sign are complaint with the 
Village’s code requirements.  
 
Process 
Per Section 11-607(D) and the nature of the request, this application shall be reviewed and approved by 
the Plan Commission and does not require public notification. Plan Commission maintains final authority 
on signage with no further action required by the Board of Trustees. 
 
Per Section 11-607(E), no sign permit shall be granted pursuant to this section unless the applicant shall 
establish that: 

1. Visual Compatibility: The proposed sign will be visually compatible with the building on which the 
sign is proposed to be located and surrounding buildings and structures in terms of height, size, 
proportion, scale, materials, texture, colors, and shapes. 

2. Quality of Design and Construction: The proposed sign will be constructed and maintained with a 
design and materials of high quality and good relationship with the design and character of the 
neighborhood. 

3. Appropriateness to Activity: The proposed sign is appropriate to and necessary for the activity to 
which it pertains. 

4. Appropriateness to Site: The proposed sign will be appropriate to its location in terms of design, 
landscaping, and orientation on the site, and will not create a hazard to pedestrian or vehicular 
traffic, detract from the value or enjoyment of neighboring properties, or unduly increase the 
number of signs in the area. 

 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Street View  
4. Sign Application and Exhibits 
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Aerial View – 5837 S. Madison Street 
 

 

 
 

 

5837 S. Madison 



Birds Eye View – 5837 S. Madison Street 
 

 

 



Street View – 5837 S. Madison Street 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Street View – 5837 S. Madison Street 
 
 

 











Real Estate

January 13,2023

Mr. Samir Sharabatee
HINSDALE DISCOUNT TIRE
5837 S. Madison Street
Hinsdale, IL 6052I

RE: Signage
5837 S. Madison Street
Hinsdale, Illinois

Dear Mr. Sharabatee;

We are ready to install your name on the building's outdoor
sign. Please fill in at the bottom the name you want on the
sign"

If you have any questions or comments please contact me'

Very truiy yours,

Since 1908

By:

203 N. LaSalle Street. Suite 2100

Chicago, Il 6060 I - 1226 . (312) 445 -6300

www.priceassocinc.com

--

James M. Ehriich
Managing Broker
i ehrlich@priceassocinc. com

Sign Name:

Date:

Samir sharabatee

01/17/2023
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	Name: David Dastur
	Address#1: 820 W Jackson Suite 850
	CityZip: Chicago, IL 60607
	PhoneFax: 312
	undefined#1: 664-7557
	undefined_2#1: 
	EMail: ddastur@jandhltd.com
	Name_2: 11 Salt Creek Campus, LLC
	Address_2: 2711 Centerville Rd Ste 400
	CityZip_2: Wilmington, DE 19808
	PhoneFax_2: 847
	undefined_3#1: 897-7303
	undefined_4#1: 
	EMail_2: kenright@medpropertiesgroup.com
	Name_3: Trudy Buehler
	Name_4: Michael Trippiedi
	Title: Vice President
	Title_2: President
	Address_3: 9575 W Higgins Rd # 500
	Address_4: 902 Sundew Ct
	CityZip_3: Rosemont, IL 60018
	CityZip_4: Aurora, IL 60504
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	undefined_8: 
	EMail_3: tbuehler@mackieconsult.com
	EMail_4: michael@trippiedidesign.com
	1#1: N/A
	2#1: 
	3#1: 
	Address of subject property: 11 Salt Creek Lane Hinsdale, IL 60521
	Property identification number PIN or tax number: 06
	undefined_9: 36
	undefined_10: 405
	undefined_11: 022
	Brief description of proposed project 1: Renovations to the existing porticos on the east and west sides of the building. Replacement of the existing
	Brief description of proposed project 2: windows and exterior doors with thermally efficient products. Removal and replacement of the east entrance to a new automatic sliding door. Removal and replacement of the exterior
	Brief description of proposed project 3: light fixtures. Site scope of work includes enlargement of increased drop off, additional sidewalk and revised landscaping around the building. 
	General description or characteristics of the site 1: Existing site and building are to remain as they currently are, excluding the changes
	General description or characteristics of the site 2: mentioned above. 
	General description or characteristics of the site 3: 
	Existing zoning and land use: O-3
	North: O-3 - General Office District
	South: O-3 - General Office District
	East: O-3 - General Office District
	West: O-3 - General Office District
	Proposed zoning and land use: Maintain O-3 as it currently is
	Site Plan Approval 11604: On
	Design Review Permit 11605E: Off
	Exterior Appearance 11606E: On
	Special Use Permit 11602E: Off
	Map and Text Amendments 11601E: Off
	Planned Development 11603E: Off
	Development in the B2 Central Business: Off
	Amendment Requested 1: 
	Amendment Requested 2: 
	Amendment Requested 3: 
	Special Use Requested 1: 
	Special Use Requested 2: 
	undefined_12: 
	TABLE OF COMPLIANCE#1: 11 Salt Creek Lane Hinsdale, IL 60521
	The following table is based on the#1: O-3
	Minimum Code RequirementsRow1#1: 
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentRow1#1: 
	Minimum Code RequirementsMinimum Lot Area sf#1: 20,000 SF
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentMinimum Lot Area sf#1: 169,798
	Minimum Code RequirementsMinimum Lot Depth#1: 125'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentMinimum Lot Depth#1: 513'
	Minimum Code RequirementsMinimum Lot Width#1: 80'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentMinimum Lot Width#1: 479'
	Minimum Code RequirementsBuilding Height#1: 60'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentBuilding Height#1: 42'-4"
	Minimum Code RequirementsNumber of Stories#1: 5
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentNumber of Stories#1: 3
	Minimum Code RequirementsFront Yard Setback#1: 25'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentFront Yard Setback#1: 100.5'(setback), 80.2' (yard)
	Minimum Code RequirementsCorner Side Yard Setback#1: N/A
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentCorner Side Yard Setback#1: N/A
	Minimum Code RequirementsInterior Side Yard Setback#1: 10' (setback); 0' (yard)
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentInterior Side Yard Setback#1: 89.5' (setback); 0' (yard)
	Minimum Code RequirementsRear Yard Setback#1: 25' (setback); 25' (yard); 
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentRear Yard Setback#1: 216.6' (setback); 35.9' (yard)
	Minimum Code RequirementsMaximum Floor Area Ratio FAR#1: 0.35
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentMaximum Floor Area Ratio FAR#1: 41,856/169,798 = 0.247 - Existing to Remain
	Minimum Code RequirementsMaximum Total Building Coverage#1: N/A
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentMaximum Total Building Coverage#1: N/A
	Minimum Code RequirementsMaximum Total Lot Coverage#1: 55 Percent
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentMaximum Total Lot Coverage#1: 55 Percent (93,132 sf)
	Minimum Code RequirementsParking Requirements#1: 160 parking spaces per Ordinance No, 02002-18 and 134 spaces based on a net floor area of 36,860 sf
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentParking Requirements#1: 172 spaces (proposed)
176 spaces (existing)
	Minimum Code RequirementsParking front yard setback#1: 25'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentParking front yard setback#1: 86'
	Minimum Code RequirementsParking corner side yard setback#1: 25'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentParking corner side yard setback#1: N/A
	Minimum Code RequirementsParking interior side yard setback#1: 0'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentParking interior side yard setback#1: 0' (existing)
	Minimum Code RequirementsParking rear yard setback#1: 20'
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentParking rear yard setback#1: 35.9'
	Minimum Code RequirementsLoading Requirements#1: 1
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentLoading Requirements#1: 1
	Minimum Code RequirementsAccessory Structure Information#1: N/A
	ProposedExisting DevelopmentAccessory Structure Information#1: N/A
	Where any lack of compliance is shown state the reason and explain the Villages authority if any to approve the#1: 
	application despite such lack of compliance 1#1: 
	application despite such lack of compliance 2#1: 
	Address: 11 Salt Creek Lane Hinsdale, IL 60521
	Question 1: The scope of work includes minor repair / replacement of windows, trim, doors and porticos. The setback spaces shall remain as is with the addition of new landscape. 
	Question 2: Majority of materials on the building are to remain as is. Elements that are removed are to be replaced with products that relate to the building and surrounding context.
 
	Question 3: The building will not have major revisions to its current design. The balistrades on top of the portico will be removed due to deterioration. The trim around the doors will be updated to a more contemporary trim. Doors and windows will be replaced to reflect the surrounding buildings. 
	Print: 
	Question 4: The scope of work includes reworking the existing parking lot to improve the main drop off for patient care and new landscaping around the entire building.Vehicular traffic patterns both on and off site will remain as is.
	Question 5: The existing building is to remain and as such the height will not change. 
	Question 6: Proportion of the front facade will not change from what is currently there. 
	Question 7: Proportion of openings will remain as they are for the existing building on the north, south and west sides. The east door opening will be widened to accommodate a glass sliding door.
	Question 8: Rhythm of solids to voids in front facades will remain as they are for the existing building. 
	Question 9: Rhythm of spacing and buildings on streets will remain as they are for the existing building. 
	Question 10: The balustrades on top of the portico will be removed due to deterioration and will not be replaced in order to give the building a cleaner, more contemporary appearance. 
	Question 11: The majority of materials on the existing building shall remain unchanged. Those elements that are being replaced shall be similar in color and material those that were removed. 
	Question 12: The roof shape of the existing building shall remain as is and is not in the scope of work. 
	Question 13: Building facades and appurtenances will remain unchanged except for the replacement of the windows. The windows will feature a modern storefront design similar to 8 Salt Creek Lane.
	Question 14: The size and mass of buildings shall remain the same for the existing building. 
	Question 15: The existing building is visually compatible to the surrounding context and shall remain as is. 
	Question 16: Elements replaced are with more thermally efficient materials. 
	Question 1B: There are minor changes to parking and drop off area to the existing site plan and the parking ratio is met. 
	Question 2B: All easements and right-of-way are to remain unchanged. 
	Question 3B: There are minor changes to the parking and drop off area in the back of the building. The main physical features of the site are to remain unchanged. 
	Question 4B: There are minor changes to the parking and drop off area in the back of the building that will not create any injurious or detrimental conditions. 
	Question 5B: Existing building and traffic patterns shall remain unchanged. We are adding an additional portion of sidewalk to aid with pedestrian access to the building entrance. 
	Question 6B: Perimeter landscape to remain essentially unchanged.
	Question 7B: There are minor changes to parking and drop off area to the existing site plan, and as such the existing structure and overall site shall remain unchanged.
	Question 8B: No special use permit is required. 
	Question 9B: There are minor changes to parking and drop off area to the existing site plan, and as such drainage shall remain unchanged.
	Question 10B: There are minor changes to parking and drop off area to the existing site plan and as such utilities into the site shall remain unchanged.
	Question 11B: There are minor changes to parking and drop off area to the existing site plan and as such shall remain unchanged.
	Question 12B: With the addition of the revised drop-off and new portion of the sidewalk the safety of the users of the building will be improved. 


